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1. Chair and Chief Executive’s Introduction

The Trust has continued in its mission to be the hospital of choice for the people of Tameside and Glossop, and continues 
to place dignity, quality and safety at the heart of all it does.  it is important to note that this goal has provided the context for 
the hospital’s drive to increase effectiveness, efficiency and value for money.
 
like all public sector organisations, the Trust faced significant financial challenges during the year, but was successful in 
meeting its financial plan. Further details are given about the Trust’s financial performance in other parts of this report, but 
it is important to acknowledge that our performance in 2011/12 provides a solid foundation for 2012/13.  The various 
schemes to reduce cost, enhance efficiency, or increase income have all been subject to a detailed Quality and Risk impact 
Assessment.   it goes without saying that the whole Trust has been extremely careful to ensure that where savings have been 
made they have not been achieved at the expense of quality.
 
The Trust takes very seriously the challenge of reducing mortality.  in last year’s report, we were able to report a marked 
reduction in HsMR to a value of 103.5, which was within the expected range for a hospital of this size and type.  As predicted 
in last year’s report the result for 2010/11, published in dr Foster’s annual report in November 2011 at 101, was even better.  
The hospital’s mortality rates for deaths in low risk conditions, and deaths after surgery, were also within the expected range.  
The HsMR for 2011/12 is currently showing 101.2 likely to be rebased up to between 103 and 107, when published later 
in 2012.  The Trust’s value on a newly introduced indicator, the summary Hospital level Mortality indicator (sHMi) is higher 
than the average at 119.  This is recognised as a health economy wide issue, and in order to understand and address it, a 
working group has been set up involving senior clinical, public health, information and managerial staff from the hospital, the 
primary Care Trust and General practitioners.  This group has developed a strategy which seeks to tackle the deep seated 
health inequalities issues which lie at the heart of many of the health problems experienced by the local population.    
 
The hospital has also reduced the incidence of hospital infections with a 28% reduction in cases of C.difficile compared to 
the previous year.  The measures put in place across primary and hospital care to reduce C.difficile are clearly beginning to 
have a positive effect.
 
The Trust has worked hard to resolve the concerns held by the Care Quality Commission (CQC).  Following a visit in october, 
2011, the CQC assessed six outcomes, identifying 5 minor and one moderate concern.  A warning notice was issued to the 
Trust requiring improvements to be made.  The CQC also reported that all of the patients to whom they spoke were “very 
happy with the care at the hospital”, a finding consistent with their other visits to the hospital.  An action plan was produced 
and implemented by the Trust in response to the CQC’s concerns.  The Trust has endeavoured not only to address the 
immediate, practical issues arising from the CQC’s visit, but also to work on changing the culture, so that greater ownership 
of risk issues, and enhanced accountability are evident in all parts of the organisation.   The CQC revisited the hospital in 
April, and identified three minor impacts, which the Trust will aim to address promptly.
 
during 2011/12, the Trust continued its journey of quality improvement.  There is, and always will be, still more to do, and 
with the support of patients and the local public we can continue to make the hospital even better.  This is the goal of the 
Council of Governors, the body responsible for representing the interests of the local community in Foundation Trusts, who 
voluntarily give their time, commitment and expertise to the hospital.  The Council of Governors is very keen to increase the 
membership of the Foundation Trust, and it is therefore particularly pleasing to note that during the year an additional 2000 
local people joined and became members of the Trust.  We would urge anyone with an interest in the hospital to become a 
public member.  You can join on line at membership@tgh.nhs.uk, or write to us at the hospital.
 
The Governors appointed the new Trust Chair last october as part of their key governance role.  in doing this they were very 
clear about the Trust’s goals to improve service quality, patient safety and to ensure that this is understood by patients and 
the residents of Tameside and Glossop.  
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it has been a challenging year across the NHs with many national and local changes.  in the hospital we have seen a 
number of changes and developments. The Board has welcomed a new Chair, Non-executive director, Finance director and 
director of Clinical services during the course of the year.  Wards and departments across the hospital have seen the new 
contractors, Mitie, take over responsibility for cleaning the hospital.  Changes to the location and functioning of key clinical 
departments such as the Admission and Assessment unit and the Accident and emergency department have been made 
with minimal disruption to patient services.  it is against this back drop of unrelenting change that we pay tribute to every 
member of staff in the hospital, for their commitment and loyalty, and most importantly for their dedication to the patients we 
are all here to serve.  Thank you to each and every one of our colleagues.
 
As always it is important to stress that the hospital is only a part of the health system that serves local people.  Without 
the support of Gps, the local Clinical Commissioning Group and primary Care Trust, and colleagues in social services, not 
to mention the many hospital volunteers who add tremendous value, the hospital would not be able to fulfil its role in the 
provision of health care for local people.
 
We hope that if you or your family have had cause to use the hospital, it has served you well.  Thanks to your support we 
know it will continue to serve local people for many decades to come.  We hope you will find this report helpful in providing 
a brief overview of the hospitals work, as part of our accountability to local people.
 

                                                 

paul Connellan Christine Green
Chair Chief Executive
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2. About the Trust

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust was established on 1 February 2008 and this represents our third formal Annual 
Report. The Trust operates from the Tameside General Hospital site, which is situated in Ashton–under-lyne. The hospital 
services a population of approximately 240,000 residing in the surrounding areas of Tameside in Greater Manchester, and 
the town of Glossop in derbyshire.
 
Tameside Hospital is a self governing Foundation Trust, the Board of directors assume management responsibility but 
are accountable for its stewardship to the Council of Governors and members.  our performance is scrutinised by the 
Foundation Trust regulator Monitor and Care Quality Commission.
 
employing approximately 2,317 staff, the hospital provides a range of healthcare services one would associate with a 
general hospital. These services include general and specialist medicine, general and specialist surgery and full consultant 
led obstetric and paediatric hospital services for women, children and babies.
 
The Health investment in Tameside (HiT) was completed August 2011 and involved the comprehensive restructuring of 
the hospital site. Most of the older buildings have been demolished and replaced with new, state of the art facilities. These 
facilities include new wards, new inpatient and day case theatres, new outpatient clinics, new diagnostic departments 
(including new x-ray facilities), a new pharmacy and a new integrated children’s unit.
 
The Trust’s clinical services are provided in a number of different specialties and departments. These are organised into four 
divisions.

Division

Emergency Services and Critical Care 
Division
Accident  and emergency
Medical Assessment and Admissions unit (MAAu)
intensive Care unit (iTu)
Adult Medicine
Gastroenterology
Respiratory Medicine
Cardiology
diabetes
dermatology
Rheumatology
Neurology

Elective Services Division
Theatres and day surgery unit
General surgery
urology
orthopaedics and Trauma
oral surgery and orthodontics
ear, Nose and Throat
Audiology 
ophthalmology
Anaesthetics

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services 
Division
Radiology
pathology
pharmacy 
physiotherapy

Women’s and Children’s Services Division
paediatrics
Neonatology
obstetrics
Gynaecology
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3. Directors’ Report - Incorporating Foundation Trusts:      
    Business Review

3.1 introduction
The Trust is required to include a director’s report and management commentary in line with the requirements of the Annual 
Reporting Manual. As well as the information contained within this section, the following information should be assumed to 
be part of the director’s Report:
 
A statement of the principal activities of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust during 2011/12 can be found on page 8.
 
The statement of the names of those persons who, at any time during the period, were directors of the Trust, which is 
included in the “Board of directors” section starting on page 31.
 
The overview of the financial performance of the Trust in the period which is contained in the foreword of the financial 
statements, starting on page 95. A statement  of accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out 
in note 1.6 to the accounts. details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found on page 107 of the annual report. in 
relation to the use of financial instruments an indication of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the trust 
and the exposure of the trust to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk, can be found in note 23 of the annual 
accounts.
 
The Trust’s external auditors are KpMG.  The directors have taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as directors 
in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that 
information.  As far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
 
The Trust has arrangements in place to govern for service quality and quality governance and quality is discussed in further 
detail in the Annual Governance statement on pages 88 to 94 and the Quality Report on pages 42 to 86.

3.2 our Vision, Aims and objectives
The Trust’s Mission statement is to gain and retain the status of Hospital of Choice for local people. To support this vision, 
we have developed a set of value statements clustered around the four constituencies of patients, the public, our staff, and 
our partner organisations.  The mission and value statements are given over leaf.
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3.3 Corporate objectives 2012/13
The corporate objectives approved by the Trust Board for 2012/13 are:
 
• Further improve patient safety and clinical outcomes and achieve the highest standards in Dignity in Care
• Improve patient reported experience of care at the Trust
• Deliver the Trust Financial Plan for 2012/13 in accordance with the principles established in 2011/12
• Development and delivery of an effective clinical service strategy to ensure sustainability of local secondary care healthcare 
 services
• Development of an empowered and accountable workforce to deliver the organisation’s goals
• Ensure compliance with all required regulatory and performance standards, including meeting  Monitors new licensing  
 requirements
 

3.4 organisational strengths and Resources
 
The Trust continues to maintain its record of maintaining good delivery against national targets.
 
The main themes for the Trust to take forward in the coming financial year are:
 
• To continually improve patient safety and the effectiveness of clinical care alongside improving internal productivity and   
 efficiency to enable the Trust to return to recurrent financial balance.
• To continue maintaining the year on year reductions in the Hospitals’ Standardised Mortality Rate (HMSR).
• To continue to strengthen engagement with patients and local people with the aim of improving partnership working to   
 ensure the quality of patient experience is of the highest quality.
• To continue to develop good relationships with key partners, specifically with GP Commissioners.
• To continue to seek improvements in productivity and ensuring that access time targets are delivered in a sustainable   
 way, to maintain the competitive position of the Trust and to eliminate any unnecessary delay for the hospital’s patients.
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3.5 principal Risks and uncertainties facing the Trust
 
The financial and economic outlook for the coming three years is challenging, with the demands on healthcare services 
continuing to rise whilst funding is increasingly becoming more constrained.  This poses risks to the Trust that funding for 
services may not fully cover the costs of provision. Therefore improving productivity and efficiency remains a key focus of the 
Trust over this period. The Trust needs to find more cost effective ways of providing high quality care. This will be done by 
improving processes, service redesign and clinical service improvements, as well as seeking new innovative ways of working. 
Close working with a range of key stakeholders, including clinical commissioners, Tameside MBC, NHs Greater Manchester 
and other local provider organisations will be essential to achieving this.
 
Whilst ensuring that the Trust delivers cost efficiencies it is also imperative that we continue to deliver high quality care which 
meets all national and local contractual targets, along with  quality metrics including CQuiNs. The main risks to performance 
facing the Trust in 2012/13 are the delivery of the 18 week waiting time targets at specialty level (especially for specialties 
such as orthopaedics which continue to be in high demand locally and nationally) and the reduction of Health Care Acquired 
infections, as the number of patients who are being admitted as emergencies to the hospital and the number of medically 
fit delayed discharges from the hospital have not reduced. The Trust, however, remains fully committed to aiming to achieve 
all key targets.
 
one of the main issues for the Trust was to address the enforcement action put in place by the CQC following its visit in 
october 2011 and the report on this visit, produced in december 2011. The Trust has implemented a robust action plan 
to address all the concerns raised by the CQC.  The Trust was re-assessed at a further CQC visit in April 2012.  The CQC 
assessed the same six outcomes as they had in october 2011, and judged the Trust compliant with three of these, whilst 
they had minor concerns with a further three.  This represents a major improvement on the CQC’s previous assessment, 
which identified five minor and one moderate concern and had resulted in a warning notice being imposed on the Trust.
 

3.6 The Market place
 
The Trust is operating in an increasingly competitive environment for the provision of clinical services (as patient choice of 
provider becomes more embedded across the NHs). in addition, the measures which clinical commissioners are introducing 
to manage demand more effectively are starting to impact on activity referred to hospitals – notable decreases in Gp referrals 
to the Trust have been seen in 2011/12 (there have been 9% less referrals overall compared to last year). in addition, Gps 
across Greater Manchester have significantly increased their use of the Care uK provided Clinical Assessment and Treatment 
services (CATs) which has been commissioned by the department of Health.
 
This means that the Trust must continue to offer high quality services with good access (low waiting times) in order to be best 
placed as the local hospital of choice for the residents of Tameside and Glossop. The Trust continues to work closely with 
the local Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to ensure the organisation has a very clear understanding of which services 
the Gps want to commission from their local hospital. The relationships between the lead clinicians at the Trust and the CCG 
will be further strengthened over the coming months and there is a programme of robust clinical pathway design across 
secondary and primary care in development.
 

3.7 emergency planning
 
The Trust is committed to maintaining effective emergency plans across the entirety of its site and services.  To ensure 
compliance with Trust policy and all relevant guidance and legislation, the Trust has established an emergency planning 
Group which oversaw all the activity related to this undertaking, and reported formally to the Trust’s Risk Management and 
Corporate Governance Committee, a Committee of the Trust Board.  The Trust liaised closely with colleague organisations, 
eg undertaking a number of joint planning exercises.
 
These processes ensured that the Trust met its key obligations, including the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which places key 
legal duties on hospitals in respect of emergency planning, and the Care Quality Commission’s requirement that healthcare 
organisations co-operate in the planning and coordination of emergency procedures.  The Trust took due account of the 
relevant NHs emergency planning Guidance (2005) and other additional guidance released during the year.  A number of 
successful emergency response tests were also carried out in line with the Trust’s plan to test different aspects of the Trust’s 
emergency plans.
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3.8 our performance
The range of service targets that were set for acute Trusts in 2011/12 was wide ranging and challenging. The Trust has a 
strong record of delivering performance against service targets, and this has been the case again in 2011/12.  The table 
below summarises the key performance targets, and actual performance against these during 2011/12.

Targets as per Compliance Framework Target
Met/Not 

Met

Clostridium difficile infection 60 X

MRsA Bacteraemia 3 X

Two week wait for specialist appointment from Gp urgent referral 93% ✓√	✓

Two week wait for specialist appointment with Breast symptoms (cancer not initially 
suspected)

93% √	

31 day diagnosis to treatment for first definitive treatment 96% √

31 day diagnosis to treatment for second or subsequent treatment (surgery) 94% √

31 day diagnosis to treatment for second or subsequent treatment 
(anti cancer drug treatments)

98% √

62 days to treatment from Gp urgent referral 85% √

62 days to treatment from Consultant/screening service referral 90% √

Maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to admission/transfer/discharge 95% √

Referral to treatment waiting times – admitted (95th percentile) 23 weeks √

Referral to treatment waiting times – non-admitted (95th percentile) 18.3 weeks √

Access to healthcare for people with learning difficulties n/a n/a

The tables below indicate the waiting times, in weeks, for outpatient, daycase and inpatient procedures.

Waiting Times at THFT, in weeks, for March 2012

specialty outpatient

General surgery 4.0

orthopaedics 4.7

ear Nose Throat 3.7

ophthalmology 6.9

oral surgery 5.1

Non-Acute pain 4.6

Adult Medicine 3.4

dermatology 5.4

Neurology 5.9

Rheumatology 3.0

paediatrics 4.1

Gynaecology 2.1
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Waiting Times at THFT, in weeks, for March 2012

specialty inpatient daycase

General surgery 4.5 6.7

orthopaedics 15.2 12.5

ear Nose Throat - 10.0

oral surgery - 7.4

Non-Acute pain - 19.1

Adult Medicine 7.1 5.3

Gynaecology 9.2 3.7

3.9 Cancer services
Generally the hospital’s performance is very good across the majority of cancer targets. Achieving the maximum 62 day 
urgent Gp referral for suspected cancer target can occasionally prove to be challenging as it involves complex clinical 
pathways across partner organisations.

3.10 Accident and emergency
The Trust continues its excellent and longstanding performance of providing high quality A&e services and this includes 
achievement of the target for 95% of all patients to be seen and treated within 4 hours of arriving at the A&e department. The 
Trust’s performance for 2011/12 was 96.2%.

3.11 stakeholder Relationships
The Trust’s main commissioner is NHs Tameside and Glossop which accounts for approximately 88% of all income received 
from commissioners. Most of the remainder of the clinical income is spread across 4 other NHs Commissioners within the 
Greater Manchester area (NHs oldham, NHs Manchester, NHs Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale and NHs stockport).
 
We continue to work very closely with pennine Care NHs Foundation Trust, with whom we share the Tameside General 
Hospital site.
 
other key stakeholders are Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (TMBC), the North West Ambulance service, (NWAs) 
the Tameside Third sector Coalition (voluntary sector),  and our private Finance initiative (pFi) partners, Consort Healthcare.
 
in addition to commissioning agreements with pCTs, we collaborate with a number of other NHs bodies including the 
following:
 
Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – Central Manchester operates our 18 station 
Renal dialysis unit which is located on the Tameside site.
 
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust – outpatient ophthalmology services and outpatient and daycase oral surgery 
services on the Tameside site are provided by pennine Acute.
 
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust – outpatient urology services are provided on our site by medical staff from stockport 
NHs Foundation Trust.
 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust – visiting Consultants and supporting Clinical Nurse specialists provide an on-site 
oncology service.
 
Salford Royal - Neurosurgery outpatients
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oldham Musculoskeletal service 

The Trust operates a very successful community based model in collaboration with NHs oldham. Tameside Hospital provides 
weekly off-site Consultant led out-patient clinics with direct listing for orthopaedic surgery at Tameside Hospital.

 

league of Friends
The Hospital continues to enjoy good relationships with the league of Friends who work tirelessly on behalf of the Hospital 
to raise funds for the purchase of equipment. during 2011 it raised over £32,000 and purchased various items including an 
eCG machine, reclining chairs, an aquabike and also very generously donated £20,000 to the Maternity department’s Bright 
start appeal. 

Volunteers at Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust
Tameside Hospital is fortunate in having a strong and vibrant volunteer workforce with almost 400 volunteers assisting staff in the 
various departments and wards in the Trust. This means Tameside Hospital benefits from a wealth of skills and knowledge from its 
volunteer workforce which helps to enhance the service the hospital offers to the patients and their carers in their journey through 
the Hospital.
 
Volunteers offer their services for a number of reasons; as a thank you to the Trust for the excellent service they or a relative has 
received, for social reasons, or to gain experience before making the NHs their chosen employer.
 
Volunteers are carefully selected to work at the Hospital, using the same selection process as NHs employees, with references, an 
interview, health screening and criminal record screening to ensure patient safety.

Community engagement
As part of its strategy to engage the communities served by Tameside Hospital, a series of twice yearly public meetings were 
arranged in every township of Tameside and Glossop during the year. The meetings  attended by members of the public 
were  an opportunity for those attending to meet their public Governor of Council, the Trust Chairman, Chief executive and 
director of Nursing to discuss any issues relating to the hospital and its plans for the future. seven public meetings were held 
over the period of January 2012 to March 2012.
 
plans are also being developed to hold a series of open days within the Trust for members of the public to visit behind the 
scenes of the hospital. There will also be the opportunity to participate in a series of workshop type events.

Community interest Company
A Community interest Company was established two years ago to fund and deliver complementary therapies to cancer 
patients at Tameside Hospital. This social enterprise is a not for profit limited company with the stakeholders being drawn 
from cancer patients and community representatives, healthcare professionals from the area of cancer and complementary 
therapy, and representatives from the Trust.  The establishment of this venture has meant that a complementary therapy 
service can continue to be offered to cancer outpatients at Tameside Hospital.

3.12 service developments
Tameside Hospital continually strives to improve the quality of its clinical services to ensure the residents of Tameside and 
Glossop have access to high quality care. The following examples highlight some of these developments which have taken 
place over the last 12 months.
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Orthodontics and Oral Surgery
 
service developments in 2011/12 for orthodontics and maxillofacial surgery are highlighted below.
 
 1. As a result of international recognition of research carried out in the department, we are now considered a   
  specialist centre to provide orthopaedic protraction facemask treatment to young children.
 2.   integration of our specialities into the pre-existing eNT and respiratory medicine service pathway for patients   
  with sleep apnoea.  This ensures patients receive all treatment options in a co-ordinated manner.
 3.  All new orthodontic patients, including children who smoke, or who have a family member who smokes, are now  
  offered smoking cessation advice and information leaflets in the patient clinics, this also includes child patients.
 
 
23 - Hour Unit
 
in April 2011, the elective services division opened the 23 hour daycase unit. patients are admitted, prepared for their 
surgical procedure, then monitored and provided with appropriate pain relief post-surgery before discharge occurs within 24 
hours. Appropriate patient selection is made through the pre operative assessment process and using clinical protocols to 
inform, direct, and record the patient’s clinical pathway, admission and discharge. The unit is co-located within our operating 
theatres and is primarily for elective patients. in November protocols were agreed to manage some emergency surgical and 
minor trauma patients through the unit. This has relieved some of the pressure on the inpatient beds. over 1,000 patients 
per month are being treated through this unit.
 

Haemorrhoidal Artery Ligation Operation (HALO)
 
The Haemorrhoidal Artery ligation operation (HAlo) is a new operation designed to eradicate piles without the need for 
cutting or a general anaesthetic.
 
The operation uses a miniature doppler ultrasound device to locate all the arteries supplying the haemorrhoids. Most patients 
are back to work after 24-48 hours with only a minimum of discomfort.
 
This procedure has been performed in europe and North America now for a number of years and over 90% are thoroughly 
pleased with the result. This is due to the relative ease of recovery from the operation compared to more conventional 
treatments.
 
 
Enhanced Recovery Programme
 
The enhanced Recovery programme is a cross-speciality rehabilitation programme combining several elements of pre and 
post operative care which are directly targeted at reducing the overall stress response and post operative complications 
for patients. As a result of these interventions patients are fitter sooner following surgery, leading to a shorter length of stay, 
improved patient satisfaction and overall quality of patient care.
 
The enhanced Recovery programme is currently established within three elective surgical disciplines including Cancer care 
pathways, specifically. in total 84 patients have been treated on one of these pathways in 2011/12.
 
The Trust’s mission statement in becoming the hospital of choice for local people is reinforced by the enhanced Recovery 
programme, as it strives to improve the current service, clinical outcomes and patient experience. This is achieved through:-
 
improved benefits to patients: patient’s are empowered pre-operatively to become partners in their care “no decision about 
me, without me”. This programme improves the patient experience, leading to fewer, post -operative complications, reduced 
exposure to hospital infection and earlier rehabilitation facilitating return to normal function.
 
Reduced length of hospital stay: Average length of stay for all disciplines has, and continues to reduce in comparison to the 
previous year.
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improved benefits to staff: Focus on education and training, improved multidisciplinary approach to care, recognition for 
improvements in service and patient experience.
 
improved efficiency in bed occupancy: A reduction in length of stay ensures the number of patients treated increases within 
the same amount of resources available.
 
 
Pharmaceutical Service
 
The pharmacy department has extended its hours of opening and is now providing a service seven days a week.  This has 
assisted greatly in improving the access of patients to medicines, supporting transfer of care both on admission and at 
discharge and helping to enhance the efficiency of the discharge process.  patients attending outpatient clinics in the early 
evening or on a saturday can now have their prescriptions dispensed at the hospital pharmacy on the same day.

A joint initiative between the pharmacy and pathology services has seen a redesign of our anticoagulant monitoring clinics 
including the implementation of dAWN, a complete anticoagulation decision software package, to support our large clinics.  
it is has helped establish a more efficient, effective and safer way of managing our patients.  Benefits include;  
 
 • better clinic management.
 • the use of computerised dosing protocols which have been shown to increase the therapeutic control compared  
  to traditional manual dosing systems.
 • improved communications with patients and other healthcare professionals, via letter, phone, and email.

 
Emergency Department
 
in october 2011 a 16 month project aimed to improve the facilities in the Accident and emergency department was 
completed.
 
The Accident and emergency department was first opened in 1989 and was originally designed for 70,000 patients 
attending per annum.  over the last twenty years the number of patients attending A&e has increased and in 2011/12 total 
attendances were 75,710. over the year there have been a number of small schemes aimed to improve the accommodation 
to meet the changing demands of a busy Accident and emergency department but this latest project has seen the biggest 
improvement and has increased the number of resuscitation bays and treatment cubicles as well as providing improved 
paediatric facilities and minor treatment area. By building an extension to the existing department the construction works 
were able to take place whilst the department remained operational eliminating the need to either close the department or 
to put in temporary facilities.
 
in developing its services, the emergency and Critical Care division have been working over the past year with the National 
intensive support Team to develop the services that the division provides to a standard required for the community it serves. 
There are a number of work streams that the partnership has been focusing on, these include:-
 
 • The introduction of a new medical model within the Medical Assessment Unit that delivers a high quality of care   
  for all medical emergency patients that are admitted. This change ensures that patients receive a review by a   
  senior consultant in a timely manner, this in turn enables early diagnosis and an earlier onset of the necessary   
  treatment.
 
 • New pathways have been developed which enable patients to commence their treatment in the hospital and   
  then be discharged home without being admitted to a bed.  Where appropriate the patient will be followed by   
  up Community services in their own home.  This provides a better experience for the patients and reduced 
  the demand for inpatient beds. some 268 patients have been treated on these pathways between october 2011  
  and March 2012.
 
The partnership that has been formed with the intensive support Team and colleagues in the community will continue 
throughout the coming months to provide the platform on which to build the services required to provide the emergency 
services that best fit the local patient population.
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Stroke Services
 
stroke services have undergone significant change and improvement over the past year. A new Acute stroke unit opened 
at the end of october 2011. The new Acute stroke unit is close to A&e and the CT scanner, enabling stroke sufferers to 
transfer directly from A&e to an acute stroke bed, and to be cared for by stroke specialist doctors, nurses and therapists 
from the moment they are admitted to hospital.  patients needing rehabilitation now transfer from the Acute stroke to the 
stroke Rehabilitation ward to continue their recovery. A new stroke specialist early supported discharge team, formed in 
May 2011, now delivers rehabilitation in stroke patients own homes, enabling patients to leave hospital at an earlier stage in 
their rehabilitation. These new developments form a seamless pathway of care from arrival at hospital through to recovery at 
home, in line with the department of Health’s National stroke strategy.
 
 
Children’s Services
 
The dedicated Children’s section of the A&e department opened in december 2011. The new area provides dedicated 
separate facilities for children and young people in appropriate surroundings, staffed by children’s trained nurses. This new 
area will provide the young population of Tameside with a new fresh and safe environment to wait whilst in the hospital and 
help to separate the waiting areas from the main adult section.
 
Funding has been agreed for a refurbishment programme in the Neonatal intensive Care unit which will commence in the 
summer of 2012.
 
Tameside Neonatal intensive Care unit (NiCu) was one of the 8 chosen sites to continue providing neonatal care to the local 
population under the Making it Better public consultation and continues to provide care to families in the area. The staff on 
the NiCu will be significantly involved in finalising the plans, ensuring that the environment is optimised for the best care.
 
Following the move into the new Children’s outpatient area in November 2010 all the necessary equipment has been 
installed and the final clinics have moved over in to the children’s area. Children’s fracture clinics, children’s orthopaedic 
clinics and children’s eNT clinics now all take place in the children’s area which provides the patients with a child friendly 
environment and play facilities.
 

Pathology
 
All pathology disciplines continue to hold full accreditation with the united Kingdom Accreditation service through the 
Clinical pathology Accreditation scheme. All departments also continue to hold accreditation with the institute of Biomedical 
sciences as training centres for Biomedical scientists.
 
The new anti-coagulation clinic in ladysmith is running smoothly and is now jointly staffed by pharmacy and pathology. The 
software package in use for optimising patients dosing has proved to be an asset.
 
Work to develop the relationship between Tameside and stockport Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has matured and 
developed into a south sector approach now involving university Hospital of south Manchester. The three foundation trust 
hospitals have prepared a business case for joint working which has received Board approval.
 
National Benchmarking continues to show this department provides excellent value for money and receives high output from 
the staff. 

An electronic system for releasing and tracking blood and blood products (BloodTrack) has been implemented throughout 
the Trust to provide full vein to vein audit trails enhancing patient safety.
 

Radiology
 
The Trust are currently in the process of purchasing a second Contour Topography (CT) scanner.  This is a major step forward 
to improving the diagnostic services Radiology provide.
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Health Investment in Tameside (HIT) Project
 
The Health investment in Tameside (HiT) redevelopment completed its final phase during 2011/12 when, in August 2011 the 
new car parks and roadways were opened for use.
 
in september 2011 His Royal Highness the duke of Gloucester officially opened Hartshead Building south which was 
constructed as part of the HiT project and opened for operational use in November 2010.
 
The HiT project was a four year construction project which saw the whole of the Tameside General Hospital site modernised 
and rearranged in such a way to make it easier for patients, visitors and staff to move around the hospital.
 
There is a dedicated Children’s unit including inpatient and outpatient accommodation, modern operating theatres and 
wards to replace those in the Victorian stamford Building, new radiology department alongside the X-ray unit in Hartshead 
building north, centralised outpatients and pharmacy departments, new pathology department, refurbishment of Werneth 
House to house a multi-disciplinary education centre, new mental health facilities for pennine Care NHs Foundation Trust  
and new car parking and road infrastructure.
 
The project has proved to be a success, it was completed in time and in budget and has proved to have achieved all of the 
benefits that it set out to deliver.

3.13 sustainability 
 
“sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present, without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.”1

 
Accounting for sustainability is essential, not only to meet challenging regulatory priorities and the demands of local 
communities but also to understand and realise financial, reputational and public health gains. Being accountable for 
sustainability requires that we measure, report and manage the social and environmental impacts of our business.
 
Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has in place an up-to-date, Board approved, sustainable development Management 
plan, to ensure that, as an NHs organisation, we fulfil our commitment to conducting all aspects of our activities with due 
consideration to sustainability, whilst providing high quality patient care.
 
The director of Human Resources has been appointed as the board level lead for sustainability to ensure that sustainability 
issues have visibility and ownership at the highest level of the organisation.
 
The director of Human Resources chairs the Trust’s sustainable development Group, which is responsible in ensuring that 
the Trust meets its objectives in being a good corporate citizen, which endeavours to ensure that the social, economic and 
environmental aspects of our business are considered.
 
The sustainable development Group monitors the organisations progress towards improving sustainability for six key areas:
 
• Procurement
• Travel and Transport
• Employment
• Facilities management
• New buildings
• Community engagement

1 www.sd-commission.org.uk
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Energy consumption and cost of energy

The NHs has a commitment to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases of 10% by 2015 (based on 1990 levels) and the 
Government has set ambitious targets for emission reductions of 34% by 2020 and 80% by 2050.

This reduction on the import of energy will have the additional benefit of protecting the Trust from the predicted increase in 
energy costs. energy costs for the Trust have fluctuated over the last 5 years and, whilst there is little that can be done to 
protect against changes to the tariff for energy, we believe that reducing our reliance on importing it will release funds that 
are better spent on patient care. 

Figure 1 shows the total amount of energy consumed (MWh per annum) with the associated cost in green to the right of the 
consumption column. it can be seen that consumption has gradually reduced, however the impact that the varying tariff has 
on the finances is seen to bear no relationship to the consumption. 

Figure 1; overall annual energy costs

The Trust has put in place plans to reduce carbon emissions and improve environmental sustainability and over the next 10 
years the Trust has the potential to save £500,000 as a result of the measures detailed in its Carbon Management plan. The 
work already completed in accordance with the Carbon Management plan has been seen to reduce the Trust’s total energy 
consumption continuously for the previous 5 years. The total annual energy consumed for this period has reduced from 
41,116 to 36,822 MWh, a reduction of 10% over 5 years.

The Trust will be continuing to invest in energy efficiency schemes in 2012/13 and also to develop this potential as new 
technologies are explored as the renewable energy market matures.

The Trust has not taken advantage of any renewable energy sources in 2011/12.  However a biomass boiler is installed in 
the new energy centre and this should become operational in 2012/13 with the potential to reduce both emissions and costs 
(via the renewable heat incentive scheme).
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Carbon Footprint

The Trust has seen an absolute reduction in Co2 emissions over the same period in figure 1, which has been as a direct 
result of the reduced energy consumption.

Figure 2 shows the proportion of emissions relating to gas, electricity and fuel oil. 

Figure 2: energy related annual Co2 emissions (tonnes)

The 2011/12 Co2 emissions for the Trust were 10,843 tonnes, a reduction of 18 tonnes compared to 2010/11.

Business travel related emissions for 2011/12 have not been reported but we are putting procedures in place to enable 
robust data collection for the 2012/13 reporting. 
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Water consumption

Water consumption has stabilised for the past 3 years however there has been a significant increase in costs as a result of 
changes imposed by oFWAT. These changes are primarily those that impact on surface water drainage charges.

Figure 3: Annual water consumption and cost profiles

A number of schemes for water reduction have commenced, such as flow restrictors and pressure management, that will 
provide real benefits upon implementation.
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Waste management

our recycling rate of 258 tonnes in 2011/12 was 25% of the total waste we produced, an increase from 24% for 2010/11. 
The NHs sustainable development unit deems that 23% is a reasonable recycling rate (as shown in figure 4). This “recycling” 
rate increases to 51% if we include the clinical waste, which is sent for high temperature incineration with waste heat 
recovery that offsets the use of fossil fuels. 

Figure 4: percentage of waste that in recycled

Figure 5 shows the total amount of waste that was disposed of by the Trust for the last 2 years and it can be seen that both 
clinical and domestic waste streams reduced in 2011/12 by 5% and 14% respectively. We believe that the domestic waste 
reduction may be able to be attributed to our suppliers’ response to the sustainability agenda by reducing the amount of 
packaging on the products that we procure. 

Figure 5: Waste disposal weights

The waste disposal costs for 2011/12 were £218,799, a 7% reduction compared to the previous year, which was a result of 
an 8% reduction in total weight. 

An audit was conducted in 2011 to assess the Trust’s potential to better segregate waste to ensure compliance with recent 
changes to legislation. We are currently working with our waste service providers to ensure that that our waste is properly 
managed whilst reducing disposal costs and maximizing the recycling rate.

25%
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Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC)

The CRC energy efficiency scheme is a mandatory emissions trading scheme for organisations that qualify due to the 
amount of energy that they consume and aims at improving energy efficiency in order to reduce Co2 emissions in large 
public and private sector organisations.

The scheme requires a levy to be paid that relates to the amount of emissions from the organisation in each year. This levy is 
currently at £12 per tonne of Co2 which equates to a financial cost to the Trust of over £130,000.

The CRC scheme also calculates a performance league table that places organisations according to their relative 
improvements relating to emissions of Co2. The first year of phase 1 of the CRC has used metrics other than absolute 
reduction in emissions which has resulted in the Trust being positioned in the lower 42% of the performance league table.

We believe that the ongoing energy improvement schemes will put the Trust in a favourable position for the remaining years 
of this first CRC phase.

3.14 Workforce
The Hospital’s approach to managing staff is central to the core aim of becoming the Hospital of Choice – we have recognised 
that by creating the right conditions for our staff to flourish, we will deliver the best possible care for patients.  our approach 
at Tameside Hospital builds upon the commitments and aspirations set out in the NHs Constitution (2009):

“The highest quality of patient care is delivered by staff who are ambitious in their expectations of themselves and their 
colleagues, and strive to achieve beyond what is legally required of them.”     

Staff Engagement and Staff Survey 

The Trust recognises the magnitude of change that can be achieved through the engagement and involvement of staff and 
is beginning to reap the rewards of an all inclusive and proactive approach to involve everyone in the delivery of patient care 
and ways in which we can meet the challenging financial situation.  

Overall Summary 

The Trust scores breakdown as follows for the 38 key findings:

Best 20% 1 (4 key findings last year)
Better than average 4 (10 key findings last year)
Average 9 (12 key findings last year)
Worse than average 10 (6 key findings last year)
Worst 20% 14 (6 key findings last year)

statistically significant changes in scores, when compared to 2010, breakdown as follows:

No Change 32 (22 last year)
improvements 2 (9 last year)
deterioration 4 (0 last year)
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Highest and Lowest Ranking Scores

The report highlights the key findings where the Trust performed best and worst, when ranked with other NHs 
Acute Trusts. For Tameside, these are as follows:

HIGHEST RANKING SCORES
Trust 
Score
2010

Trust 
Score 
2011

National 
Average

percentage of staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents 
witnessed in the last month 
(Higher the better)

36% 98% 96%

percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months
(Higher the better) 79% 85% 81%

percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from staff in last 
12 months
(lower the better)

1% 1% 1%

percentage of staff saying hand washing materials are always 
available
(Higher the better)

65% 68% 66%

LOWEST RANKING SCORES
Trust 
Score 
2010

Trust 
Score 
2011

National 
Average

percentage of staff suffering work-related stress in last 12 months
(lower the better)

31% 35% 29%

staff recommendation of the trust as a place to work or receive 
treatment
(Higher the better)

3.38
3.20 3.50

percentage of staff feeling pressure in last 3 months to attend work 
when feeling unwell
(lower the better)

30% 31% 26%

percentage of staff believing the trust provides equal opportunities 
for career progression or promotion
(Higher the better)

89%
84% 90%

The following table highlights the key findings where the Trust has improved and deteriorated, when ranked with other NHs 
Acute Trusts. For Tameside, these are:

WHERE STAFF EXPERIENCE HAS IMPROVED
Trust 
Score 
2011

Trust 
Score 2010

National 
Average

percentage of staff receiving health and safety training in last 
12 months 
(Higher the better)

71% 61% 81%

percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months
(Higher the better)

85% 79% 81%
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WHERE STAFF EXPERIENCE HAS 
DETERIORATED

Trust 
Score 
2011

Trust 
Score 
2010

National 
Average

Trust commitment to work-life balance
(Higher the better)

3.32 3.50 3.36

percentage of staff feeling there are good opportunities to 
develop their potential at work
(Higher the better)

34% 42% 40%

staff intention to leave jobs
(lower the better)

2.71 2.55 2.59

staff recommendation of the trust as a place to work or 
receive treatment
(Higher the better)

3.20 3.38 3.50

Everyone Matters

during 2011/12 the “everyone Matters” organisational development programme has gone from strength to strength. The 
idea is a simple one, we want to move forward by giving staff the opportunity to address the issues and concerns that they 
have in a way that is meaningful to them and that meets the NHs constitutional pledge of “involving staff in decisions that 
affect them and the services that they provide” (NHs Constitution 2009). 

only together will we make Tameside Hospital the local hospital of choice and an organisation where all employees are proud 
to work. 

NHS Staff Survey 2011

The Annual NHs staff survey conducted in the Autumn of each year is one of a range of indicators which the Trust uses to 
assess employee engagement and satisfaction.  The findings of this annual survey are triangulated with other engagement 
and satisfaction tools to inform action planning.  

every year the results of the staff survey identify the positive and negative elements of the staff experience here at Tameside 
Hospital and allow us to benchmark our practice against other NHs hospitals.  We use this information to make improvements 
to working lives.  Following the views and opinions expressed last year, we have taken the actions outlined below:-

•	 staff Charter: A revised staff Charter was launched on Tuesday 13th december 2011 (see below)

• The continued development of Everyone Matters at Tameside, including:  

  Big Conversation phase Two: key work streams include Feedback, staff engagement, internal Communication,
  performance, Coaching, 360 appraisal, Back to the Floor and listening skills.

  staff suggestion schemes: The Big ideas staff suggestion scheme launched in January 2011 has received 46
  ideas to date suggesting improvements in health and safety, quality, the environment, working lives, energy ,
  efficiency, communication, cost savings and customer services. 

  Reward & Recognitions schemes: As part of the everyone Matters approach, staff opinions have been
  gathered on the current process for formal reward and recognition (excellence in Care awards, long service
  Awards,100% Attendance Awards, Chairman’s prize, etc). 
 
• Increasing Trust level visibility through “Board to Ward” activities, with executive and non- executive directors visiting   
 wards and departments to answer questions and listen to the views of staff at all levels.
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• Health and Wellbeing: the continued development of Happy, Healthy, Safe to support employee health and well being  
 by introducing the “Tameside 200 Fit for 2012” programme, where over 300 employees undertook periodic lifestyle  
 and Health checks and fitness testing, with many now committed to improving their health and fitness in the run up  
 to the 2012 olympic Games.  As a result the Trust has been awarded the inspire Mark, a nationally recognised   
 endorsement of organisations supporting and promoting the health of their workforce.

• Communication review: Including the introduction of the 2-way Team Brief in August 2011 with a subsequent review and
 changes are being made to further improve the Team Brief process and to ensure the verbal cascade occurs within 48  
 hours of the Team Brief being delivered.

• Ongoing leadership and management training to ensure consistent management practice.

• Improving access to Performance & Development Reviews (PDR) so that all staff have a PDR at least once a year.

• Enhanced PDRs for managers, including an assessment of the individual’s contribution to the Corporate Objectives,
 achievement of objectives and goals and modelling the Trust Values.

• Improving access to training and development opportunities, including the development of an e-learning version the
 Mandatory Training Health and safety Workbook went live in November 2011.

• Introduction of the Conditional Incremental Progression approach (based on PDR, Mandatory training and other core
 performance indicators).

• Maintaining a safe environment through a Zero-Tolerance Campaign: Including reestablishing the Police room in A&E, a
 publicity campaign to deter violence and aggression against staff and the revision and re-launch of the Violence &
 Aggression policy with a major campaign on security and personal safety.

Future Priorities and Targets

Alongside a rigorous action plan in response to the findings of the 2011 national NHs staff survey, local “pulse surveys” will 
be planned to test progress/improvement across discrete areas of the Trust.  it is planned to conduct these pulse surveys 
electronically.

The surveys will be repeated on a regular basis to provide supplementary information on levels of morale and motivation 
across the workforce.

Staff Charter

A revised staff Charter was launched on Tuesday 13th december 2011. All Trust staff, volunteers and students were invited 
to attend an interactive event.

The staff Charter highlights the rights and responsibilities of employees and the Trust’s pledges and commitments to its staff. 
it has strong links both to the NHs Constitution and the Trust’s Mission and Values.  it sets out:
 
 • Our expectations of the Trust- The Trust’s commitment to ensuring work life is Happy     
   Healthy and safe so we can provide high quality care for our patients.

 • The Trusts expectation on all of us (the staff) – what is expected of employees to ensure the     
   highest standard of patient care. 

We are committed to ensuring the staff Charter is not just a printed document, but one that it is brought to life by the staff and 
their teams in a way which is meaningful and which promotes discussion and ultimately, even better patient care. Managers 
in all areas are looking to facilitate a team discussion about the staff Charter so the values it encapsulates inform our working 
lives.
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Workforce Changes

The Trust’s financial challenges over the past year have been outlined elsewhere in this report, and have required a review, of 
all areas of expenditure to look for efficiency savings.

The Trust entered a formal statutory 90 day consultation period in June 2011 with recognised Trade unions, to consult on 
the proposed workforce reconfiguration.  over the past months, significant efforts have been made to reduce the impact on 
staff and to minimise the likelihood of compulsory redundancies. 

As at March 2012, the Trust was projecting a loss of just under 109 WTe posts over the financial year 2011/12. of the 
projected reductions in posts 57% has been achieved through vacancy deletion, with a maximum of just 3 potential 
redundancies across the Trust (subject to consultation).  This is a significant improvement, given the initial projection was 
approximately 200 posts, and has been achieved through the following means:

• Looking at improving productivity/capacity where appropriate, as opposed to post reductions.

• A Trust wide vacancy freeze, unless a role is service critical, so that vacancies can be disestablished and services   
 reconfigured.

• Vacancies being “held” by the Trust where safe and appropriate to do so, in order to create redeployment opportunities  
 for displaced staff.

• The implementation of a Mutually Agreed Resignation (MAR) Scheme to allow staff to leave the Trust at a mutually   
 agreeable time, creating redeployment opportunities for displaced staff.

• Reduction in temporary bank & agency expenditure where possible.

• Creating “pools” of staff (e.g. nursing) over and above current establishment, to be used to cover vacancies and long   
 term leave rather than bank & agency staff.

The above have proven successful in minimising disruption and compulsory redundancies.
 
The financial situation for the Trust continues to be challenging for 2012/13, and the Trust will continue to make every 
possible effort to keep staff informed and engaged.

3.15 equality and diversity
Celebrating Diversity at Tameside 

The Trust, as a local employer and Hospital of choice, believes that everyone should have equal access to our employment 
and healthcare service.  

in light of this, we are keen to engage with everyone who feels they can make a difference in the way we deliver healthcare 
services to our patients. The following are some examples of partnership working in the delivery of our equality and diversity 
agenda:

Single Equality Scheme (SES): our single equality scheme (ses) forms an essential part of helping us to become a local 
hospital and employer of choice.  The ses demonstrates how we propose to promote equal opportunities across all of 
the protected characteristics as defined by the equality Act. our equality and diversity implementation group are currently 
looking to streamline the document in consultation with key stakeholders.

Equality and Diversity (Specific) awareness training: Whilst equality remains embedded into all our training, the Trust 
has provided equality and diversity specific training in partnership with the NHs Tameside and Glossop. our commitment to 
training ensures that our staff provide patient care with dignity and respect as outlined in the NHs Constitution, our Mission 
statement, “everyone Matters” strategy and staff Charter.
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Equality Delivery System (EDS): The Trust has met its statutory obligations under the equality Act and public sector duty, 
which is a national equality, diversity and Human Right (edHR) performance system for the NHs.  At the heart of this is a 
set of 18 outcomes focused on the issues of most concern to patients, carers, communities, NHs staff and Trust Board. 

Equality Working Groups: The Trust will continue to deliver its equality agenda through consultation and partnership 
working with its key stakeholders via the Trusts internal equality and diversity implementation Group and the external 
equality and Reference Group.

Diverse Workforce

in recognition of the benefits of employing a diverse workforce in the delivery of a high quality of service to our patients, 
the Trust has published its 3rd edition of the annual Workforce equality Report demonstrating the diversity of its workforce, 
including areas for improvement.  

Equality objectives for 2012 and beyond

 • In meeting The Trust’s Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010, the following equality objectives   
  have been established for 2012/13:

 • To involve and engage with staff and service users by establishing strong links with key stakeholders who have
  an interest in delivering positive equality outcomes for all protected groups in the access to healthcare and   
  employment opportunities.

 • To develop a workforce that has an increased awareness of equality and diversity issues in the delivery of good   
  quality patient care.

 • To implement a robust ‘Analysis of the Effect’ (A&E) system to eliminate any inequalities in any community groups in 
  accessing our healthcare service, supported with Aoe training for all managers responsible for service development.

 • To improve the process for collating, monitoring and usage of our equality data across the nine Protected 
  Characteristics as defined by the equality Act for both our patients and workforce.

These equality objectives have been published on our public website, together with equality data relating to our patients and 
workforce across all of the protected characteristics.  our equality data submission acknowledges that there are gaps in 
collating data across all of the protected Characteristic groups and will look to address this as one of the equality objectives 
from April 2012.

delivery against these equality objectives will have a positive outcome for all staff and service users, regardless of their 
protected Characteristic - the equality and diversity implementation Group are developing the Trust’s action plan for realising 
the agreed equality objectives over the next 4 years.
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4. Governance

4.1 Governing Council
Following the establishment of the Foundation Trust in February 2008, the Council of Governors which had existed in shadow 
form for some time, assumed its full range of responsibilities as defined in the Trust Constitution. A quarterly pattern of 
meetings was established, with a formal agenda covering both standing and ad hoc items. Attendance at these meetings 
is given in the table which follows. The following committees have been established as sub committees of the Council of 
Governors:

- Nominations and Remuneration Committee
- Membership Committee
- Marketing and Choice Committee
- equality and diversity Group

public Member Township
11th May

2011
17th August
    2011

16th November         
       2011

14th February    
      2012

Mr p Roberts/Jean Bowes porter Ashton under lyne √	 √ √ √	

Mr J stafford Ashton under lyne √	 √ √ x

Vacant Audenshaw

Mr T Askew denton x √ √ √

Gillian drummond denton x x √ x

Vacant droylsden

Mr J Fox dukinfield √	 √ √ x

dr Murtaza Husaini england and Wales √	 √ √ √

Miss laura Almond Glossop √	 x √ √

Mrs B Whiteley Glossop √	 √ √ √

Mr B Nichols Hyde x x x √

Vacant/John philips Hyde x √ √ √

Mr sean parker perry/ Vacant longdendale √	 x x x

Mrs B Anderton Mossley √	 √ √ x

dr M Matin stalybridge √	 √ √ √

staff Member division

Mrs C Bradshaw Corporate services √	 x √ x

Mrs A dobson
diagnostic and Therapeutic 
services

 x √ √ √

Mrs J Bergin elective services division √	 x x √

Mrs M Judge emergency services/critical care √	 √ x x

Ms K Wrigley/Vacant Facilities x x x x

Ms C Allen Women’s and Children’s √ √ √ x

partnership organisation

Ms l Thompson Consort Healthcare √  x √ x

Cllr Wharmby/Garry parvin High peak Borough Council x √ x x

dr R patel
Tameside and Glossop primary 
Care Trust

√ √ √ x

Mr s eyres/Vacant Third sector Coalition x √ x x

Cllr B Warrington TMBC √ √ √ √

Vacant/Jack davies Young person √ √ x √
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in addition, two groups report their progress and proceedings formally to the Council of Members, namely the user Reference 
Group and the disability equality Working Group.

in 2008/09, a cycle of public meetings was established. These meetings involved the relevant Governor of Council meeting 
with the public membership for their area. The meetings were supported by Trust senior staff and attended by the Chairman, 
Chief executive and director of Nursing.

during 2011/12 the agenda of public meetings has continued on a twice yearly basis and many issues were discussed. 
Members of the public raised a wide range of issues including the improved parking facilities at the Trust, the outpatient 
appointments system, Health Care Acquired infections (HCAi), Care Quality Commission (CQC) reports and ways to recruit 
more members to the Foundation Trust.

4.2 Board of directors
Trust Board meetings are held in private. There are a number of other forums and opportunities, designed not only to inform 
both the staff and the general public, but also to generate feedback.

        Start Date in post Expiry Date of Term of Office

Chairman

Tim presswood       31 october 2011

paul Connellan    1 Nov 2011  31 oct 2014
 
Non-Executive Directors

d Bates         31 January 2012

Anne Higgins    1 Feb 2012  31 Jan 2015  

Tony Ward**     May 2006   30 April 2013

Robert Corless**     1 Jan 2007   31 dec 2012

Adrian Anderson**    1 Nov 2008   31 oct 2014

Tricia Kalloo     25 Nov 2010   24 Nov 2013

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the executive and Associate directors and 
is made up of the Chairman and the Non-executive directors. Members of the Audit Committee are identified by an asterisk 
** above.

Executive Directors

Chief executive    Christine Green

director of Finance   Karen Brown/david Jago

Medical director    Tariq Mahmood

Nursing director    philip dylak

director of Clinical services   Adrian Griffiths/paul Williams

The Chief executive and all executive directors are appointed on permanent contracts by the Trust Board. 

The Chairman and Non-executive directors are appointed for a specified period of time. The Council of Governors is 
responsible for the appointment and removal of the Chair and other Non-executive directors.
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4.3 Trust Board Committees
The Trust Board has established the following committees: Audit, Remunerations and Terms of service, Quality and Clinical 
Governance, and Risk Management and Corporate Governance.

each of the Board Committees is chaired by a director of the Trust Board.

Audit Committee 

27th April
2011

25th May 
2011

2nd June
2011

22nd Sept 
2011

14th Dec
2011

29th Feb 
2012

Mr david Jago
director of Finance       √       √      √      √ √

Miss K Brown
director of Finance √ √ √

Mr T Ward (Chair)
Non-executive director √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr R Corless
Non executive director √ √ √ X √ √

Mr A Anderson
Non executive director √ √ √ √ √ √

Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee 

24th May 
2011

21st July 
2011

22nd Sept
2011

22nd Nov 
2011

6th Feb 
2012

2nd April 
2012

Mr Robert Corless (Chair)
Non-executive director

√ X √ √ √ √

Miss K Brown
director of Finance

X

Mr d Jago
director of Finance

X √ √ √ √ √

Mr p dylak
director of Nursing

√ √ √ √ √ √

Mrs G parker
Associate director of Facilities

√ √ X √ √ √

Mr d Wilkinson
director of Human Resources

√ √ √ √ √ √
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Quality and Clinical Governance Committee 

 

8th 
April 
2011

9th 
May 
2011

6th 
July 
2011

  9th 
Sept 
2011

6th  
Oct 
2011

7th 
Nov 
2011

5th   
Dec 
2011

   6th  
Jan 
2012

3rd  
Feb 
2012

2nd 
March 
2012

Mrs d Bates
Non executive director 
(Chair) 

√ X √ √ √ √ √ √

Mrs T Kalloo
Non executive director
(Chair)

   √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Mrs C Green 
Chief executive 

X √ √ X X √ X √ X √

Mr p dylak 
director of Nursing

√ √ √ √   √ √ √ √ √ √

dr T Mahmood 
Medical director

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee

 
No meeting took place in the reporting period as no 
pay award was given

Mr T presswood/ Mr p Connellan
Non exec director
Chair

Mr d A Ward
Non exec director

Mrs d Bates
Non exec director

Mr A Anderson
Non exec director

Mr R Corless
Non exec director

during the past year, the Nomination Committee agreed and oversaw the appointment of the Chair and two Non-executive 
director positions.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for advising and/or making recommendations to the Council of Governors in all 
matters relating to the recruitment process for the selection of candidates for the office of Chairman or other Non-executive 
directors;

Mr presswood decided not to stand for a further term of office as Chair of the Trust, and the services of an executive 
recruiting agency was employed to assist the Council of Governors with the recruitment and selection of a new Chair. The 
election process involved all members of the Nomination Committee, supported by an external assessor who was an existing 
Chair of a Foundation Trust.  Governors of Council were invited to meet the prospective candidates on the assessment day. 
The successful applicant paul Connellan was offered and accepted the post for a three year term.

The term of office for Mr Adrian Anderson, Non-executive director, expired on 31 october 2011 and was extended for a 
further period of 3 years. 
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A competitive recruitment process was undertaken for the Non-executive director post that expired on 30 January 2011. The 
process was managed by the Trust’s Company secretary on behalf of the Council of Governors.  using open advertisement 
in the local media and the national website NHs Jobs, the selection process involved all members of the NRC, supported 
by an independent Assessor, with wider Council of Governors members invited to meet prospective candidates on the 
assessment day. The successful applicant Anne Higgins was offered and accepted the post for a 3 year term.

There are no performance-related elements to director’s remuneration.

4.4 declaration of interests
The Board regularly reviews the Register of directors interests.  The Register is maintained by the Foundation Trust secretary.  
directors are requested to bring to the Boards attention any potential or actual conflict of interest in relation to agenda items, 
at the start of it’s meeting. All Trust Board members provide details of their business and other relevant interests. A register 
of these interests is held by Yvonne Knight, in the Chief executive’s office, and is available for inspection upon request. 
in 2011/12, the Trust contracted with Wellness international, of which Ms Kalloo is the Chief executive officer, to provide 
employee health and wellbeing strategy support.

4.5 disclosure of Corporate Governance Arrangements
The Board of directors and the Council of Governors of the Trust are committed to the principles of good corporate 
governance as detailed in the “NHs Foundation Trust Code of Governance”. The Board has reviewed and considered 
Monitor’s “NHs Foundation Trust Code of Governance” and consider it complies with all recommended practice, except the 
provision which states that executive directors should be appointed by a committee of the Chief executive, the Chairman 
and Non-executive directors and subject to re-appointment at intervals of no more than five years. All executive directors 
are on permanent pensionable contracts are subject to annual review.

The directors who sit on the Board of directors possess the experience and expertise to give the Board the balance, 
completeness and appropriateness to meet the requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust.

Tameside Foundation Trust’s Non-executive directors bring to the Trust a wide range of experience from both the private 
and public sector.

4.6 Governance arrangements
The governance arrangements of the Trust include a Governing Council (the Council of Governors) and the Trust Board of 
directors. The main role of the Council of Governors is to form a critical link between the Foundation Trust membership and 
the Trust Board, enabling a two way exchange. The Council of Governors has a key focus on external relationships and on 
growing and developing the membership base, listening to their views and reflecting them to the Board. However, it remains 
closely involved in internal discussions about developing strategy and continually improving the quality of care and the range 
of services provided. The Chairman and Chief executive form the key link between the work of the Council of Governors 
and that of the Trust Board.

The Trust Board is the principal forum for strategic decision making for the Trust. The Board brings together the expertise 
and independence of the Non-executive members with the knowledge and experience of the executive Team to support 
the on-going management of the organisation, as well as strategic direction setting. The Board continually reviews the 
commercial and financial robustness of the organisation, from the position in-year, through to the very long timescales 
required to support major capital investments. The Board also provides the focus for all of the Trust’s assurance processes, 
and all self-assessments and external declarations.

The Trust Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Trust’s business to the Chief executive and 
the executive directors. The Non-executives hold the executives to account through the work of the Trust Board and its 
Committees.
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The Trust undertakes an externally facilitated Board Assessment and development day with all directors. in addition to this 
all executive directors are subject to annual performance evaluation by the Chief executive who in turn is evaluated by the 
Chairman. Non executive directors are evaluated by the Chairman, who in turn is evaluated by a senior independent director.

All Board committees annually assess their performance against their Terms of Reference and report their evaluation to the 
Trust Board.

All of the Non-executive directors on the Trust Board are considered to be independent. This assessment is based on the 
information contained within the Register of directors’ interests. The NHs Foundation Trust Code of Governance recommends 
that the Trust Board should appoint one of the Non-executive directors as the senior independent director, in consultation 
with the Council of Governors. The senior independent director should be available to members and Members of Council if 
they have concerns which cannot be resolved through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief executive or Finance director.

Mrs denise Bates, the senior independent director (sid), was appointed during 2008/09 and upon her departure in January 
2012, the Board appointed Mr Adrian Anderson as the sid in March 2012.

The Audit Committee has been established to provide assurances to the Board on matters which include, but are not limited 
to, the following:

 • To ensure that sound and effective systems of internal control, including financial control and risk management, are
  in place within the Trust and appropriately maintained.

 • To ensure that the systems of internal control, including financial control and risk management, are independently
  assured.

 • To protect the Auditor’s ability to investigate the Board’s decisions and those of senior Executives.

 • To establish and maintain Internal Audit and External Audit arrangements that meet mandatory audit standards
  and legislation and review the cost and effectiveness of these arrangements on a regular basis. To ensure that
  policies and procedures are in place with regard to countering fraud and corruption.

The Audit Committee comprises three Non-executive directors. The Chairman, Chief executive, director of Finance, Chief 
internal Auditor, local Counter Fraud specialist and a senior external Auditor have a right to attend (but may not vote). other 
officers may be invited to attend as necessary. The full Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee are available on the 
Trust’s web-site. Where the Trust is planning to appoint outside management consultants to undertake work, consideration 
is given to whether the external auditors can be included in the list of firms to be considered, or whether they should be 
excluded as the work would potentially compromise their independence as auditors. Consideration is given to factors such 
as the likely fees for the work, the areas in which the work is to be undertaken, and whether the auditors are likely to review 
the area as part of their work.

The auditors have their own procedures for concluding whether possible non-audit work could compromise their 
independence, or be perceived to compromise it. in line with the iCAeW’s ethical standards, if they cannot put in place 
appropriate safeguards, they will not put forward a proposal.

The Trust Board includes members with a wide range of interests. This provides the depth and variety of opinion and 
discussion required for effective decision making. The Board is of the view that it is well placed to develop and lead a 
successful organisation into 2012/13 and beyond. The executive and Non-executive directors have taken measures to 
develop an understanding of the views of Governors and members about the NHs Foundation Trust. These have included 
attendance at meetings of the Council  of Governors and attending constituency meetings to engage its members and the 
community it serves. The experience, interests and activities of the members of the Trust Board are summarised below.
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Tim Presswood - Chair (tenure expired 31 october 2011) 
Areas of interest - tackling health inequalities and social inclusion.  Community finance and social enterprise.
Current/Previous Work - Currently a Baptist minister and Chair of Manchester Credit union.  previously Chair of North 
Manchester pCT and Non-executive director of Manchester pCT.  served as director of a variety of regeneration bodies 
and social enterprises.
Membership of Trust Board Committees - Remuneration and Terms of service (Chair)

Paul Connellan - Chair  (Appointed 1 November 2011)
Areas of interest - Customer service in healthcare.  dignity in care for the elderly.  Role of Governors in a foundation trust. 
Previous work - director of Marketing and Customer services at Manchester Airport prior to embarking on a successful 
consultancy career. previously a Non-executive director of NHs Trafford pCT and its predecessor organisations since 2006.

Denise Bates - Non-executive director and senior independent director.   
(Tenure expired 31 January 2012)
Areas of interest - the patient and carer experience (quality and safety), planning to meet future needs and health 
promotion.
Current/Previous Work - Fellow of the institute of Chartered Accountants in england and Wales, Non-executive director 
of Tameside and Glossop Community and priority services (NHs) Trust 1993 – 2002. Chief executive of a major voluntary 
organisation in Tameside 2003 – 2009.
Committees - Nominations and Remuneration Committee, Quality and Clinical Governance (Chair), equality and diversity 
(Non-executive lead).

Tony Ward - Non executive director
Areas of interest - Qualified Accountant, specialist in process reengineering.
Current / Previous Work - Managing director of several operations within a uK public limited company.  
previously the Finance director of a division within another uK plc.
Membership of Trust Board Committees -Audit Committee (Chair), Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
Charitable Funds (Chair)

Robert Corless - Non-executive director
Areas of interest - building and sustaining competitive advantage and organisational effectiveness.
Current/Previous Work - previously a management consultant with a large multi-national us firm.
Membership of Trust Board Committees - Audit Committee, Nominations and Remuneration Committee, Risk 
Management and Corporate Governance Committee (Chair) 

Adrian Anderson – Non-executive director (senior independent director and Vice chair from 
March 2012)
Areas of interest - Constitution, public private partnership.
Current/Previous Work- senior partner in legal Firm.
Membership of Trust Board Sub Committees - Audit Committee

Tricia Kalloo - Non-executive director
Areas of Interest – patient experience, safety and outcomes.  staff heath and wellbeing. 
Current/Previous Work - Currently Ceo and owner of Wellness international.  previously worked in health care in the 
usA prior to moving to Antigua where she became director of Finance and Administration for the eastern Caribbean Civil 
Aviation Authority. 
Membership of Trust Board Committees – Remuneration and Terms of service, Quality and Clinical Governance (Chair)

Anne Higgins - Non-executive director
Date Appointed - 1 February 2012
Areas of interest - Hospital communications with patients and their families about their care and treatment and learning 
from them how we can make it better. Celebrating successes and improvements in the services provided by the hospital 
for local people.
Current /Previous work - Currently Corporate director of Communities and Wellbeing at Trafford Council. Joined the 
NHs in 1980 as an occupational Therapist and since then has held a number of senior positions within the NHs and local 
Authorities.



Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust 
ANNuAl RepoRT 2011 /12

38

Executive Directors

Christine Green - Chief executive
Experience - Career Manager in NHs for over 25 years
Qualification - HNC Business Administration, diploma in Health service Management
Membership of Trust Board Committees - Quality and Clinical Governance Committee

Karen Brown - executive director of Finance (resigned May 2011)
Experience - previously director of Finance at City Hospital sunderland NHs FT, and held Head of Finance roles within 
the public sector since 1998.
Qualification - CipFA, BA Hons Theology, MBA.
Membership of Trust Board Committees - Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee, Audit 
Committee.

Mr David Jago - executive director of Finance (Appointed May 2011)
Experience - Joined the NHs as a regional finance trainee in 1989 after gaining a BA (Hons) in economics. He is a 
member of the Chartered institute of public Finance and Accountancy. prior to joining the Trust he was deputy director of 
Finance at the university Hospital of south Manchester.
Membership - Audit Committee, Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee

Tariq Mahmood - Medical director 
Experience - Medical practitioner for over 20 years. Consultant obstetrician and Gynaecologist at Tameside General 
Hospital for 7 years.  Formerly lead Clinician for obstetrics and Gynaecology and RCoG tutor.
Main interest is in obstetric scanning and pre-natal diagnosis.
Qualification - MB ChB, BMsc, MRCoG, MFFp, FRCoG, Md, diploma in obstetric ultrasound.
Membership of Trust Board Committees - Quality and Clinical GovernanceCommittee

Philip Dylak - executive director of Nursing
Experience - previously director of Nursing and patient services at Halton General Hospital, senior Nurse/R&d Manager, 
NHs North West, Assistant director of Nursing at Central Manchester Healthcare Trust.  
Qualification - Bsc (Hons), Msc RN Nurse.
Membership of Trust Board Committees - Quality and Clinical Governance Committee, Risk Management and 
Corporate Governance Committee.

Adrian Griffiths - executive director of Clinical services (resigned November 2011)
Experience  - previous areas of work include general management posts in surgical services, Neurosciences and 
Radiology at Hope Hospital, and administrative posts in Bury, Regional Headquarters and North Manchester.  eight years’ 
experience as an executive director at Tameside Hospital, the last five years as director of Clinical services.
Qualification - BA (Hons) History, M.phil. History, diploma in Health services Management. Membership of Trust Board.

Mr Paul Williams - executive director of Clinical services (Appointed November 2011)
Joined the NHs in 2004 following a career in the defence and space industries where he gained an Msc. paul has held 
a number of senior posts in the acute healthcare sector prior to joining Tameside in November 2011. He is a Fellow of the 
Chartered Management institute.
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4.7 Membership
The Trust membership comprises a public Constituency, a staff Constituency and six members appointed 
from partnership organisations.

Public Constituency

The table below summarises the boundaries for public membership, the approximate population of the membership, the 
minimum size of membership and the number of Members of Council for each area. The areas are based on electoral wards.

Area Population (circa)
Minimum size of 

membership
No. of Members of Council

Ashton under lyne 45,000 94 2

Audenshaw 11,000 23 1

denton 34,000 71 2

droylsden 23,000 48 1

dukinfield 23,000 48 1

Hyde 34,000 71 2

longdendale 10,000 21 1

Mossley 10,000 21 1

stalybridge 22,000 46 1

Glossop 28,000 59 2

england and Wales 53,000,000 50 1

An individual aged 16 years or over who lives in one the above areas can become a member of the Trust following completion 
of an appropriate application form.

public Members of council are elected for a period of three years, and are eligible for re-election at the end of that period 
although they may not hold office for longer than 9 consecutive years.

Staff Constituency

The table below summarises the six classes into which the staff membership is divided. The minimum size of membership for 
each class is also given, and is to be 50% of the eligible staff in the constituency. The classes are based on the configuration 
of the organisation, as follows.

Class
Minimum size

of membership
No. of

Members of Council

emergency services and Critical Care 322 1

diagnostic and Therapeutic services 159 1

Women’s and Children’s services 189 1

elective services 273 1

Facilities 70 1

Corporate services 177 1
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individuals aged sixteen years or over who are employed by the Trust, or are not employed but exercise functions for 
the Trust, are eligible for membership of the staff constituency without application, provided they endorse the values and 
principles of the Trust. The period of employment must be at least 12 months. An individual who is eligible to be a member 
of the staff Constituency cannot also be a member of the public Constituency, and therefore cannot become or continue 
as a member of more than one class.

Changes to Council of Governors 2011/12

during the year the following changes occurred in the composition of the Council of Governors:-

The following public Governor had his tenure of office terminated: 
Mr sean parker-perry member for longdendale - February 2012 

Joining Members

Public 

John philips was elected as member for Hyde in June 2011
Brian Nichols was elected as member for Hyde in october 2011

Staff 

Mike McCluskey replaced Kath Wrigley as the staff Governor for the estates and Facilities division.

Partnership

Garry parvin replaced Cllr. Jean Wharmby as the representative for the High peak Borough Council.

Eligibility and Exclusion

Both public and staff members can be excluded from membership. The Trust Constitution contains full details of the 
conditions for disqualification from membership – the list which follows summarises the situations in which this can occur.

Members can be disqualified if they have:

• been classified as a vexatious complainant,

• verbally or physically assaulted a Trust employee, volunteer, patient or visitor,

• been dismissed from the employment of the Trust (certain exclusions apply),

• sanctioned under the Trust’s Zero Tolerance Policy,

• registered as a sex offender,

• failed to agree to abide by the Trust’s values and principles,

• made a false application or statement in relation to their membership or election to the Council of Members, or

• acted in a manner that is contrary to the Trust’s principles and objectives.

if an individual ceases to be employed by the Trust, or perform functions on behalf of the Trust, they are no longer eligible for 
membership of the staff constituency.



Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust
ANNuAl RepoRT 2011 /12

41

Membership Numbers

The following table shows the number of public members in each area as at March 2012. in each case, 
the minimum target membership has been exceeded.

Ashton 1691

Audenshaw 348

denton 949

droylsden 565

dukinfield 800

Glossop 869

Hyde 1229

longdendale 362

Mossley 293

stalybridge 846

england and Wales 484

TOTAL 8,436

The staff Constituency membership currently stands at 2,370. To date, only four members of staff have opted out of 
membership of the staff constituency.

4.8 Membership strategy
The Trust maintains a data base of membership. This enables analysis of the composition of the membership which provides 
a matrix for membership drives. A Membership Committee, comprising Members of Council and supported by the executive 
director lead on Membership, has been formed to look at specific ways of increasing membership in line with the Trust’s 
Membership strategy. 

The Membership Committee has advised on the processes for becoming a member and the presentation of the documentation 
used to join the Trust, known as “joining slips”. 

The Trust endeavours to provide these slips to;

•  patients attending the Out-Patient Department,
• patients using the “Infopatient” patient information service,
• each family with which the Trust’s paediatric nurses come in contact – both hospital and community, and 
• each family with which the Trust’s midwives come in contact.

Targeting these large throughput areas in a more explicit way is expected to lead to further increases in membership, which 
will be reflected in an ever more representative composition over time. during 2011/12 a number of additional recruitment 
initiatives were undertaken in the main entrances of the hospital’s Hartshead building, and in local shopping centres. 

A key focus of activity during 2012/13 will be to increase the number of young people recruited as members. To this end 
work is being undertaken with the young person representative on the Council of Governors, local Further educational 
Colleges and relevant local authority agencies to increase engagement with this sector of our population. 
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Contact procedures

To facilitate contact between members and Members of Council and/or directors, the hospital website contains the 
names, areas of responsibility and contact details (email, telephone and mail) for all of the Members of Council and all of 
the directors.

A register of interests for the Council of Governors is held by the Company secretary and is available for inspection on 
request.

5. Quality Improvement 

This section of the Annual Report is called the Quality Report.  

The layout and wording of the report follows a national model.  This is so that readers can compare the quality account of 
one organisation with another, if they wish.

The Quality Report tells the reader about the quality targets the Trust worked towards during 2011/12, and the quality targets 
it will be working towards during 2012/13.  

The targets in this report are agreed by the Trust Board and the Council of Governors.

The Trust has to address other quality targets, which are set nationally, regionally and by the Trust’s commissioners.  
performance against these targets is described jn another part of the report.

The Quality Report is divided up as follows:-

Part 1 The Chief executive summarises the Trust’s view of its quality performance during the year and identifies some   
 significant issues.

Part 2 This focusses on where the Trust wants to make specific quality improvements during 2012/13, and describes   
 how the Trust performed against its priorities last year.  

 in 2012/13, the Trust’s priorities for quality improvement will centre on infection control, mortality, and meeting key  
 standards.

 All acute Trusts will also have to meet certain nationally defined standards, and the expected standards are listed  
 here.

 This section provides further detail on our quality performance during 2011/12, covering areas such as surveys,   
 complaints, and other forms of patient feedback, the clinical audit programme which the Trust undertook   
 to examine and improve the quality of its services during the year, plus other measures and checks to which the  
 hospital was subject.

Part 3 This is an extensive review of services, covering all of the things the Trust measured during 2011/12 as agreed   
 with the Board and Council of Governors.  

Annex Contains statements on the Quality Report from the Commissioners and local involvement Network (liNk).
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Part 1 Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive

The purpose of this statement is to summarise the Trust’s view of the quality of the NHs services that it provided or sub-
contracted during 2011/12.  

The Trust is committed to achieving the highest possible standards of safety, dignity and quality.  This core principle drives 
its relationship with its staff, its patients, the community it serves and its partner organisations, and underpins its aspiration 
to be the hospital of choice for the people of Tameside and Glossop.  

The report which follows provides data on a wide range of initiatives undertaken within the Trust to improve quality.  A number 
of additional items are also highlighted below.

a. Governance Review
 
during 2011/12, the Board commissioned priceWaterhouseCoopers (pWC) to undertake a quality governance review, 
structured around Monitor’s Quality Governance Framework.  Having already achieved a number of improvements to quality, 
the Board continues to be committed to strengthening governance, recognising the need for strong quality governance 
against a backdrop of increasingly challenging circumstances for NHs providers. 

The review was designed to assist the Board by informing its development in this area, providing a platform to help the Trust 
develop its governance arrangements in line with best practice.  in response to the outcomes of the review, an action plan 
was developed by the Chief executive, director of Nursing and Medical director.  implementation of the plan commenced in 
the last quarter of 2011/12, and is due to complete at the end of May 2012.  Following a period of consolidation, pWC will 
undertake a further review to test the effectiveness of the changes.  one of the main tasks is to ensure that responsibility and 
accountability for quality is appropriately located at operational/clinical level, which has been reflected in both changes to the 
structures for delivering quality and in the development of speciality level clinical dashboards.   A great deal of progress has 
been made, and once the plan is fully implemented, the Trust will have:-

• earlier warning of the risks its faces;
• clearer lines of accountability for governance, and 
• a well-defined structure which goes from ward to Board and Board to ward.

2. Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs)

during 2011/12, the Trust embarked upon an extensive Cost improvement programme (Cip), in line with national requirements.   
The finance section of the annual report contains further details about the programme, which saw the Trust making savings 
of £9.4m, a level far in excess of anything previously achieved by the Trust.  Clearly, such an ambitious programme of 
cost reduction carries with it certain risks, even when the savings are achieved largely through transformational change 
and service redesign. To ensure that any potential effects on quality could be identified, the Cip requires the completion 
of a Quality impact Assessment (QiA) at three stages – when the project is first proposed, when (if) it is approved for 
implementation, and six months post implementation. 

The process led to the modification of a number of schemes, and in a number of cases identified that the scheme could not 
progress without risk to quality – this included a proposal to close a medical ward, and another proposal to reduce nurse 
staffing levels based on a model proposed by an external consultant. in addition to the QiAs, the Board augmented the 
performance Report to include key HR and quality metrics, again designed to provide an indication of any adverse variance 
which might indicate a problem with the quality of care.
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3. Key Quality Issues 

The Trust focussed on three key quality issues in 2011/12.  These were as follows:-

Mortality

The Trust’s Hospital standardised Mortality Ratio (HsMR) to February 2012 is 101.2.  This will increase subject to the 
“rebasing” applied by dr Foster at the end of each financial year, but is expected to be between 103 and 107 for 2011/12.  
on this basis, the Trust will not be a statistical outlier for HsMR.  The summary Hospital – level Mortality indicator is higher 
than expected at 119 for the period october 2010 to september 2011 (the most recent data available).    There is no way of 
assessing mortality which is better than another – the important thing is to undertake a review when a given method gives 
rise to a figure that is higher than expected.

The Trust has taken a number of actions to address the mortality rate internally, but a recent case note audit revealed that 
mortality was high in an elderly group of patients with predominantly respiratory conditions. A significant proportion had a 
high probability of dying on admission, irrespective of the clinical management they received, and many admissions could 
have been avoided by different care provisions in the community.   

The Clinical Commissioning Group and pCT have recognised that mortality in the Tameside and Glossop area is mutli 
– factorial and influenced by a range of health inequalities.  during 2011/12, they worked closely with the Trust in the 
development of a mortality strategy for the health and social care economy.   This identifies a number of areas for joint 
improvement, centred around the following areas:-

• Emergency admissions
• End of Life Care
• Intestinal infections / C. Diff
• Acute Myocardial Infarction and cardiovascular disease
• Alcohol
• Dementia
• Pneumonia

The Clinical Commissioning Group has identified Gp input to participate in the next phase of the mortality case note reviews 
along with A&e Consultants.  The Gps are working with the Trust to examine in more detail the process of care for patients 
who died within 24 - 48 hours of admission, those who died in A&e, and those for whom the mortality audit demonstrated 
that admission could have been avoided.  This valuable collaboration will provide real indications of what changes need to 
occur outside the hospital to impact on the HsMR and sHMi for the Tameside and Glossop population.

Infection Prevention and Control

As this was one the metrics selected for inclusion in the Quality Report, further detail is given below.

CQC Compliance

Much effort has been expended to secure compliance with the CQC’s outcomes following a CQC visit to the Trust on 20 
october 2011.   The Trust was assessed against six outcomes, resulting in the following concerns:-

4. Care and welfare of people who use services (minor) 
5. Meeting nutritional needs (minor)
9.  Management of medicines (minor)
13. staffing (minor)
16.  Assessing & monitoring quality of service provision (moderate)
21. Records (minor)
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A warning letter was issued by the CQC in december 2011, in view of the fact that the Trust had not fully resolved issues raised at previous 
visits.  An extensive action plan has been produced and staff at all levels and in all areas of the Trust are involved in its implementation.  
At the time of writing, the Trust had received a draft report following a further visit by the CQC on April 2012.  At this visit, the number of 
concerns were reduced to three, all minor, as follows:-

9.  Management of medicines (minor)
16.  Assessing & monitoring quality of service provision (minor)
21. Records (minor)

The CQC reported that all the people to whom they spoke were happy with the care they were receiving.

To the best of my knowledge, the information contained in this document is accurate.

Christine Green, 
Chief executive

Part 2. Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance from the Board

1. PRIORITIES FOR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT,  2011/12

There were 5 such priorities.  These are listed below, along with an update on performance:-

i. To maintain or improve on the Trust’s performance in relation to MRsA bacteraemia;

There were five cases in the year. The Trust target was 3 cases or less.  The Trust achieved 3 cases in 2010/11. in the previous 
year there had been 12 cases.  This was a very disappointing out turn, given the extensive work that has seen marked reductions 
in MRsA over a number of years and the fact that the Trust seemed set to meet its annual target.  Cases had occurred in July 
and November, followed by one case each in January, February and March. The Trust will be redoubling its efforts during 
2012/13 to ensure that the excellent performance made in previous years is restored.

ii. To achieve or better the C diff target for the year, creating the conditions for further reductions in subsequent years;

 This has remained one of the most significant challenges for the Trust. during the year there were 82 cases against a target of  
 60.  However, there had been 114 cases in the previous year (2010/11), and 132 cases in 2009/10.   The reduction achieved  
 in 2011/12 represents a 28% decrease.  The total number of cases decreased each quarter during 2011/12, and has shown  
 a marked reduction in 2012/13, with only 2 cases in the first 7 weeks, as compared with 15 cases at the same point last year.

iii. To comply with the requirement to monitor MssA and e Coli bacteraemia, and to meet any agreed trajectory proposed in year;

The Trust was fully compliant with the monitoring requirements, throughout the year, submitting all data at the time and in the 
format requested. There were 10 MssA cases, and 32 e-Coli cases.  However, no formal trajectory was set.  part of the purpose 
of monitoring was to establish a baseline for against which to set a target for 2012/13. Additionally, in the case of e-Coli, data 
were collected by all Trusts to help to establish the epidemiological characteristics of the condition.

iv. To maintain the HsMR at or below 100 (dr Foster methodology), or to achieve an sHMi ratio which is not statistically significant 
during the year, (assuming the method is implemented). (sHMi stands for “summary Hospital-level Mortality indicator”). 

As noted above, the Trust’s Hospital standardised Mortality Ratio (HsMR) to February 2012 is 101.2.  This will increase subject 
to the “rebasing” applied by dr Foster at the end of each financial year, but is expected to be between 103 and 107 for 2011/12.  
on this basis, the Trust will not be a statistical outlier for HsMR.  However, it is essential that the Trust continues the extensive 
and exhaustive drive to address all elements of mortality, and this work will continue in 2012/13 and beyond.  The “Mortality” 
section above provides further details on the approach the Trust is taking.
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v. To implement an improved patient safety strategy.

The Medical and Nursing directors met with the Medical lead for patient safety to agree the principles underlying 
a new strategy. A revised set of metrics was developed and approved by the Board.

2. PRIORITIES FOR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT,  2012/13

Three priorities have been identified.  These were proposed by the director of Nursing on the basis that they are the 
priorities are most closely associated with the Trust’s key quality challenges – Healthcare Associated infections, Mortality, 
and compliance with CQC and liNk standards.  Meeting these priorities would represent a significant improvement in 
quality, and would provide assurance to the public.  The Board has discussed and approved these priorities on this basis.  
The Trust has also consulted on these priorities with the Council of Governors at its formal meeting on 15 May, and will also 
make them the focus of discussion at the public Governors’ meetings, held twice each year in each of the townships making 
up the public constituency, providing an opportunity for the wider public to influence their content.  

1. Health Care Associated infections

The Trust will take every practical step to ensure that it meets the MRsA target (1 case per year) and the C diff 
target (60 cases per year), and to create the long term conditions required to minimise the number of all avoidable 
infections.

2. Mortality

The Trust will seek to reduce its HsMR (dr Foster) to a level which is not statistically significant.  

The Trust will achieve all relevant milestones associated with the Mortality strategy, in collaboration with its pCT/
CCG partners.

3. Compliance with standards

The Trust will implement the actions required to –

Address and eliminate the remaining three minor concerns held by the CQC. 

permanently address the issues raised by Tameside liNk’s most recent enter and View Report

The Trust will produce a quarterly report to the Board identifying progress against these priorities. The Council of 
Governors will also have an opportunity to discuss progress at its quarterly meetings.
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PROPOSED INDICATORS FOR INCLUSION IN 2012/13

The department of Health and Monitor have jointly written to provide advance notice of likely changes to Quality Report 

reporting requirements for the 2012/13 round of Quality Reports, following consideration by the National Quality Board 

about strengthening Quality Reports by introducing mandatory reporting against a small, core set of quality indicators.  it is 

proposed that the Trust assumes that these indicators will be included. Those which will apply to acute Trusts are as follows:-

1. Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator:

sHMi value and banding

percentage of admitted patients whose treatment included palliative care; and

percentage of admitted patients whose deaths were included in the sHMi and whose treatment included palliative care 
(context indicator)

2. Patient Reported Outcomes

patient reported outcome scores for:-

i. groin hernia surgery, 
ii. varicose vein surgery, 
iii hip replacement surgery, and 
iv knee replacement surgery

3. Emergency Readmissions

emergency readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge

4. Responsiveness to Inpatients’ Personal Needs

Based on questions from the national inpatient survey.

5. Staff recommendation

percentage of staff who would recommend the provider to friends or family needing care

6. Venous Thromboembolism

percentage of admitted patients risk-assessed for Venous Thromboembolism

7. C Difficile

Rate of C difficile

8. Patient Safety Incidents

Rate of patient safety incidents and percentage resulting in severe harm or death.
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The Trust will use all relevant data sources to inform quality improvement in the hospital.  during 2011/12, national in 
patient, out patient and staff surveys were conducted and the results of these have been received and analysed by the 
Trust.  The surveys provide a number of indications for further improvement of the Trust’s services, primarily in the area of 
communication with patients and relatives.

The survey results are compared with the national picture, since all Trusts are obliged to participate in the surveys. in the 
case of the in - patient survey, the Trust scored worse than other Trusts on 26 questions, the same as other Trusts on  37 
questions and better than other Trusts on 1 question, whilst in the out - patient survey, the Trust scores worse than other 
Trusts on 5 questions, and the same as other Trusts on 34 questions.  The key areas for development arising from the two 
surveys centre around information and  communication, waiting for admission or treatment, privacy and dignity, how staff 
work together, and aspects of the Trust’s “hotel” services.

each area of the hospital will be required to develop and agree a specific action plan, based on key themes identified by the 
Board, and which clearly identifies the local responsibility and accountability they hold for making the requisite improvements.  
in line with well-established practice within the Trust, the Board and the organisation will be provided with periodic updates 
on progress.

section 3.14 of the Annual Report contains further information about the staff survey, and indicates how the Trust performed 
overall, as well as indicating the highest and lowest ranking scores and the areas in which the reported experience of staff 
has improved or deteriorated.

patient experience feedback is another important resource to the Trust for driving quality improvements.  The Trust receives 
valuable user feedback from a number of structures, including the quarterly Council of Governors’ meetings, the 18 public 
meetings which the Trust holds each year in each of the townships making up the Trust’s public constituency, and key patient 
involvement forums including the user Reference Group, the disability equality Working party and the improving the patient 
environment Group.  in its annual Hospital Report, (November 2011),  the Trust was one of dr Foster’s top 10 performers 
in respect of responding to web based feedback from service users.  during the year, the director of Nursing spoke to the 
“patient opinion” national conference, as the Trust is regarded by that organisation as an exemplar Trust.  The Trust provides 
an individual response to every posting made on the patient opinion and patient Choices website.  

Complaints and positive comments are also an important source of feedback.  The Board receives a “patient experience 
Report” twice each year.  The quarterly risk management report, which is presented to the Board and distributed widely 
across the organisation also contains details of complaints numbers and trends.  during 2011/12, the Trust’s internal auditors 
conducted a review of the Trust’s arrangements for managing complaints.  Although this initially identified a number of areas 
for improvement, the majority were relatively straightforward, and the Trust was judged 85% compliant at a re audit some 
months later.  The residual action for the Trust relates to the need for those preparing complaint responses to either complete 
an action plan, or positively record that a plan is not needed, in every case.  This is being actively pursued during 2012/13, 
and will result in a better service to the complainant, as well as improved structures within the Trust. 

in 2011/12, the Trust received 363 complaints, as compared to 373 in 2010/11.  The five most frequent categories for 
complaint were as follows:-

• All aspects of clinical treatment (217 complaints)
• Staff attitude (48 complaints)
• Communication with patients (34 complaints)
• Appointments (delays, cancellations etc.) (13 complaints)
• Admission, discharge and transfer arrangements (10 complaints)

during 2011/12, the Trust experienced on - going challenges in respect of bed availability.  This can lead to the ad hoc 
provision of additional capacity, which in turn can impact on the quality and continuity of patient care.  Two key demands 
related to the rising numbers of patients presenting for emergency admission, and the Trust’s inability to place patients who 
are “medically fit for discharge” and no longer have an acute medical need.  These issues have been recognised as whole 
health economy concerns, and during the year, the Trust was supported by its Commissioner in establishing a number of 
facilities to help to deal with levels of demand on the Trust’s beds.  These included the establishment of a short stay ward and 
an intermediate Care discharge ward.  The Trust has secured from the Commissioner additional funding for the permanent 
establishment of a number of beds during 2012/13, as follows:-

• 13 Acute Assessment Unit bed
• 12 Short Stay Unit Beds

in addition, 1 year’s non recurrent transitional funding has been provided for the following facilities:-

• 23 Transitional Discharge Ward Beds
• 8 acute stroke beds
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The Trust will be working with its health and social care partners during 2012/13 and beyond to develop alternatives to hospital 
admission as well initiatives to enable the timely discharge of patients, where appropriate which will gave a consequent effect 
on bed availability.

STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD

during 2011/12, Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust provided 42 contracted NHs services.  Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in all of these NHs services. 

The income generated by the NHs services reviewed in 2011/12 represents 100 per cent of the total income generated from 
the provision of NHs services by Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for 2011/12.

INFORMATION ON PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL AUDITS AND NATIONAL 
CONFIDENTIAL ENQUIRIES

participation in national clinical audits 

o during 2011/12, 39 national clinical audits and 3 national confidential enquiries covered NHs services that Tameside 
Hospital NHs Foundation Trust provides.  

o during 2011/12 Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust participated in 95% national clinical audits and 100% national 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.  

o The national clinical audits that Tameside Hospital was eligible to participate in during 2011/12 are listed in Table 1 
below.  The national confidential enquiries in which the Trust was eligible to participate were 

Bariatric surgery
Cardiac Arrest procedures
surgery in Children

o The national clinical audits that Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust participated in during 2011/12 are listed in 
Table 1 below. The  national confidential enquiries that Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust participated in during 
2011/12 are 

Bariatric surgery
Cardiac Arrest procedures
surgery in Children

o The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust participated 
in, and for which data collection was completed during 2011/12, are listed below (see table for clinical audit) alongside 
the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required 
by the terms of that audit or enquiry. 

National Confidential enquiry
Bariatric surgery – no eligible cases.  organisational questionnaire returned
Cardiac Arrest procedures – 4 eligible cases, organisational questionnaire returned
surgery in Children – no eligible cases, organisational questionnaire returned
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1. Table 1 shows 

a. the national clinical audits that THFT participated in for which data collection took place during 2011/12
b. the number of cases submitted to each audit as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms 

of that audit
c. the national clinical audits that THFT did not participate in, either because the service is not provided by the Trust, or for 

other reasons

Table 1 Participation in eligible audits, with % submissions, 2011/12

Audit Title
2011/12 Trust 
Participation 

Number 
submitted

% submitted Comments

Peri - and neo-natal

perinatal Mortality 
(MBRRACe-uK) 

Y 10 100%

All stillbirths and early neonatal 
deaths have to be submitted.  
The 10 submitted represent 
0.348% of all births at the 
hospital in the year (2862)

Neonatal intensive & special 
Care (NNAp) National Neonatal 
Audit programme

Y 294 100%

Children

paediatric pneumonia 
(British Thoracic society)

Y 26 100%

paediatric Asthma 
(British Thoracic society)

Y 16 100%

pain management (College of 
emergency Medicine)

Y

Childhood epilepsy – epilepsy 
12 Audit

Y 22 73%

diabetes (RCpH National 
paediatric diabetes Audit)

Y 72 100%

paediatric intensive Care 
(piCANet)

N
Trust does not provide this 
service

paediatric Cardiac surgery 
(NiCoR Congenital Heart 
disease Audit)

N
Trust does not provide this 
service
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Audit Title
2011/12 Trust 
Participation 

Number 
submitted

comments

Acute Care

emergency use of oxygen 
(British Thoracic society)

Y 14

Adult Community Acquired 
pneumonia (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 35

Non invasive Ventilation (NiV) – 
Adults (British Thoracic society)

Y 25

pleural procedures (British 
Thoracic society)

Y 15

Cardiac Arrest (National Cardiac 
Arrest Audit)

N N/A Trust provides this 
service, but has not 
yet participated in 
national audit.  local 
audits are undertaken.  
participation agreed for 
2012/13

severe sepsis and septic shock 
(Adults only)

Y 49

Adult Critical care (Case Mix 
programme)

Y 308

potential donor Audit (NHs Blood 
& Transplant)

Y ed 192
iTu 57

seizure Management (National 
Audit of seizure Management)

N outpatient service 
provided by salford 
Trust.
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Long term conditions

National diabetes Audit (NdA) Y 128 10% sample submitted 
due to clinical resource 
issues

Heavy Menstrual Bleeding Y 79

This was a patient 
experience survey, 
which will be followed 
up in 2012/13 and 
again in 2013/14.  The 
expected numbers were 
37 per month for a year 
from 1 Feb 2011, i.e. 
444 in total.  it should 
be noted that most 
Trusts had recruitment 
problems, since it was a 
matter of patient choice 
whether to participate 
or not.

Chronic pain Y 112

inflammatory Bowel disease – 
ulcerative Colitis & Crohn’s disease 
(National iBd Audit)

Y
20 Crohns

8 ulc Colitis

Adult Asthma (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 23

Bronchiectasis (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 28

parkinson’s disease (National 
parkinson’s Audit)

N
No specialist service 
provided in the Trust
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Elective Procedures

Hip, Knee and Ankle 
Replacements (National Joint 
Registry)

Y 257 100%

elective surgery (National pRoMs 
programme)

Y 587 80%

peripheral Vascular surgery (VsGBi 
Vascular surgery database)

Y 15 87% AAA only included

Carotid interventions (Carotid 
intervention Audit)

Y 32 68%

Cardiothoracic Transplantation 
(NHsBT uK Transplant Registry)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

liver Transplantation (NHsBT uK 
Transplant Registry)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

Coronary Angioplasty (NiCoR 
Adult Cardiac interventions Audit)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

CABG and Valvular surgery (Adult 
cardiac surgery Audit)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

Cardiovascular Disease

Acute Myocardial infarction & 
other ACs (MiNAp)

Y 441

Heart Failure (National Heart Failure 
database)

Y 252

AQ cohort numbers 
utilised for this audit, 
minimum required is 20 
per month

Acute stroke (siNAp) Y 588

Cardiac arrhythmia (cardiac rhythm 
management audit)

122

Renal disease

Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal 
Registry)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

Renal Transplantation (NHsBT uK 
Transplant Registry)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

Cancer

lung Cancer (National lung 
Cancer Audit)

Y 149

Bowel Cancer (National Bowel 
Cancer Audit programme)

Y 120

Head & Neck Cancer (dAHNo) Y 36

oesophago-gastric cancer Y 23

Trauma

Hip Fracture (National Hip Fracture 
database)

Y 257

Audit Title
2011/12 Trust 
participation 

Number 
submitted

comments

severe Trauma (Trauma Audit & 
Research Network

Y 226
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Psychological conditions

prescribing in Mental Health 
services (poMH)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

National Audit of schizophrenia 
(NAs)

N
Trust does not provide 
this service

Blood Transfusion

2011 Bedside Transfusion Re-
Audit (Blood Transfusion as part of 
the National Comparative Audit)

Y 42

Medical use of Blood N N/A
unable to participate 
due to lack of medical 
staff resources

Health Promotion

Risk Factors (National Health 
promotion in Hospitals Audit)

Y 90

end of life

Care of dying in hospital (NCdAH) Y 30
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II Review of National Clinical Audit Reports

1. The reports of 34 national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2011/12 and THFT has taken or intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided – Table 2

2. These are reports published in 2011/12 that may relate to data collected in 2011/12 but may also relate to an earlier collection 
of data, i.e. the audit and report of the audit fall in different financial years.

Table 2 National Audit Reports Reviewed in 2011/12

Audit Title
actions undertaken or planned to improve the quality 

of health care, arising out of the audit results

Peri- and neo-natal

perinatal Mortality (MBRRACe-uK) 

1. pre-conception care: Guidelines to be reviewed for Management 
of diabetes Mellitus during pregnancy and the postnatal period 
(completed), Management of pregnancy in Women with epilepsy, 
Management of Cardiac disease in pregnancy , Management of 
Women with current of previous Mental illness during Antenatal 
and postnatal period(completed), the Management of the obese 
pregnant Woman (completed)

2. Antenatal Booking process in Maternity (completed) aiming to 
addressing all issues raised in report re access to care, e.g. timing 
of booking visit, migrant women

3. Review of Guidelines for Management of pre-eclampsia, severe 
pre-eclampsia (and eclampsia (completed)

4. Review of Guidelines for the Management of the Woman 
undergoing Caesarean section (completed)

5. lessons for learning, particularly re clinical skills, are included in 
monthly risk management reports to dMT and  Clinical Governance 
Group and circulated to all midwives on monthly basis

6. Routine use of a national obstetric early warning chart, similar to 
those in use in other areas of clinical practice, which can be used 
for all obstetric women is to be introduced.  

7. Work is being undertaken to embed the guideline for referral and 
review of pregnant women attending A&e and other services 
outside maternity.
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Neonatal intensive & special Care (NNAp) 
National Neonatal Audit programme

All actions completed (except 7 and 9)

1. Review the individual notes of babies born at 28 weeks or less 
who did not have their temperature taken within their first hour of 
life.

2. devise a transfer form to include temperature and observations,  
and communication with parents, for babies transferred from 
Central delivery suite to the NiCu.

3. disseminate Report on NNAp data to Maternity services.

4. Contribute to Regional Retinopathy of prematurity (Rop) audit to 
ensure continued high standards.

5. Approach pennine Acute NHs Trust to discuss on-going Rop 
provision

6. Check that information regarding feeding at discharge is being 
entered correctly on the “Badger”patient information system.

7. establish contact with a local unit that has performed well in breast 
feeding at discharge.

8. update the nursing admission sheet to include a reminder to offer 
all parents an appointment with a senior paediatrician within 24 
hours of admission

9. Continue to contribute data to NNAp and ensure funding in place 
for dedicated staff member and Badger.net subscription.

Children

paediatric pneumonia 
(British Thoracic society)

1. dissemination of BTs community acquired pneumonia  guidelines 
– postgraduate teaching twice a year 

2. develop Care pathway  for management of community acquired 
pneumonia in children, following the new BTs “community 
acquired pneumonia” guidelines   

paediatric Asthma 
(British Thoracic society)

Report reviewed, but low numbers make it difficult to recommend 
improvements in the quality of health care.  No actions necessary.

piCANet (paediatric intensive Care)

The piCAnet National Audit is an audit of paediatric intensive Care 
units, which are based at tertiary hospitals, including Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital. The report has been circulated to the relevant 
staff in the paediatric department, but an action plan is not required.  
However, the report highlights that the mortality rate for ventilated 
children with asthma admitted to piCus in england and Wales is 
higher than expected based on international data, and recommends 
a prospective national audit of children admitted to piCu with status 
asthmaticus.  

The paediatric  department has already planned to develop a guideline 
for the management of status  asthmaticus,  which will be submitted to 
the piCu transfer team for comments before being agreed.
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Acute Care

emergency use of oxygen 
(British Thoracic society)

Actions taken on 2010 audit published in 2011

1. Creation of protocol and clear parameters for oxygen administration, 
which is now clearly indicated on Trust prescription sheets.   

2. The majority of nursing staff have now completed the oxygen 
patient Group direction (pGd) competency framework, ensuring 
that a qualified methodological approach is undertaken to the 
administration and titration of oxygen therapy

3. A period of re-education and formal assessment with regard to 
oxygen devices has been undertaken, with evidence of positive 
outcomes. 

planned/ongoing

1. oxygen therapy prescription continues to be monitored inter- 
divisionally by the ward managers

2. Close monitoring of oxygen devices and of actioning change in 
accordance with the saturation target range on the prescription 
sheet.  Nursing staff are fully apprised of the necessity to sign for 
interventional device changes.

3. Adapt local data collection tool to reflect required frequency of 
drug checked based on pARs score

4. liaise with the facilitator of the mandatory Acute illness 
Management (AiM) study day to highlight these aspects during the 
pARs, A-e lecture and respiratory workshop. 

5. liaise with pharmacy and discuss options of relocating the oxygen 
prescription chart from page 10 of the drug kardex to front

Adult Community Acquired pneumonia 
(British Thoracic society)

Actions taken on 2010 audit published in May 2011

1. The Trust has remodelled radiology services in order to secure 
improvements in x-ray waiting times, interpretation and formal 
reporting.  Targets attainment  is monitored by the Trust Board

planned or on-going

1. The consultants will be apprised of the Trust’s expectations in 
respect of documentation practice (consultant review time)

2. Consultants will re-circulate the BTs CAp guidelines in respect to 
legionella and pneumococcal antigens

3. Consistencies in compliance to these guidelines will continue to 
be managed
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Non invasive Ventilation (NiV) – Adults 
(British Thoracic society)

Actions taken on 2011 audit published in october 2011

1. NiV (Non invasive Ventilation) care bundle to prompt key areas of 
care to be implemented

2. All patients who received NiV during hospital admission to be given 
appointment with a respiratory consultant 6 weeks post discharge

3. To further improve follow up compliance and availability of 
appointment slots, the Consultant physiotherapist who leads and 
manages the NiV service will undertake these clinics

4. only patients who have been treated with NiV for a respiratory 
exacerbation will be followed up at this clinic. patients who have 
received NiV to support cardiac dysfunction will be followed up as 
appropriate under the Cardiology Consultants

5. patients requiring Macmillan services at follow - up will be 
identified and appropriate onward referrals will be made. links with 
Willow Wood Hospice and the long Term Conditions team will be 
explored and developed to ensure the Trust  plans appropriately 
for both crisis admissions and the last year of life. 

Vital signs in majors 
(College of emergency Medicine)

1. All ‘base’ patients must have full set of observations at triage or 
when taken to cubicle if arrival by ambulance

Adult Critical care (Case Mix programme)

• Evaluate accuracy of ICNARC audit forms for the ITU patients.

• Consider whether medical staff should review all audit forms prior 
       to data entry by the data input clerk.

• Obtain all patient numbers coded in this diagnostic group. Re       
       view post-iCu deaths in this patient group.

• If concerns highlighted then escalate to CAPSEC (patient safety 
       and mortality meeting) to correlate with dr Foster data.

• Communicate data to Trust Transfer Lead.

• Continue regular analysis of transfers is. Current audit underway 
       (results to be presented to iTu CG group and to Anaesthetic 
       department).

• Current evaluation about reducing ICU Length of Stay (LoS)

      • Impact of single sex accommodation rules.
      • Increased use of medical HDU for “step-down”.

• Improving clinical practice (e.g. early tracheostomy, sedation      
       hold, weaning protocols).
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potential donor Audit (NHs Blood & 
Transplant)

1. Continue to work on strategies within the hospital to improve 
awareness of organ donation issues, via teaching and electronic 
media.

2. increase donation rate from diagnosis of cardiac death patients by 
increasing the referral rate from iTu.

3. improve care of the potential organ donor by revising the clinical 
guidelines in line with national guidance.

4. Continue high calibre data collection in areas of potential organ 
donation

5. increase awareness and approach rate for tissue donation.

Long term conditions

Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (HMB)

The audit consists of two principal components:

• An organisational audit of acute NHs trusts in england and     
       Wales to describe the organisation of hospital gynaecological    
       services, current referral patterns and local protocols with 
       reference to the management of HMB.

• A prospective audit of patient-reported outcomes of women     
       who attend outpatient gynaecology clinics with HMB symptoms   
       for the first time between 1 February 2011 and 31 January 2012. 
       These women will be followed up after 1 year to collect 
       information on the treatments received since their outpatient visit    
       and on patient reported outcomes.

TGH was amongst the 38.4% of responding hospitals that reported that 
they had a dedicated menstrual bleeding clinic.  Along with the majority 
of hospitals Tameside Hospital reported the availability of ultrasound 
(80.0%), hysteroscopy (87.3%) and endometrial biopsy (97.7%) as 
well as a wide variety of surgical procedures and appropriate levels of 
investigations at the initial consultation.

The Trust is one of the 76.0% of hospitals providing an HMB-specific 
information leaflet for women, and one of the 29.9% of hospitals with a 
local, written protocol regarding the care and management of women 
with HMB, which has been in operation since February 2010

The gynaecology department is thus intending to use the patient 
reported outcomes in the second part of the study to set up its own 
audit of our HMB clinic, to improve its service.  This report has not yet 
been published.

Chronic pain

As a result of the organisational audit’s recommendations, published in 
November 2011, the Trust is planning to:

1. implement shorter waiting times, ideally for patients to book 
slot at time of referral from Gp

2. establish a formal “back school” and pain Management 
programme

3. appoint a psychologist for help with pain Management 
programme

4. review and extend our treatments on offer
5. eventually develop a Functional restoration programme

inflammatory Bowel disease – ulcerative 
Colitis & Crohn’s disease (National iBd 
Audit) Children

Children with inflammatory Bowel disease are managed at tertiary 
centres and are rarely managed at Tameside Hospital. The report has,  
however been circulated to paediatric consultants for their information
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Adult Asthma (British Thoracic society)

Following the results of the 2010 audit published in June 2011, the 
following actions have been implemented

planned/on-going actions are as follows:-

1. protocol and best practice will be revisited by all clinical areas 
caring for asthmatic patients.

2. local education and specialist nurse support to assist in securing 
positive improvements in compliance

3. discharge Checklist to be initiated, in order to ensure signposting 
and advice is documented

4. improvements to be secured in the process of peF % recording

5. National and local guidelines re oxygen saturation at admission 
and clinical prescribing parameters will be revisited 

6. saturation parameters and expected clinical interventions will be 
a key requirement when documenting in case notes (indicating 
proposed clinical plan)

7. NiCe recommendations should be reflected through administration 
practices demonstrated by all clinical grades.

8. The prescribing practice regarding steroid use will continue to be 
closely monitored

9. pre discharge assessment to incorporate inhaler technique for 
respiratory patients, and this assessment to be  documented in 
the nursing and / or clinical records

10. Review opportunities for assessment by Gp following discharge 
vs. return to out patient clinics 

parkinson’s disease 
(National parkinson’s Audit)

The Trust did not participate in the collection of data for the audit, but 
has reviewed the report, which has been circulated to consultants in 
Adult Medicine for information. No action plan has been developed, as 
the Trust has no specialist service in this area.

Elective Procedures

Hip, Knee and Ankle Replacements 
(National Joint Registry)

The NJR is the largest database of its kind and includes 1.1 million 
records covering hip, knee and ankle joint procedures in england and 
Wales, carried out since 2003 (1 April 2010 for ankles).  

The database is used for recalling defective products, but also provides 
analysis of age, sex, co-morbidities, readmission rates etc.  There were 
no recommendations made in the report, and therefore no actions 
arising.
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elective surgery 
(National pRoMs programme)

Report date:  August 2011 re data submitted April 2009 to 
March 2010

1. develop and implement revised pRoMs data collection tool
2. Monitor departmental returns against elective activity – identifying 

missed opportunities to be raised with the individual departments
3. encourage clinician involvement and review of report detail for 

pRoMs CQuiN to improve compliance 

Cardiovascular Disease

Acute Myocardial infarction & other ACs 
(MiNAp)

Actions taken:-

1. development of the ambulatory care model for chest pain between 
Cardiology and A&e

2. updated protocols re treatment of NsTeMi with fondaparinux etc 
(in keeping with NiCe)
 

3. An educational update to the medical staff at the emergency 
Medicine educational meeting in oct 2010 with regards to NiCe 
guidance on NsTeMi and unstable angina (which underpins the 
issue on MiNAp and medication).

Heart Failure 
(National Heart Failure database)

Actions taken arising from publication in Jan 2012 of the 2010/11 audit 
period

1. The findings of the audit show that patients who receive specialist 
cardiac care have lower mortality. The stretching Advancing Quality 
(AQ) targets, alongside the NiCe guidance on heart failure will lead 
to the development of streamlined systems allowing appropriate 
specialist input and management (this is an on-going process)

2. The introduction of the Care Bundle for heart failure in september 
2011 is a significant first step in the process of ensuring the most 
acutely ill patients receive optimum evidence based care. 

3. A monthly MdT is held between Tamesdie Hospital and the 
Community Heart Failure Team (chaired by a Consultant 
Cardiologist) to manage complex patients and reduce 
hospitalisation (as well as allowing handover of in-patients to the 
community team as appropriate).

4. A vacancy in the cardiac physiology team for echocardiography 
has been filled with the aim of reducing the waiting time for 
echocardiography (both for in-patients and out-patients) which is 
a key investigation for the diagnosis and management of heart 
failure patients.

planned/on-going

1. The AQ team, along with the Hospital and Community heart failure 
teams will continue to improve processes for the management of 
these patients.
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Acute stroke (siNAp)

Actions taken arising from publication in May 2011 of latest patient level 
audit in 2010

1. Bid for 6-8 Acute stroke beds on Ward 5, Hartshead North Building, 
to facilitate direct admission, submitted to pCT  was funded

2. stroke Response Team and Csu staff now refer patients 
immediately to speech & language Therapy upon admission.

3. suspected stroke patients referred for specialist swallow 
assessment after 1 failed swallow screen.

4. Flow chart for nutritional needs of stroke patients with time frames 
included in Trust Nutritional policy. Flow chart then to be laminated 
and used on Csu Ward Rounds.

5. All documentation and training in place regarding the standard 
relating to aspirin within 48 hours incident forms for non-
compliance now completed.

6. stroke Response Team continually raise awareness of standard re 
urinary continence.

sentinel clinical audit now defunct – siNAp (1st 72 hours of care) has 
taken its place. siNAp will be superseded by ssNAp (whole episode of 
hospital care) in August 2012.

Actions arising from oct-dec 11 siNAp audit

1. system established to inform consultants of any new patients on 
Asu that have not been seen by stroke consultant in 24 hours

2. Report to be sent to national audit organiser of difficulties regarding 
onset time between Hyperacute centres and district stroke 
Centres. 

3. Raise issue with A&e of the importance where possible to obtain 
an onset time. 

4. discussion of prognosis with relatives or carer to be added to the 
pathway

5. emphasise to staff the need for the Continence plan to be done 
in the first 72 hours for all patients who are incontinent and put in 
the notes 

6. discussion required re speech and language Therapy (sAlT) staff 
attending ward rounds on Asu
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Cancer

lung Cancer 
(National lung Cancer Audit)

Actions taken on 2010 audit published in 2011

1. Monthly data quality meetings organised to ensure all fields 
completed.  previous months’ cases will be discussed and any 
missing data inserted.

2. New system established so that if casenotes are not available at 
MdT meetings,  the outcome will be recorded on history sheet and 
filed in notes later, to evidence that case was discussed

3. New system introduced whereby CT scans  are carried out prior 
to first outpatient appointment, to ensure increased proportion of 
patients receiving CT prior to bronchoscopy

4. introduction of a second specialist nurse will ensure sufficient time 
for data entry.  data collection of nursing items will also improve 
with introduction of data quality meetings.

Bowel Cancer 
(National Bowel Cancer 
Audit programme)

• Data quality and completeness to be fully validated by Colorectal 
       data team prior to submission to NBoCAp.
• Consultant Surgeon Mr. Solkar has agreed to over look the data   
       submission every month.
• Post operative complication register to compile the information.
• Mortality review every 3 months

Head & Neck Cancer 
(dAHNo)

Much of the audit does not apply to this Trust as Tameside Hospital  is 
a diagnostic centre and all treatments are carried out at the designated 
tertiary centres in the Greater Manchester and Cheshire network.  

it should be noted that this Trust is one of only 16 nationwide that  
have achieved over 70% cases allocated a Head & neck Clinical Nurse 
specialist (CNs)at the start of their cancer journey and one of only 14 
that have recorded CNs present at breaking of bad news as over 70%.

1. All doctors made aware of need to include performance status in 
referral letters to tertiary centres. 

2. laminated charts of WHo performance status placed in all clinic 
rooms. 

oesophago-gastric cancer
patients undergoing surgery are now treated at MRi, but Tameside 
Hospital will continue to participate in this audit in its capacity as a 
diagnosing trust and provider of palliative treatment.  

Trauma

Hip Fracture 
(National Hip Fracture database)

in addition to the annual report from the database, regular reports 
are submitted on progress in meeting the standards for treatment 
and actions necessary.  The latest report gives the following actions 
planned:-

1. Gain approval to the business case for the additional consultant

2. if the business case is successful an evening trauma list will be 
removed and replaced by a daytime trauma list which will be 
consultant led and will help in ensuring patients get to theatre 
within 36 hours of admission.

3. The Fractured Neck of Femur integrated Care pathway (iCp) 
remains under review 

4. The Fractured Neck of Femur Working Group is now working 
towards utilising some of the enhanced recovery principles in 
patients with fracture of the hip region
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severe Trauma 
(Trauma Audit & Research Network)

Actions taken

1. education of medical staff with regards to documentation 
standards in accordance with Trust policy, and inclusion in new 
doctor induction programme, specifically around grade and 
specialty of doctor in this context

2. Further audit of patients with iss>15 who should be seen by 
consultant

3. Consultant and Junior doctors informed of requirement.

4. Revised consultant rota

5. Major trauma guidance documentation developed and 
implemented in Trauma Area of the emergency department

6. Business development plan submitted for 2nd CT scanner, to 
improve compliance to standard

7. Root Cause Analysis and  Clinician Audit of  CT times >1 Hour 
undertaken in december 2011

On-going

1. Action plan reviewed at monthly TARN meeting between TARN 
data Team and TARN Clinical lead. 

2. outcomes discussed at Contract performance and Quality Group, 
prior to report to Trust executive Group (TeG). 

3. A revised MdT Trauma Team has been formed to review TARN 
exceptions. (January 2012).  This group will replace the existing 
Trauma Group and provide reports to the Trust Trauma Committee 
then in turn to CApseC.

National Falls & Bone Health audit

1. Training in falls iCp required for A&e staff

2. Audit of compliance with Trust standard for routine screening   
for risk of future falls

3. establish Fracture liaison service

4. Trust & pCT statement of current position re occupational 
therapist routine assessment for potential hazards within the 
patient’s home

5. Trust & pCT statement of current position re introduction of 
evidence based therapeutic exercise programmes

6. service level agreement for falls work in respect of the  
designated consultant (s) in geriatric medicine

7. Agreement of funding for falls coordinator 

8. Trust decision on the purchase or lease of low profile beds

9. establish separate syncope service or link same  to falls service 
for patients who present with transient loss of consciousness
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Blood Transfusion

2011 Bedside Transfusion Re-Audit 
(Blood Transfusion as part of the National 
Comparative Audit)

1. enforce documentation of minimum transfusion dataset and 
review post transfusion to ensure success of episode or further 
treatment, through education and monitoring

2. improve patient identification on iV charts - Barcoded iV Charts 
have been implemented as part of new  BloodTrack system

3. discuss and resolve with iTu documentation of 15 minute 
observations in continuously monitored patients

4. Review transfusion specific documentation in notes

5. on – going training and education across the trust to maintain 
standards of care

6. Amendment to request form to improve pre-transfusion data and 
process.

National audit of o negative blood use 

1. Continue to review regularly use of oRhd negative red cells for 
emergencies and investigate incidents where its use is considered 
inappropriate.

2. Continue to review regularly any cases where patients are 
unnecessarily transfused with o Rhd negative red cells

3. Continue to provide group specific red cells rapidly to avoid 
unnecessary use of emergency group o Rhd negative red cells  - 
Always given where possible by Transfusion lab

4. Continue to provide Group o Rhd positive recipients 

5. phenotypically matched group specific blood - Always given where 
possible by Transfusion lab

6. Continue to keep stock of  Rhd negative red cells to the 
recommended level of below 10.5% in order to avoid non-o Rhd 
negative patients and wastage due to time expiry

7. continue to apply Component issuing sop within the lab to ensure 
appropriate use of o Rh (d) Neg
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National audit of platelet use

The Trust did not participate in this audit due to the fact that there were 
no eligible patients in the Trust during the audit period.  However, the 
national report was reviewed with the following actions identified:

1. Continue to have all platelet infusions passed by Consultant 
Haematologist, thus ensuring that platelet transfusions are not 
given when not required 

2. Continue to ensure that all patients have platelet counts on 
day of infusion

3. Continue to ensure the reason for transfusion is clearly 
documented including any individual threshold platelet 
count agreed for that patient by current practice, via platelet 
transfusions for haematology patients are prescribed and 
documented by Consultant Haematologist/Haematology Nurse

4. Continue to ensure that ward staff advised at time of issue 
of platelets that they should be transfused close to the 
procedure to obtain maximum benefit but allow time for a post 
transfusion platelet count to be taken to assess response.

5. Review Appendix 3 of the final audit report which contains 
analysis algorithms that may be a useful audit tool to monitor 
local platelet transfusion practice.

Renal disease

Renal colic 
(College of emergency Medicine)

Report published in April 2011

local audit indicated following actions planned, and review of results of 
national audit did not indicate the need for additional actions

1. develop local guidelines for management of patients with renal 
colic

2. improve pain score assessment, provision of analgesia & 
reassessment

Following action implemented:-

1. improvement in provision of analgesia for severe pain within 60 
minutes of arrival, from 40% to 60%

Psychological conditions
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data collection was carried out between March 2010 and April 2011, 
and the report published in december 2011. The national dementia 
strategy action plan has now incorporated actions from the audit 
report.

Actions planned are:

1. explicit pathway for the management and care of people with 
dementia in hospital will be developed through collaborative 
working with the Commissioners.  

2. patient coordinators are to be appointed to facilitate a 
streamlined approach to timely referral to Mental Health services 
for appropriate assessment and intervention and / or eventual 
referral to memory loss services.

3. Further clarification on the level of available and established 
pharmaceutical (Anti-psychotic) prescribing guidelines 

4.  information cascade in respect to the National dementia 
strategy needs to be achieved in order to ensure best practice is 
fully embedded.

5. Review of environmental factors in dementia care, including 
flooring review, toilet seats / bathroom equipment, reconfiguration 
of communal areas in order to diminish social isolation.

6. Aspects of nutritional support and best practice will be covered 
within the online and formal training programme.

7. The introduction of high calorie finger food provision will be 
costed and looked at in more detail.

8. The introduction of a dementia focused palliative care Nurse 
based at Willow Wood will enable out-reach of Nutritional advice 
and guidance in respect to end of life dementia patients

9. Work with voluntary services in order to acquire additional 
voluntary Nutritional support for dementia patients at mealtimes

10. work in respect of staggering meal times in order to facilitate 
nutritional support to all dementia patients 

11. liverpool iCp Training to fully incorporate end stage dementia 
discussion

12. single capacity assessment Tool required in order to streamline 
assessment

13. pAiNAC assessment Tool – currently being developed by the pain 
Team – in order to ensure dementia focused pain assessment

14. Memory boxes and Activity boxes are being compiled for each 
clinical area.
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Health Promotion

Risk Factors 
(National Health 
promotion in Hospitals Audit)

The Trust did not participate in this audit.

End of Life

Care of dying in hospital (NCdAH)

1. Continue with the current education programme provided by 
specialist palliative Care Team

2. develop nominated links between the specialist palliative Care 
Team and each area of the hospital 

3. provide an intensive, more visual presence and service. 

4. Actively seek out patients requiring specialist palliative Care and 
request MdT re assessment every 72 hours

5. Actively work to increase compliance with liverpool end of life 
Care pathway

6. ensure availability of written information on all wards of the two 
leaflets supporting the LCP/ End of life care: ‘coping with dying’ 
and ‘relative/ carer information’

7. educate Medical and Nursing staff regarding the importance of 
collaborating and communicating with Gp/ pCT regarding end of 
life care 

8. ensure contact by the specialist palliative Care Team with the 
Gp/ pCT regarding any patients known to them

N.B. The specialist Renal unit on the Tameside General Hospital site is managed by Central Manchester Trust, 
and therefore the audits in this area will appear in that Quality Account, rather than this one.
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iii  local audit reports
1. The reports of 38 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2011/12 and THFT intends to take the 

following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided – table 3. 

2. due to the quantity of audits, the actions from all of them have not been listed here, and a sample has been 
included. 

Table 3  Local Audits and Recommended Actions

Title of Audit Recommended Action

patient identification

• All patients should have a band on that conforms to policy.
• Bands printed from Medway should be used in all areas which have printers 
        installed for that purpose.
• Where patient bands are not being used due to patient sensitivity or refusal by    
        the patient, discussions about the risks and the reason for not using a band 
        should be undertaken and recorded.

pressure prevalence 
Audit - Annual Audit

• Pressure ulcer prevention and management training to be mandatory
• Staff to be able to assess stages of pressure ulcer damage and document 
        correctly
• Staff to be able to prevent patients having pressure damage by selecting correct 
        equipment and using same according to manufacturer’s instruction.
• Staff to be able to complete risk assessment and document findings within 6 
        hours of admission in accordance with NiCe guidelines 2009

Colorectal patient 
survey - Cancer peer 
Review

• Ensure all patients undergo “Sparcs” psychological assessment tool throughout 
        pathway of care.
• Develop a patient information leaflet for the key worker/nurse specialist role.

uTi in children

• Teaching sessions for staff to improve management of UTI in children (guidelines 
        already available).
• To continue to adhere to the guidance
• Improve consistency in antibiotic policy
• Patient information leaflet should be given and documented in notes 

diarrhoea & Vomiting in 
children <5 years

• Improve base line observations & PEWS scoring by nurses at initial assessment.
• Improved teaching on management of patients to junior doctors and Specialty 
        doctors.

lipid Modification • Doctor education and awareness of NICE guidelines through trust audit and 
        educational meetings led by the Cardiology team.
• BMI to be checked in all admitted patients.
• Re-audit next year to ensure progress.

level of insertion of 
sA block for obstetric 
intervention

• Alter software to demand explanation for high insertion level.
• Re-education of anaesthetists
        -       importance of data entry
        -       Risks of high insertion.

dVT prophylaxis in Joint 
Replacement surgery

• VTE risk assessment to be performed in all patients - Inform Junior doctors at 
        induction and on ward.
• Follow NICE guidelines for DVT prophylaxis - All Mr. Thalava’s patients have a 
        calf pump and extended dVT chemoprophylaxis as per NiCe guidelines.

length of stay after 
Joint Replacement 
surgery

• Better documentation of reason for delayed discharge if any.

lung patients survey 
- Cancer peer Review 
- patient satisfaction 
Questionnaire

• Check with appointments office to ensure that the Fast Track leaflet is sent  out      
        with the appointment letter.
• A copy of the report should be sent to the outpatient’s manager to address the 
        variations in care across nurses and receptionists in clinic.
• The next questionnaire will include a question about holistic assessment to 
        comply with the new detail added to the measure.
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discharge processes 
NiCu

• Consultants to perform spot quality check of Badger documentation during ward 
rounds.

• Propose that copies of discharge letters are given to parents.
• Laminate an anonymous example of a good discharge letter to be sited in the 

neonatal office near the computer
• Quality of letters completed by trainee doctors to be assessed during appraisal 

with supervisor.

emergency surgery / 
Cepod pathway

• Early start of Emergency list
• Redesigning Booking form
• ORMIS Data
• Reaudit

Current practice on use 
of fasting guidelines

• Encourage patients to consume clear carbohydrate based drinks up to 2hrs and 
solids up to 6hrs prior to elective surgery

• Encourage awareness all theatre staff and surgical ward staff about recent 
guidance on fasting.

• Team effort and initiation in organising theatre lists in order to prevent over 
starving and dehydration of elective surgical patients

patient satisfaction 
survey - determining 
the satisfaction of 
families who attend the 
paediatric ed

• On-going development and distribution of patient information leaflets.
• To improve further on the number of families who feel confident in caring for their 

sick children at home.
• To continue to encourage families to seek advice from their GP rather than 

attend the ed.

Audit of VTe prophylaxis 
for surgical patients

• Provide a space on drug chart for other methods of VTE prophylaxis.
• To ensure that VTE risk assessment forms are more accurately filled in, perhaps 

with a scoring system as to appropriate management.

parental Nutrition (pN) 
Guideline

• Revise PN policy
• Indications/nutritional content/administration/complications
• Revise PN prescription paperwork/process

Retinopathy 
of prematurity 
(supradistrict audit)

• Reason for late Screening and parental information given need to be 
documented.

• All babies screened post discharge to be brought back to NNU. DNA’s to be 
notified to Rop co-ordinator and Neonatal lead Consultant

• Continue work with Pennine Trust to ensure robust service with flexibility where 
necessary

• Participation in the regional neonatal network ROP audit in August 2011. 
• Dedicated time for ROP screening co-ordinator

preventions of Fragility 
Fractures

• Continue study to get a statistically significant sample
• Include other fragility fracture
• Vertebrae
• Wrist
• Other (e.g. Bilateral supracondylar fractures)
• Amend Proforma to capture “other risk factors”
• PMH
• Consider completing as part of clerking process
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six lives

• Review and re-launch the Trust Learning Disability protocol with the support of 
explicit guidance 

• Assurances of compliance should form part of the Matron’s  DIC Rounds 
• Matron’s  to provide a personal review for all LD patients admitted to provide 

assurances of the appropriateness of care packages in place and that 
reasonable adjustments are in place where required 

• Matrons should also check to ensure all documentation has been completed 
as necessary. This function also forms part of the ldlN role with particular 
reference and focus to care involvement and discharge planning

• LD processes should be included as part of the Trust North West Clinical 
indicator data collection documentation Toolkit.

• Divisions are to ensure staff complete a LD Referral Form for each patient 
identified as having a ld as part of the admission process. on completion, all 
ld referral forms should be faxed to the Community ld service to inform of 
admission

• The Community LD Service should ensure Hospital Passports are made available 
to support hospital admission. Hospital staff should routinely request if a 
passport is available during the admission process

• Community LD Services should actively liaise with ward staff  around patient 
discharge processes to ensure safe and appropriate discharge

• Divisions to ensure staff identify information/leaflets required by patients and their 
carers, ensuring this is made available in a suitable format, the nature of which 
should be documented within the patient’s notes

Audit of peG referrals 
and peG insertion 
procedure

• Stress importance of abiding by the referral forms
• Ensure full documentation occurs
• All PEGs should have referral form, should be in the PEG book and should be 

accounted for in coding.
• Only 41% having documented antibiotic cover. ASGE recommend all pts 

undergoing peG insertion to have ABX cover.
• Re-audit

Management of  upper 
Gi bleeding compared 
to Trust guidelines

• Check Rockall score in all patients with GI bleeding.
• Check Fibrinogen level in patients with liver disease who present with GI 

bleeding.
• We will re audit next year.

Audit of pathway 
for social services 
request for medical 
assessments

• Implement process for electronic receipt of  referrals and return of medical 
reports

• Produce tick list for checking availability of background information prior to 
medicals

• Stress importance of correct documentation and prompt dictation to the medical 
team and incorporate into middle grade induction programmes

• Support admin staff in prioritising this area of work
• Process by which Safeguarding Team is notified of final outcome of S47 

investigation

Are men attending the 
Nurse led prostate 
Management clinic 
assessed in accordance 
with NiCe CG 97

• Advanced training required by 1 Specialist Nurse
• Improve documentation.

iTu documentation 
Audit

• An education seminar for all ITU doctors to remind/educate them as to the 
importance of clear accurate documentation. Not just for the immediate 
provision of care, but to make life easier in the event of litigation

• Nursing staff/medical ITU staff to encourage other specialties to adhere to our 
documentation policy.

• Re-audit in 4-6 months to ensure increased compliance. 
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Repeat epidural Audit 
Following NpsA 
Recommendations 
2007 

• Ensure all midwives caring for patients with epidural infusions attend either the 
formal epidural training sessions provided by the Acute pain service or Midwifery 
supervisors sessions.

• Provision of regular epidural theory sessions
• Provision of additional epidural assessment sessions specifically for shift 

coordinators and core labour ward staff.
• Ensure all shift coordinators and core labour ward staff who    have completed 

their epidural theory attend and successfully complete epidural assessment. 
• Ensure all remaining midwives who have completed formal epidural training 

undertake and successfully complete their epidural assessment.
• Ensure that all midwives caring for patients with epidural infusions maintain their 

own competence following successful completion of the epidural assessment.

How effective is the 
smoking cessation 
service in Adult eNT 
outpatients?

• Awaiting report from Dr Sarah Keith at time of publication 

An audit into the hernia 
services provided at 
TGH in compliance with 
NiCe guidelines

• Improve consent training and documentation for junior and middle grade staff.
• Consent guide for common procedures onto intranet to aid staff.
• Re-audit at the close of this year to assess performance.

delays in Hip Fracture 
treatment due to 
anticoagulation.

• Rewrite protocol for perioperative management of anticoagulation for #NOF 
patients.  example protocol has been obtained from another hospital and 
changes discussed and accepted.

How effective are the 
2 week wait referral 
criteria for identification 
of head and neck 
cancer?

• Ensure potential side effects of medication are discussed with the patient 

Adherence to Antibiotic 
policy in ed

• Increased education to Specialty Doctors & Trainees

Audit of ed 
Management of Knee 
injuries

• Improve trainees & Specialty Doctor awareness of rules & improve clinical skills 

uTi in Children – 
Adherence to NiCe 
Guideline in ed

• Teaching sessions for staff to improve management of UTI in children (guidelines 
already available) 

Adherence to safe 
sedation protocol in ed

• Increase awareness & education of safe sedation

diarrhoea & Vomiting in 
Children <5years   in ed

• Improve base line observations & PEWS scoring by nurses at initial assessment
• Improved teaching on management of patois to junior doctors & Specialty 

doctors

paediatric Fever in 
Children under 5years  
in ed

• Training on use of guidelines & traffic light system by Nurses
• Training on use of guidelines & traffic light system by Doctors
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INFORMATION ON PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL RESEARCH

The number of patients receiving NHs services provided or sub-contracted by Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation 
Trust that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 
964.

INFORMATION ON THE USE OF THE CQUIN FRAMEWORK

A proportion of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s income in 2011/12 was conditional upon achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals agreed between Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s and any person or body 
they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHs services, through the Commissioning 
for Quality and innovation payment framework. Further details of the agreed goals for 2011/12 and for the following 12 
month period are available online at: 
http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/sites/all/modules/fckeditor/plugins/ktbrowser/_openTKFile.php?id=3275 

Based on contract plans, Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s CQuiN planned performance was £1,840k – this 
reflected 1.5% of the planned value of the Trust’s clinical activity.  Based actual year end performance the maximum 
CQuiN we could have achieved (i.e. 1.5% of the value of our actual performance) was £1,880k.  Within the 2011/12 
accounts the Trust will be declaring performance as being 70% achievement, equating to £1,316k.  The amount of 
income in 2010/11 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals was £2126k and the monetary 
total for the associated payment in 2010/11 at 64.75% was £1,377k 

The Trust performed very well against a number of CQuiN targets, making good progress.  As indicated above, the 
Trust met all but one of its end of life Care targets.   Good progress against the A&e CQuiN was supported by the 
successful development of four ambulatory care pathways.  A total of 267 patients were treated on these pathways 
during the year, and had they not been, a high proportion would probably have been admitted to hospital.  Both of these 
achievements are excellent examples of join partnership working.  The Trust also scored well in terms of improvements 
to the environment, which the Trust already knows will be reflected in 3/3 “excellent” peAT scores when the 2011/12 
results are released.  

The Trust also made good progress in relation to public health targets, including screening for alcohol, and increasing 
the number of patients referred to smoking cessation services.   The Trust also exceeded its target in relation to the 
number of surgical patients undergoing the “enhanced recovery” scheme, which optimises post operative recovery 
by maximising the patient physiologically before the operation takes place.  The Trust scored well on 7 CQuiN targets 
related to safe, effective and appropriate prescribing and the CQuiN results continue to reflect the excellent outcomes 
achieved by the Trust’s maternity services.  

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CARE QUALITY COMMISSION 

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current 
registration status is unconditional registration.
 
The Care Quality Commission has taken enforcement action against Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust during 
2011/12, in the form of a Warning letter issued in december 2011, requiring compliance with its standards and outcomes 
by January 6, 2012.  This followed a review of the Trust’s services which the CQC undertook in october 2011, and 
related particularly to the fact that the Trust had not resolved issues relating to outcome 16, “Assessing and Monitoring 
the Quality of service provision”.  The CQC revisited the hospital on 20 April, reducing the number of concerns it had 
from 5 minor and one moderate to three minor (see above).

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust participated in the CQC’s national special review into termination of pregnancy 
services, and was also subject to assessment by the CQC as part of a health and social care economy - wide review of 
child safeguarding arrangements led by oFsTed during the reporting period.
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INFORMATION ON THE QUALITY OF DATA

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust submitted records during 2011/12 to the secondary uses service for inclusion in 
the Hospital episode statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in the published 
data: 

- which included the patient’s valid NHs Number was: 

99.9% for admitted patient care; 
99.9% for outpatient care; 
99.4% for accident and emergency care. 

- which included the patient’s valid General practitioner Registration Code was: 

100.0% for admitted patient care; 
100.0% for outpatient care; 
100.0% for accident and emergency care. 

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s information Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2011/12 was 71% 
and was graded red 

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust will be taking the following actions to improve data quality:- 

• Developing an action plan

• Reporting progress against the action plan to the Information Governance Committee

• Raising with the Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee, a Board Committee, any areas in   
 which there appear to be enduring or intractable issues with compliance

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust  was subject to the payment by Results clinical coding audit during the reporting 
period by the Audit Commission and the error rates reported in the latest published audit for that period for diagnoses and 
treatment coding (clinical coding) were:

Orthopaedic Random Specialty

% correct % incorrect % correct % incorrect

primary diagnosis 91 9 97 3

secondary 
diagnosis

95.99 4.1 99.16 0.84

primary procedure 95.18 4.82 96.77 3.23

secondary 
procedure

98.25 1.75 96.39 3.61

The results should not be extrapolated further than the actual sample audited.

Part 3 – Other Information

INFORMATION ON THE REVIEW OF SERVICES

QUALITY METRICS

under current regulations, the Quality Report is also required to contain an overview of the quality of care offered by the NHs 
Foundation Trust.  The indicator set selected must include:

• at least 3 indicators for patient safety;

• at least 3 indicators for clinical effectiveness; and

• at least 3 indicators for patient experience.
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A number of indicators were selected in each category and were endorsed by the Board and Council of Members.  
The performance against these indicators was as follows:-

Indicators for Patient Safety

This part of the Trust’s Quality Report is based on the dr Foster patient safety indicators suite. dr Foster is an independent organisation 
but the data which it uses is taken directly from NHs Hospital episode statistics (Hes).  dr Foster introduced this suite shortly before 
this year’s Quality Account was being planned, so there are no historical data to report. The dr Foster database currently contains 
data from March 2011 to February, 2012). This enables performance to be assessed over that period, and this is summarised in the 
table below:-

The table above indicates that for all of the 15 indicators, the Trust is performing at or better than the expected level.  in three cases, 
decubitus ulcers (sometimes known as pressure sores, pressure ulcers or bedsores); post operative sepsis and accidental puncture 
or laceration, the Trust’s performance is better than expected.  

Indicator Observed Expected

deaths in low-risk diagnosis groups* 17 14.8

decubitus ulcer 102 162.2

deaths after surgery 18 15.4

infections associated with central line* 0 0.9

post-operative hip fracture* 0 0.9

post-op Haemorrhage or Haematoma 3 6.3

post-operative physiologic and metabolic derangements* 1 0.9

post-operative respiratory failure 2 7.0

post-operative pulmonary embolism or deep vein thrombosis 13 18.0

post-operative sepsis 0 3.7

post-operative wound dehiscence* 1 0.8

Accidental puncture or laceration 20 34.8

post-operative sepsis 20 21.2

post-operative sepsis 60 64.7

post-operative sepsis 0 2.1

Key 

A red bar signifies an indicator for which the lower end of the 95% confidence interval is above the national average. 

A green bar signifies an indicator for which the higher end of the 95% confidence interval is below the national average. 

A blue bar signifies an indicator for which the relative risk equals the national average value within 95% confidence. 

* For indicators marked with an asterisk expected values are derived from the national average crude rate and are not casemix adjusted. 

The table above indicates that for all of the 15 indicators, the Trust is performing at or better than the expected level.  in three cases, decubitus 

ulcers (sometimes known as pressure sores, pressure ulcers or bedsores); post operative sepsis and accidental puncture or laceration, the 

Trust’s performance is better than expected. 
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Indicators for Clinical Effectiveness

As with the patient safety indicators, the dr Foster database contains data from March 2011 to February 2012 on 
clinical effectiveness dr Foster introduced this shortly before this year’s Quality Account was being planned, so there 
is no historical data to report.  dr Foster is an independent organisation but the data which it uses is taken directly 
from NHs Hospital episode statistics (Hes).   This enables performance to be assessed over that period, and this is 
summarised in the table below.

Indicator Observed Expected

Stroke

stroke - hospital acquired pneumonia due to swallowing problems 26 17.5

stroke - mortality 79 59.9

stroke - no return to normal place of residence within 56 days 77 67.0

stroke - readmissions (28 days) 38 34.2

Orthopaedics

Hip - readmissions (28 days) 13 11.5

Hip - revision rates with manipulations* 2 1.4

Knee - readmissions (28 days) 10 13.7

Knee - revision rates with manipulations* 4 1.6

Fractured neck of femur - no operation within 2 days* 105 73.5

Fractured neck of femur - mortality 28 28.9

Key 

A red bar signifies an indicator for which the lower end of the 95% confidence interval is above the national average. 

A green bar signifies an indicator for which the higher end of the 95% confidence interval is below the national average. 

A blue bar signifies an indicator for which the relative risk equals the national average value within 95% confidence. 

* For indicators marked with an asterisk expected values are derived from the national average crude rate and are not casemix adjusted. 
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Indicators for Patient Experience

a. Continued implementation of falls improvement plan

implementation of a revised falls improvement plan commenced at the start of 2011/12 and was subject to a commissioner 
CQuiN. data for the CQuiN indicator were collected locally and are based on local definitions. The results were as follows:-

 •	 20%	reduction	in	the	number	of	falls	

 The number of falls in 2010/11 was 1172, and the number of falls in 2011/12 was 1030.  This represents a 12%
 decrease in the number of falls.  (please note that a figure of 1090 was reported in the 2010/11 Quality Report.  The
 difference is due to the fact that a number of falls incident reports were received by the Trust’s Risk Management 
 department after the Quality Report for 2010/11 was written.  This gave rise to improvements in the effectiveness 
 and timeliness of falls reporting, in the context of the Trust’s falls reduction programme, which should ensure that in  
 future reports, the figure reported is full and final.)

 •	 Clinical	Champion	for	falls	designated	in	each	clinical	area;	

 Completed.

 •	 Falls	risk	assessment	undertaken	on	40%	of	eligible	patients;

 This was achieved.  The falls risk assessment documentation was subject to review during the year and will be 
 further modified during 2012/13.

 •	 Root	Cause	Analysis	report	produced	for	any	significant	fall

 Achieved in each month to date.

b.  Continued implementation of the Liverpool Care Pathway in the context of its programme of work on   
 End of Life Care

The Trust has continued to implement its programme of work in collaboration with its partners in the community and 
hospice sectors.

The Trust met two of its three key targets –

	 •	 patients diagnosed as dying and being cared for using lCp, who want to go home, to be discharged within 2.5  
  hours of decision being made.

	 •	 palliative care patients, who want to go home, to be discharged within 24 hours from the time that all their needs  
  are catered for.

due to circumstances beyond the control of the Trust, the following standard was not met:- 

	 •	 palliative and dying patients being discharged by ambulance to be discharged by 1pm

The Trust also met targets relating to undertaking end of life care audits and recording and documentation of clinical care.

c.  Performance against PCT’s Dignity in Care CQUINs targets

The pCT’s assessment of improvement was based on the performance against the liNk Red Amber Green scoring system 
on outcomes from Tameside liNk (local involvement Network) enter and View visits.  As the pCT’s assessment was that 
improvement has been made, the Trust was awarded £44,750 against a potential CQuiN payment of £80,000.

data were derived from a series of visits undertaken by Tameside liNk staff and volunteers using a locally developed data 
collection tool.  liNk’s data collection methods involve both patient and carer interviews with approximately 160 
individuals, coupled with observations of the patient environment
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d.  Paediatric Patient Experience Indicator

The Children’s Community Nursing Team (CCNT) has developed over the winter of 2011/12 by rapidly responding to pae-
diatric acute illness in an effort to use non-recurring winter pressure monies to visit children at home. previous experience 
within the team has demonstrated that for some children visiting early can prevent families moving through inappropriate 
health care settings. 

As part of the information reporting structures and the Kpi’s developed by the commissioning team the CCNT have been 
asked to demonstrate that:-

90% parent and child who have received rapid response CCNT are satisfied with the service in service user questionnaire. 

The team identified that 50 children had been rapidly responded to in the month of February 2012. Rapid response has 
been defined by the team as “children who had not got an allocated visiting slot that day, but for whom the coordinator felt 
that by sending a nurse to the home could potentially avoid inappropriate use of other health care services”. it is important 
to note that all rapid response children were active on the CCNT caseload and had a referral received from all the usual 
clinical areas. 

A questionnaire was developed and sent out retrospectively to all 50 sets of parents. They were posted out and included 
a stamped addressed envelope for the parents to use to return the completed questionnaire. The response rate was 36%, 
18 out of the 50 sets of parents responded.

summary of results

 a. 100% of parents felt more confident in managing their child at home   after a CCNT visit    

 b. 94% of responses indicated that they were very happy to be referred to the CCNT after receiving care at Gp,   
  A&e or Walk in Centre

 c. 67% responded that they would be very likely to use the Gp knowing they could refer to the CCNT

 d. 100% of respondents were satisfied with the service provided by CCNT 

Where the indicators have changed from the indicators used in the 2010/11 report, NHs Foundation Trusts are required 
to outline the rationale for why these indicators have changed. The following commentary provides this rationale in cases 
where changes have been made.

i.  2010/11 Indicators which do not appear in the 2011/12 Quality Account and Report

 1. No more than 25 hospital associated pressure sores per quarter

Rationale – Trust has achieved high level of performance.  pressure sores (ulcers) subject of detailed CQuiN with Trust 
Commissioners.

 2. 98% compliance with WHo surgical site Checklist demonstrated at audit

A series of audits have demonstrated high compliance with the checklist and the associated behaviours appear to be 
embedded.  Audits will continue to be undertaken on a quarterly basis to ensure on-going compliance.

 3. implement system to monitor patient movements and investigate all apparently non -clinical reasons.

system now well established and data are included in director of Nursing’s monthly “Nursing Quality Report” to the Trust 
executive Group.

 4. Achieve improvement against stroke sentinel clinical audit criteria, as compared to previous audit, as measured  
  in final quarter of year

improvement was achieved.  structures and processes in place to monitor compliance going forward.
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5. For resuscitation, achieve 5% reduction in calls as compared to 2009/10; increase the proportion of patients
  included in the audit of outcomes; maintain survival rate above national average and increase survival to 
  discharge rate to at least national average.

Trust monitors resuscitation outcomes via Trust Resuscitation Committee and patient safety Report, which is presented to 
both the Trust executive Group and Trust Board.  selected indicators show sustained improvement in this area.

 6. Continue to implement the Advancing Quality initiative and improve on scores achieved during 2009/10

This is a contractual obligation for the Trust.  The Trust continued to implement the initiative during 2011/12.  The Trust 
performed well in relation to the “Acute Myocardial infarction” and “Hip and Knee” indicators but further work is required to 
achieve target level performance in “Heart Failure” (documentation of interventions) and “pneumonia” (full implementation of 
pneumonia care bundle, provision of smoking cessation advice). 

 7. No Never events, No more than 6 reportable suis (serious untoward incidents) 

The Trust monitors all types of serious incident closely, primarily via the Quality & Clinical Governance Committee, a Board 
Committee.  The number of serious incidents occurring within the hospital forms part of the Quarterly Risk Management 
Report which is presented to the Board, Trust executive Group, Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee 
(also a Board Committee) and Risk Management Committee, and is also distributed widely across the organisation.  The 
systems are comprehensive and well established and there is therefore little further to be gained by including them in the 
indicators.

ii.  2010/11 Indicators retained in the 2011/12 Quality Account and Report

 8.  mplement an improvement plan to address falls risks in the hospital

 9. Continue to implement the liverpool Care pathway in the context of its programme of work on end of life Care
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY NATIONAL PRIORITIES

The following table provides an overview of performance in 2011/12 against the key national priorities from the department 
of Health’s operating Framework and  performance against the relevant indicators and performance thresholds set out in 
Appendix B of Monitor’s Compliance Framework:-

 National Indicators Year end %

1 Infection Control: MRsA Bacteraemia 5 (number)

2 Infection Control: Clostridium difficile infections 82 (number)

3 Cancer: 31 day diagnosis to Treatment for First definitive Treatment 99.1

4 Cancer: 31 day diagnosis to Treatment for second or subsequent Treatment 98.9

5 Cancer: 62 days to Treatment from Gp urgent Referral 90.96

 Cancer: 62 days to Treatment from screening service Referral 100.0

6 Cancer: Two Week Wait from Gp urgent Referral 97.4

 Cancer: Two Week Wait from Gp symptomatic Breast Referral 96.2

7 RTT: 95th percentile for Non-Admitted patients within 18.3 Weeks 95.0

8 RTT: 95th percentile for Admitted patients within 23 Weeks 95.7

9 A&E: 95% Total Time in A&e Four Hours or less (replaces all other A&e metrics) 96.3

With the exception of MRsA and C diff., all relevant targets were met.  MRsA and C diff. will remain a priority for improvement 
during 2012/13.

Cancer 62 days data – the figure of 90.96% was based on performance prior to the implementation of the Reallocations 
policy.  The figure post application of this policy is 90.4%. This is a policy agreed across all of the Trusts involved in the 
Greater Manchester and Cheshire Cancer Network. The policy determines that for any patients referred after day 42 in the 
pathway, the full breach will be reallocated to the referring Trust. Where more than one Trust is involved, the full breach is 
attributed to the Trust which has taken up the greatest time to refer the patient.

The Trust experienced some difficulties with aspect of A&e performance during the year.  The key metrics which the Trust did 
not achieve were re - attendance within 7 days, which several audits have demonstrated are a result of a lack of options in 
the health economy; time to see a clinician and the % leaving the department within 4 hours who require admission.   Action 
plans are in place for all of these areas and have resulted in improved performance,
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Annex: Statements from Primary Care Trusts, Local Involvement Networks and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees.

o NHs foundation trusts must send copies of their quality reports to their relevant lead commissioning primary care 
trusts (pCTs), local involvement Networks (liNks) and overview and scrutiny Committees (osCs) for comment 
prior to publication, and should include these comments in their published quality reports.

o The lead commissioning pCTs will have a legal obligation to review and comment, while liNks and osCs will 
be offered the opportunity to comment on a voluntary basis.

There are specific timeframes for seeking and receiving responses

Comments from the Commissioner
The shadow Clinical Commissioning Group has taken devolved responsibility from NHs Greater Manchester, for the oversight 
and management of the contract with Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust.  it is in this respect we comment on the 
2011/12 Quality Account.

Quality improvement and assurance sit at the heart of the ambition and vision for our CCG: “...by inspiring all NHs colleagues, 
and working closely with partners, we will ensure the development of excellent, compassionate, cost effective care, leading 
to longer healthier lives.”  We have worked increasingly closely with our hospital clinical colleagues offering both challenge 
in our quality and performance (contract) meetings; also clinical support in our commissioning role for example tackling the 
high levels of CdiFF; reviewing and developing an action plan to address the high sHMi; and developing our local contract 
quality standards (Kpis and CQuiNs) for 2012/13. 

We recognise the Foundation Trust has developed its Quality Account report based on a national model, and on occasion 
feel this has meant the Trust has missed an opportunity to reflect and publicise their work and achievements in a number 
of areas, for example, participation in the safety express /Harm Free Care programme and national programmers such as 
energising for excellence & productive Ward series.  We are pleased the Foundation Trust maintained excellent performance 
against key national priority access indicators for cancer, referral to treatment time and the wait time in A&e.  We will continue 
to press for delivery against national priorities going forward.  

our locality Audit and Risk has noted the improvement in both the reporting and level of detail set out in serious untoward 
incidents during 2011/12 although we will be seeking further assurance throughout 2012/13 that there is clear ownership, 
learning and improvement embedded across the organisation. This will include meeting timescales for reporting RCAs to 
the Commissioner.

Clearly, it is a matter of great concern that the CQC had to issue a warning letter and that three areas remain outstanding 
even now.  When set alongside the liNK enter and View report, the sHMi and a range of other indicators, it is vital the 
Foundation Trust takes firm hold and makes improvement everybody’s business as a priority.  We are pleased to see the 
Foundation Trust recognises these challenges going forward and would agree it is vital the priorities include elimination of the 
remaining three CQC concerns; also permanently addressing the issues raised by the Tameside liNK enter and View report.  
indicators must show they have been addressed comprehensively, systematically and sustainably.  We would wish to see as 
a result, positive improvement not only in the % of staff who would recommend the provider to friends or family needing care, 
but those patients, carers and their families who are users of the service.  We feel a number of the other proposed indicators 
for 2012/13 could be strengthened, building for example, on the report and action plan on the sHMi. in this respect, we 
would not disagree that the Foundation Trust must maintain a focus on mortality and infection prevention and control going 
forward albeit more detail could be provided on the steps to be taken and to give assurance and to indicate the expected 
outcomes improvement to our public. 

Throughout 2011/12, the CCG discussed the matter of discharge communications as an area of patient safety.  it was 
disappointing the Foundation Trust did not achieve this CQuiN and that the matter remains an areas of concern throughout 
the Gp community.  This should be more prominent as a priority going forward.  

We note the Foundation Trust observation that those with whom the CQC spoke were happy with the care they were 
receiving.  However, we wish to triangulate this with the feedback from the patient survey. We will review this at our June 
Quality and performance sub Committee as part of our review of our approach to quality assurance.  We expect to develop 
and discuss with the Foundation Trust, an early warning reporting system to be used in our contracting and quality review 
governance going forward.  

Finally, we look very much look to the Foundation Trust to continue to encourage and enable the clinician-to-clinician 
approach to quality improvement that has begun to develop, and as we welcome this opportunity to comment on the 
Foundation trust Quality Account including quality improvement priorities for 2012/13, we look forward to working together 
earlier in the process to debate priorities for future years. 
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Comments from LINk

Background

during the period covered by these Quality Accounts, Tameside liNk has been very active in terms of monitoring quality 
at Tameside Hospital. This includes undertaking approximately 30 enter and View visits which incorporated interviews with 
over 300 patients and/or their relatives. We also have been engaged in the Hospital’s everyone Matters, external Reference 
and improving the patient environment groups. in addition, active liNk members have roles as Governors of the Foundation 
Trust. 

General Comments

during this twelve month period we have identified a number of improvements in quality at the hospital, however we feel 
frustrated and disappointed that these have not been as fast or as comprehensive as we would have expected. We have 
received a great many positive comments about the work of ward staff, although a recurrent theme from these comments is 
that ward staff (particularly nurses) seem to be over-stretched and under resourced.

This has led us to the view that issues around management, deployment and
leadership are the key to resolving many of the concerns we still have. A number of the liNk’s members observed that the 
Quality Report is difficult for a layperson to understand. if part of the purpose of the report is to reassure the public about the 
quality of the hospital’s services, the presentation of future reports should take this into account.

our members also observed that the Quality report focuses very strongly on statistical data and processes. in future reports, 
they feel that a greater emphasis on patients’ and carers’ perceptions of quality would be beneficial.

Specific Comments

These comments aim to provide additional information on subjects raised in the Trust’s Quality Report and which we have 
actively monitored through the year. 

if we have not commented on a topic, this is because we have not focused our attention in that area this year.

1. Infection Control

We have monitored a range of issues relating to infection control during this year. We are very pleased to see significant 
improvement in this, particularly in terms of:

sanitising hand gel dispensers in good working order and well distributed.  improved cleanliness and tidiness in wards, toilets 
and bathrooms.

We have raised with the hospital a few concerns relating to catheterisation practice and guidance for visitors when norovirus 
is known to be on a ward.

We are also concerned that the Quality Report indicates higher levels of both MRsA and C difficile than the targets. We feel 
that is a serious issue as the impact of these on each individual affected can be devastating.

2. Priorities for Quality Improvement 2012/13

We welcome the fact that the hospital’s priorities for 2012/13 include permanently addressing issues raised by our enter and 
View activities and look forward to working with the hospital on this. it should be noted that not all issues address by our 
enter and View activities are covered by the Trust’s Quality Report 2011/12.

We are concerned that the target in terms of Care Quality Commission compliance for 2012/13 is to ‘reduce the CQC’s level 
of concern about any given outcome to minor’. We feel strongly that the hospital should be aiming to eliminate all the CQC’s 
concerns.
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3. Proposed Indicators for 2012/13

We feel that the proposed eight core quality indicators will not fully capture the
outcomes of the three priorities for quality improvement that the hospital has identified. We therefore suggest that they 
should consider some additional indicators.

4. Patient Experience Indicator – falls improvement plan

We are disappointed that the 20% reduction in falls (quoted subject to final data
verification) is a long way short of the 30% reduction the hospital agreed to in the CQuiN covering this issue. We asked 
questions about falls in our August 2011 and January 2012 enter and View visits and felt there was no significant change 
in people’s responses on the wards we visited, many of which are elderly care wards.

We are particularly concerned that in both these sets of visits, some patients told us they had fallen more than once whilst 
in hospital.

Concluding comments

Although we still have concerns about quality and the patient experience at Tameside Hospital, we recognise that there 
have been some significant improvements this year. We feel that the extent and pace of improvement urgently needs to 
increase and we look forward to being able to work in partnership with the hospital to achieve this.

We are very clear that Tameside Hospital is important to local people and our work is strongly motivated to help to ensure 
that we have a hospital that provides good quality care and a first class patient experience.

Annex

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Quality Report

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 as 
amended to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.

Monitor has issued guidance to NHs foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality reports (which 
incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that foundation trust boards should put in place to 
support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.

in preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
The content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2011-12;

The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information including:

- Board minutes and papers for the period April 2011 to June 2012

- papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2011 to June 2012
- Feedback from the commissioners dated 29 May 2012
- Feedback from governors dated 15 May 2012
- Feedback from liNks dated 09/05/2012
- The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the local Authority social services and NHs 

Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 1 May 2012
- The National patient survey 11 April 2012
- The national staff survey 20/03/2012
- The Head of  internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 15/05/2012
- CQC Quality and Risk profiles dated March 2012
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The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHs foundation trust’s performance over the period covered;

The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate; 

There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance included in the Quality 
Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice;

The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable, conforms to 
specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and the Quality 
Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts 
regulations) (published at www.monitor nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality 
for the preparation of the Quality Report (available at www.monitor nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual)).

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the Quality Report.

By order of the Board

   

..................................date .................................................................... Chief executive

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of Governors of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust on the 
Annual Quality Report 

We have been engaged by the Board of Governors of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust to perform an independent 
assurance engagement in respect of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 
2012 (the “Quality Report”) and certain performance indicators contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2012 subject to limited assurance consist of the national priority indicators as 
mandated by Monitor: 

■	 Clostridium difficile – all cases of Clostridium difficile positive diarrhoea in patients aged two years or over that  are 
attributed to the Trust; and 

■	 62 day cancer waits – the percentage of patients treated within 62 days of referral from Gp. 

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the “indicators”. 

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance with the criteria set 
out in the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by the independent Regulator of NHs Foundation Trusts 
(“Monitor”). 
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our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that:
 
■	 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHs Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual; 
■	 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified below; and 
■	 the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited assurance in the Quality Report are 

not reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the detailed Guidance for external Assurance on Quality Reports. 

We read the Quality Report and considered whether it addresses the content requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual, and considered the implications for our report if we became aware of any material omissions. 

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is materially inconsistent with the 
sources specified below: 

The sources with which we shall be required to form a conclusion as to the consistency of the Quality Report are limited to: 

■	 Board minutes for the period April 2011 to April 2012; 
■	 papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2011 to April 2012; 
■	 Feedback from the Commissioners dated 29 May 2012;
■	 Feedback from liNKs dated 9 May 2012; 
■	 The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the local Authority social services and NHs 

Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 2011/2012; 
■	 The national outpatient survey, dated 2011 and  national inpatient survey dated 2011
■	 The national staff survey dated 20 March 2012;
■	 Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles dated  April 2011 to March 2012;
■	 The Head of internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 15 May 2012 and 
■	 Feedback from other named stakeholders involved in the sign off of the Quality Report – governors, dated 15 May 

2012. 

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies 
with those documents.   our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the institute of Chartered 
Accountants in england and Wales (iCAeW) Code of ethics. our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts.

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Board of Governors of Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Board of Governors in reporting Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s quality 
agenda, performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 
March 2012, to enable the Board of Governors to demonstrate that it has discharged its governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Board of Governors as a body and Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust for our work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with international standard on Assurance engagements 
3000 (Revised) – “Assurance engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial information” issued by the 
international Auditing and Assurance standards Board (“isAe 3000✓). our limited assurance procedures included:

■	 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing and reporting the 
indicators; 

■	 Making enquiries of management; 
■	 Testing key management controls; 
■	 Analytical procedures; 
■	 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to supporting documentation; 
■	 Comparing the content requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to the categories 

reported in the Quality Report; and 
■	 Reading the documents. 
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A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, timing and extent 
of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 

Limitations 

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of different but 
acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different measurements and can impact comparability. 
The precision of different measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine 
such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may change over time. it is important to 
read the Quality Report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports are determined by Monitor. This may result in the omission of 
information relevant to other users, for example for the purpose of comparing the results of different NHs Foundation 
Trusts/organisations/entities.  in addition, the scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or 
non-mandated indicators which have been determined locally by Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion 

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the year 
ended 31 March 2012: 
■	 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHs Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual; 
■	 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified above; and 
■	 the indicators in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance have not been reasonably stated in all material 

respects in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data 
quality set out in the detailed Guidance for external Assurance on Quality Reports. 

KpMG llp 
statutory Auditor
st. James’ square
Manchester
M2 6ds

30 May 2012
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6. Regulatory Rating
detailed below is a table identifying the Trust’s planned quarterly risk rating as submitted to Monitor compared with how 
the Trust actually performed against those plans over the last three years.

  Annual Plan Q1 2011/12 Q2 2011/12 Q3 2011/12 Q4 2011/12

Financial Risk rating 2 1 1 2 2 

Governance Risk rating Amber/Red Red Red Red Red

Mandatory services Green Green Green Green Green

  Annual Plan Q1 2010/11 Q2 2010/11 Q3 2010/11 Q4 2010/11

Financial Risk rating 3 3 2 2 2 

Governance Risk rating Amber/Red Amber/Red Amber/Red Red Red

Mandatory services Green Green Green Green Green

  Annual Plan Q1 2009/10 Q2 2009/10 Q3 2009/10 Q4 2009/10

Financial Risk rating 3 3 3 3 3 

Governance Risk rating Amber Amber Amber Red Amber

Mandatory services Green Green Green Green Green

The table indicates that the Trusts financial risk rating (FRR) fell to a 2 in quarter 2 of 2010/11 which is in breach of its 
Terms of Authorisation, as all Foundation Trusts need to maintain a FRR of 3 to remain within their Terms of Authorisation. 
As a consequence of this the Trust had to submit a revised financial plan for 2010/11 in december 2011. Monitor reviewed 
the Trust’s position and in February 2011 found the Trust to be in significant breach of its Terms of Authorisation. This 
breach also meant that the Trust was classified as red for Governance.

The Trust submitted a two year (2011/12-2012/13) Financial Recovery plan (FRp) to its independent regulator Monitor in 
May 2011. This financial recovery plan was developed such that it addressed the financial concerns, whilst ensuring that 
quality and performance targets are maintained. As can be seen from the table above, the financial recovery plan did not 
see the Trust returning to a financial risk rating of 3 in 2011/12, but planned for an FRR of 2, which was achieved in quarter 
three. As a consequence of maintaining an FRR of 2, the Trust remains red for governance. At the point of compiling the 
Annual Report, it is anticipated that the Trust will be in financial balance in 2012/13.

7. Director and Auditors Statements
Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

The NHs Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHs foundation trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for 
which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHs Foundation Trust Accounting 
officer Memorandum issued by the independent Regulator of NHs Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

under the NHs Act 2006, Monitor has directed Tameside Hospital NHs foundation trust to prepare for each financial year 
a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts direction. The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Tameside Hospital NHs foundation trust and of its 
income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
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in preparing the accounts, the Accounting officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:

	 •	 observe the Accounts direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements,  
  and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
	 •	 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
	 •	 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual   
  have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and 
	 •	 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the NHs foundation trust and to enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with 
requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the NHs foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, i have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor’s NHs 
Foundation Trust Accounting officer Memorandum.

signed

Chief executive ………………………………………………                date 

Annual Governance Statement 

Scope of responsibility

As Accounting officer, i have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achieve-
ment of the NHs foundation trust✓s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental 
assets for which i am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. i am also responsible 
for ensuring that the NHs foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied ef-
ficiently and effectively. i also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHs Foundation Trust Accounting officer 
Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achieve-
ment of the policies, aims and objectives of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The system of internal control has been in place in Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 
2012 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk

The Board of directors provides leadership on the overall governance agenda. The Risk Management and Corporate Gov-
ernance Committee is the Board Committee, which oversees all risk management activity and ensures the correct strategy 
is adopted for the management of risk, ensuring controls are present and effective and that there are robust action plans in 
place for those risks which remain. The committee is chaired by a non executive director with executive director member-
ship, director of Human Resources and senior risk management personnel. The Trust has kept under review and updated 
the Risk Management strategy and policy which describes the Trusts approach and processes for managing risk and the 
roles and responsibilities of its staff. Whilst the Risk Management and Corporate Governance committee reports directly to 
the Board through me, it also works closely with the Audit Committee and the Quality and Clinical Governance Committee. 
These three committees through their annually reviewed Terms of reference triangulate their work to enable full and robust 
scrutiny and management of significant risk.



Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust
ANNuAl RepoRT 2011 /12

89

The	specific	role	of	each	executive	director	is	detailed	below;

	 •	 The director of Nursing is jointly responsible with the Medical director for clinical risk and patient safety.  The
  Nursing director is also responsible for ensuring that clinical risk is identified and managed, and that clinical   
  governance structures in the organisation are effective.

	 •	 The Medical director is jointly responsible with the director of Nursing for clinical risk and patient safety.  The
  Medical director is also responsible for the clinical effectiveness of services, managing medical staff performance
  and clinical standards and also acts as the Caldicott Guardian for the Trust.

	 •	 The director of Finance is responsible for the financial aspects of business risk, for implementing systems to
  prevent fraud and corruption and for ensuring security of financial systems within the organisation. He is
  also responsible for minimising risk in relation to failure of information systems, and to provide assurance in
  respect of information governance.

	 •	 Risk Management Training is provided  to all relevant staff as part of the Trust’s Mandatory Core Training day,
  and covers Health & safety, Risk Assessment, Risk Action planning, incident reporting  and incident investigation. 
  Training provided during 2011/12 continues to cover wider Corporate Governance aspects in addition for
  example clinical litigation, data protection Act and Freedom of information requirements. Risk is routinely
  monitored from ward to Board.

The Risk and Control Framework

The Trust has a “Risk Management strategy, policy and Guidance” (2011) document which is subject to annual review. 
The main elements of this strategy, which ensures full coverage of risk identification, assessment, response, reporting and 
review are as follows:

	 •	 The adoption of clear management structures and responsibilities throughout the organisation reporting to the   
  Board of directors
	 •	 effective systems for risk assessment, risk analysis and for determining the Trust’s risk appetite – which includes  
  the adoption of a standard risk scoring system. staff managing risks regularly review risks and output from risk   
  register to ensure it remains valid, reflects change and helps the Trust in its decision making
	 •	 The use of an up to date  central register for the prioritisation of risk and development of action plans covering   
  both clinical and non clinical risks
	 •	 An assurance framework that maps Trust objectives to risks, controls and assurances
	 •	 The provision of relevant training for staff.

Risk management within the Trust utilises a number of approaches including the following:

Risk  identification and assessments involving the analysis of individual risks which includes an assessment of likelihood 
and impact on achieving corporate objectives; serious incident investigations; incident reporting; complaints management 
including review and analysis of trends; compliance with legislation/national guidance; external reviews and accreditation 
processes and audit reports; reviews of claims against the Trust; dr Foster data, particularly “red bells”;  national staff and 
patient surveys; sickness absence information and staffing levels.

Risk appetite can be defined as “The amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate, or be exposed to 
at any point in time”.  The Trust has an established risk assessment process and uses a well recognised framework to rate 
or score a risk. A risk is rated using a matrix of consequence (the impact) versus likelihood (frequency) of the risk occurring.  
The document “Risk Management strategy, policy and Guidance” (2011) sets out the Trust’s approach and expectations in 
relation to risk appetite. This recognises that the Trust’s risk appetite is not necessarily static. The Trust Board may wish to 
vary the amount of risk that it is prepared to tolerate depending on the circumstances at a given time. 
The Trust’s approach to risk appetite ensures that risks are considered in terms of both opportunities and threats and are 
not confined to the financial consequences of a risk materialising. Risks could also impact on the capability or capacity of 
the Trust, its performance and its reputation. 
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The Trust’s risk strategy has been developed to ensure the systematic analysis, identification, monitoring and 
communication of risks associated with any activity, function or process performed within the Trust. This is embedded 
into the Trust by:
	 •	 clear structures and responsibilities with explicit links for reporting up to the Trust Board, a system for risk 
  assessment  involving the analysis of individual risks to identify and minimise risk where possible. The assessment  
  evaluates the impact and likelihood of each risk and prioritises based on the overall level of exposure to risk. For   
  each risk controls are developed, documented and understood,
	 •	 a system for risk reporting whereby all significant risks are reported at each formal meeting of the Risk    
  Management and Corporate Governance Committee
	 •	 systems to monitor, control and learn from untoward incidents, maintaining an up to date central risk register, and
  ensuring all employees are aware of the importance of managing risks and their responsibilities.

The management of risk is fully embedded throughout the Trust. All areas of the Trust have detailed risk registers which are 
regularly reviewed by mangers upwards to divisional leads. The Risk Management committee regularly review divisional risk 
registers as part of its rolling programme of work.

The Board of directors seeks to continuously improve the quality of the services the Trust provides to its local population.
To this extent it actively seeks feedback from patients, members and governors and other stakeholders. directors regularly 
participate in walk-rounds in clinical areas to secure feedback from patients and visitors, engage with frontline clinical 
teams and provide feedback to evaluate the overall patient experience in respect of safety and quality of services provided. 
An external reference stakeholder group consisting of membership of all key stakeholders provides a useful forum in this 
area. 

The Trust is a member of the NHslA Clinical Negligence scheme and holds the highest rating (level 3) for acute services 
and level 1 for Maternity services with a planned level 2 for december 2012.

Quality Governance Arrangements

Care Quality Commission Registration
The director of Nursing and Medical director are joint executive leads for ensuring compliance with all relevant clinical 
registration regulations. Compliance is reviewed and overseen by;
Regular review and reporting to Trust executive Group of matters highlighted under the Care Quality Commission’s Quality 
and Risk profile
Analysis and trend identification of incident reports, complaints, patient and staff surveys etc. 
Challenge via membership of and participation in meetings of the executive Team, Trust Board, Risk Management and 
Corporate Governance Committee and Quality and Clinical Governance Committee.

The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.
The Trust was fully registered with the CQC in June 2010. The CQC currently holds 5 minor and one moderate concern in 
respect of the Trust and in december 2011 issued a warning notice and report after a visit to the hospital in october 2011.  
An action plan has been produced and implemented in response to the concerns raised by the CQC.  The plan seeks to 
address the immediate issues identified by the CQC, and also to stimulate the cultural change which the Trust needs to 
achieve to ensure The Trust has submitted its action plan to the CQC to demonstrate how compliance is to be achieved 
and maintained going forward and has used its internal audit partners to undertake limited systems development work to 
improve a number of issues including documentation. The Trust received a further visit by the CQC on the 20th April. 2012. 
The visit reviewed 6 outcomes to assess whether the Trust had taken action in respect of previous findings. The following 
table summarises the CQC’s findings;

outcome 4 - Care and welfare of people 
who use services

Compliant

outcome 5 -Meeting nutritional needs Compliant

outcome 9- Management of medicines Minor concern

outcome 13- staffing Compliant

outcome 16 - Assessing and monitoring the 
quality of service provision

Minor concern

outcome 21 -Records Minor concern



Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust
ANNuAl RepoRT 2011 /12

91

Information Governance

overall responsibility for data security rests with the director of Finance and iT, who performs the role of senior information Risk officer 
(siRo) within the Trust. The Trust has a formal information Governance Committee which is chaired by the siRo. The committee’s 
terms of reference include ensuring the review of evidence to ensure the maintenance of effective information governance processes 
and procedures with risk based and proportionate safeguards. As part of the committees work during 2011/12 to address data security 
risks, an information Asset Register has been established. information Asset owners and information Asset Administrators have been 
identified.  They advise the siRo of the security of the information assets they control.
  
The Trust has undertaken a self assessment against the information Governance Toolkit for 2011/12 and has achieved a level 2 rating 
for 42 of the 45 standards with 1 standard being deemed as non applicable. The two standards;

	 •	 standard 9-324 pseudonymisation and anonymisation of service user information and;
	 •	 standard 9-604 Audit of Corporate Records

which fell below level 2 are subject to action plans to further enhance performance. This will ensure that the Trust achieves level 2 
against all requirements as soon as practicable. 

Pensions

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHs pension scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all employer 
obligations contained within the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer✓s 
contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Quality, Diversity and Human Rights

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are 
complied with.

Carbon Reduction

The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction delivery plans are in place in accordance with emer-
gency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on uKCip 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s 
obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources

The Trust has an agreed process to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to ensure resources are used economically, 
efficiently and effectively to fully secure value for money. This involves:

	 •	 agreeing a rolling annual financial strategy and plan,
	 •	 a rigorous process of annual budget setting and delivering cost improvements, 
 •	 review of standing Financial 
	 •	 instructions and schemes of delegation
	 •	 robust performance management arrangements; and commissioning external advice where the Trust 
  believes economy and efficiency can be improved.

The Board plays an active role by:

	 •	 The agreeing annually a set of corporate objectives reflected in its three year  financial and service strategy submitted to   
  Monitor through the Annual plan

	 •	 reviewing and holding the executive directors to account for the delivery of the corporate objectives, including financial   
  performance, financial risk and delivery against the cost improvement plan 

	 •	 approving the annual Capital programme and reviewing business cases and overseeing procurement for all major capital   
  investments.
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The Trust’s Audit Committee plays a key role on behalf of the Board in securing assurance on matters relating to economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. internal Audit recommendations and their implementation are overseen by the Audit 
Committee.

Monitor, the independent regulator of NHs foundation trusts found Tameside Hospital NHs foundation trust to be in 
significant breach of two of its Terms of Authorisation in March 2011 namely:

	 •	 Condition 2: the general duty to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically ; and
	 •	 Condition 5: its governance duty

The Trust submitted a two year Financial Recovery plan (FRp) to monitor in May 2011. The Trust has delivered its financial 
plan for 2011/12 which includes meeting its planned deficit target and Cip target. The Annual plan submitted to Monitor 
in May 2011 reflected the recovery plan and contained a financial plan with an overall Financial Risk Rating (FRR) of level 2 
which the Trust has met.

in addressing these issues, the Trust commissioned the services of pWC to:-

 i. undertake a review of its financial baseline and to assist the Trust in the development of its financial plan
 ii. undertake a review of its quality and clinical governance arrangements with a view to developing further ward to  
  board accountability

Both reviews have been undertaken and the Trust Board is satisfied with the outputs and actions taken in response.

 
Annual Quality report 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010(as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHs foundation 
trust boards on the form and content of the annual Quality Reports which incorporates the above legal requirements in the 
NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

Tameside Hospital exploits its well established, but further developing clinical governance framework in the development of 
the Quality Account, making due reference to the Board, Council of Governors and colleague organisations, namely NHs 
Tameside & Glossop, Tameside liNk and Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (overview and scrutiny Committee), 
performance and outcomes identified within the Quality Report arte monitored by the Trust Board, Trust executive Group 
and Council of Governors.  The Nurse and Medical directors (joint Trust executive leads for clinical governance) are full 
members of the two former groups, whilst the director of Nursing attends all Council of Governors meetings, with the 
Medical director present on an ad hoc basis.  There is a specific Board committee for clinical quality, including the setting 
of the Trust’s strategy, the Quality & Clinical Governance Committee, which is chaired by a non executive director and 
includes the Medical and Nursing directors, Chief executive, Medical patient safety lead, another medical consultant and 
the Chief pharmacist in its membership.  The Nursing and Medical directors chair alternate meetings of the Clinical Audit, 
patient safety and effectiveness Committee (CApseC), reflecting an agenda which alternates between mortality, safety 
and clinical indicators, and clinical audit,  The Clinical Governance Accountability Committee delivers the agenda for clinical 
governance at an operational level within the organisation, receives reports from internal and external reviews and monitors 
compliance against required local and national benchmarks.  it reports to the Quality and Clinical Governance Committee 
and is chaired by the Medical director.  The Clinical lead (lead Consultant) from each division attends meetings of the 
Committee, along with other senior clinical managers.

A patient safety strategy has been developed and implemented by the Medical and Nursing directors and Medical patient 
safety lead and endorsed by the Board.  during 2012/13, the metrics used in patient safety strategy will be incorporated 
into the Quality Account metrics, giving greater coherence and integration. As noted above, during 2011/12 the Trust 
invited pWC to undertake a review of its quality and clinical governance arrangements with a view to developing further 
ward to board accountability.  This gave rise to an action plan, the implementation of which has been overseen by the 
Medical and Nursing directors.  The Commissioning for Quality and innovation (CQuiN) contract has provided the Trust 
with a process for the external scrutiny of a number of elements of its quality activities.  information generated from the 
Trust’s CQuiN activities have been reviewed monthly by the Trust’s main commissioner, NHs Tameside & Glossop.

The Trust has a contract with dr Foster intelligence to provide high quality, fully benchmarked data, including mortality, 
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length of stay, day case rate and readmissions.  This forms the basis for a number of reports submitted to the Board and 
to other bodies within the organisation.

Review of effectiveness

As Accounting officer, i have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the executive 
managers within the NHs foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. i have drawn on the content of the quality report attached to this Annual report and other performance 
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. i have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the Board, the Audit, Quality and Clinical Governance and Risk Management and Corporate 
Governance Committees and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in 
place.

The Head of internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the 
Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of the internal audit work.  The Assurance Framework itself 
provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls which manage the risks to the organisation achieving its 
principal objectives has been reviewed.  My review is also informed by reports and assessments including those by:

	 •	 Care Quality Commission,
	 •	 internal audit,
	 •	 The Audit Commission,
	 •	 patient environment Assessment Tool (peAT), and
	 •	 NHslA Clinical Negligence scheme for Trusts

Internal Audit

With regards to the agreed internal audit programme for 2011/12 an internal audit review undertaken in June 2011 on 
complaints gave an overall “red” opinion. it was concluded that whilst the Trust had an adequately designed control frame-
work following testing it was found that compliance with this framework was not always adhered to in resolving complaints 
and that key messages were not always dealt with across the Trust. Follow up work requested by the Trust commenced in 
February 2012 and the internal Auditors confirmed that “adequate progress” had been made in implementing recommen-
dations made in the original report. A data quality report gave an overall amber/red opinion as a result of weaknesses in 
the design and/or operation of controls. Management action plans are designed and implemented to address the weak-
nesses identified and the Trust executive and the Audit Committee reviews progress against the implementation of agreed 
action plans.

The following groups and committees have been involved in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control:

The Trust Board of Directors 

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the organisation and monitoring the progress of the Trust 
against targets. The Board has established governance arrangements including an appropriate committee structure. 
The Board has an established Audit Committee, Quality and Clinical Governance Committee and Risk Management and 
Corporate Governance Committee. The Chairs (non executive directors) report to the Board at the first available meeting 
following each respective committee meeting.

The Audit Committee 
The Audit Committees key role is to review the integrity of the Trust’s financial statements and to ensure appropriate scru-
tiny and review of the trust’s financial and non-financial controls and management systems. The committee investigates 
the activities of the Trust and provides assurance to the Board of directors on the adequacy of the structures and process 
for risk management, audit and financial reporting.

The Quality and Clinical Governance Committee
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The Quality and Clinical Governance Committees key role is to ensure that an appropriate and effective system of quality 
governance is embedded throughout the Trust via its divisional structure. The committee reports directly to the Board 
as the main means of providing assurance about the systems and processes for monitoring and continually improving 
the quality of care provided to patients. The committee also ensures that the Trust responds appropriately and effectively 
to serious clinical incidents (red incidents) and other risk and incident data it receives which have potentially significant 
implications for the Trust’s clinical services. Two key committees, the Clinical Governance Accountability Committee (qv) 
and the Clinical Audit, patient safety and effectiveness Committee (qv) report to the Quality and Clinical Governance 
Committee.

The Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee
 
The key role and priority for the Risk Management and Corporate Governance committee is to secure effective risk 
management practices and to make certain that the culture of risk management and the risk management process is fully 
embedded throughout all of the Trust. The committee has developed and maintained the Board Assurance Framework 
and the Corporate Risk Register, and managed accountability arrangements for the routine reviewing of directorate and 
divisional Risk Registers.

Conclusion

The Trust is committed to working towards achieving financial break even and subsequently a Financial Risk Rating of 3 as 
soon as feasible.  An action plan has been put in place and implemented to address the warning notice issued by the Care 
Quality Commission.

 
signed       date 

Chief executive       

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF TAMESIDE 
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HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

We have audited the financial statements of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2012 
which comprise the statement of Comprehensive income, statement of Financial position, statement of Changes in Tax-
payers’ equity, statement of Cash Flows and the Notes to the Accounts. These financial statements have been prepared 
under applicable law and the accounting policies set out in the statement of Accounting policies. 

This report is made solely to the Board of Governors of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust in accordance with 
schedule 10 of the National Health service Act 2006.  our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Board of Governors of the Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Board of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and the auditor

As described more fully in the statement of Accounting officer’s Responsibilities, the accounting officer is responsible for 
the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion 
on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and international standards on Auditing (uK and ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing practice’s Board’s ethical standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
accounting officer and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  in addition we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. if we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

in our opinion the financial statements:

	 •	 give a true and fair view of the state of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2012   
  and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; and

	 •	 have been prepared in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2011/12. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts

in our opinion the information given in the directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report where under the Audit Code for NHs Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion, the Annual Governance statement does not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in the NHs Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading or is not consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and other information of 
which we are aware from our audit of the financial statements. 

We are not required to assess, nor have we assessed, whether all risks and controls have been addressed by the Annual 
Governance statement or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

Qualified certificate
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under section 62(1) of the National Health service Act 2006, we have a duty to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

on 1 March 2011, Monitor issued a notice to the Board of directors and the Board of Governors of the Trust. The notice 
stated that Monitor was satisfied that the Trust had contravened and was failing to comply with Condition 2 of its Terms of 
Authorisation, which requires the Trust to exercise its functions “effectively, efficiently and economically” and that Monitor 
was satisfied that the contravention and failure were significant under section 52(1) of the Act.  

The Trust has a financial recovery plan in place to address its financial position.  during 2011/12, the Trust has made 
progress against this plan.  Nonetheless, as at 31 March 2012, the Trust remained in significant breach of Condition 2 of its 
Terms of Authorisation.

As a result of the matters discussed in the notice issued by Monitor, we are not satisfied that Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 
the year ended 31 March 2012.

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust in accordance 
with the requirements of Chapter 5 of part 2 of the National Health service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHs Founda-
tion Trusts issued by Monitor.

Trevor Rees for and on behalf of KpMG llp, statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
st. James’ square
Manchester
M2 6ds

30 May 2012

8. Financial Statements	

8.1 overview
Tameside Hospital NHs foundation trust is in its fourth full year of operating as an NHs Foundation Trust. The Trust 
submitted a two year Financial Recovery plan to Monitor in May 2011, its independent regulator, due to reporting a 
normalised deficit in 2010/11 of £1.19m. The financial year 2011/12 is the first year of the recovery plan and the foundation 
trust has delivered against this plan. Building upon this performance and after making enquiries the directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the NHs Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

The directors considered the following factors in concluding that the organisation is a going concern;

	 •	 outturn position for 2011/12 and the 2012/13 annual plan, 
	 •	 The level and basis of expected income for 2012/13 and fully signed off contracts and agreed activity levels,
	 •	 Robust and full impact assessment of the  impact of payment by Results tariffs specifically in 2012/13 but going  
  forward 
 •	 2011/12 outturn cash flow position and robust 13 week roll forward cash management, including    
  sensitivity analysis,
	 •	 An agreed capital expenditure programme for 2012/13 risk assessed reflecting the requirements of the   
  foundation trust in delivering its mandatory goods and service schedule, 
	 •	 Contractual agreement with its main commissioner  NHs Tameside & Glossop to the Trust’s overall service   
  strategy including full recognition of future commissioner intentions and 
	 •	 Full identification of potential downsides and upsides, incorporating into the financial plan for 2012/13 including   
  the potential impact of planned demand management initiatives.
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8.2 Financial position
The Trust’s accounts are included in the annual accounts section of this report and show a deficit of £4.78m for the year 
prior to exceptional costs of £2.89m for impairments and £0.74m for restructuring, and exceptional income of £1.83m 
relating to the reversal of an impairment, resulting in a deficit of £6.57m.  The original financial plan agreed with Monitor 
had planned a deficit of £4.9m for the year prior to exceptional costs. 

The table below summarises the income and expenditure position for the year.

  2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

 £m £m £m

Operating Income income from activities 132.94 130.13 127.54

 other operating income 10.62 15.55 11.69

 Total income 143.56 145.68 139.23

Operating Expenses pay costs 95.75 98.27 94.92

 Non-pay costs 42.50 40.23 35.55

 Total costs 138.26 138.50 130.47

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 5.31 7.19 8.77

Technical Items loss on asset disposal 0.00 0.08 0.10

 exceptional Costs (fixed asset impairment) 2.89 22.79 4.95

 exceptional income (impairment reversal) 1.83   

 exceptional Costs (Restructuring Costs) 0.74 0.00 0.00

 depreciation 5.33 4.77 5.12

 Finance income 0.05 0.07 0.06

 income from donated depreciation Assets 0.04 0.00 0.00

 Finance expenses - financial liabilities 2.94 1.63 0.16

 pFi Contingent Rent 0.35 0.00 0.00

 Finance expenses -unwinding discount on provisions 0.07 0.00 0.01

 pdC dividends payable 1.48 1.96 2.74

Surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations (6.57) (23.98) (4.24)

Surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations - 
excluding exceptional costs/income

(4.78) (1.19) 0.71

The Trust’s cash balances as at the 31st March 2012 were £9.145m against a planned target of £0.226m.

8.3 Financial performance
Key headline financial indicators are as follows;

	 •	 The Trust closed the year with a deficit of £4.78m, excluding exceptional costs.
	 •	 The year end cash balances were £9.145m with no draw down on the working capital facility at any point during   
  the year
	 •	 Capital investment of £3.25m
	 •	 Achievement of £9.4m Cip in year: £10.6m recurrently
	 •	 private patient income totalled £24k or 0.02 % of total patient income i.e. well within the Monitor private patient   
  cap set of 0.1%.
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8.4 Financial Risks
Key financial risks during 2011/12 included:  

	 •	 delivery of the required Cost improvement programme 
	 •	 delivery of significant additional non-elective activity above contract within existing staffing and physical capacity
  resources supplemented by the use of bank and agency staff, but at only thirty percent of tariff for activity in   
  excess of 2008/09 levels
	 •	 Non payment for re-admissions to a hospital within thirty days of discharge
	 •	 loss of income re CQuiNs, Quality Bonus payment income, and/or contract penalties
	 •	 excess inflation and pay award costs above funding received through tariff uplift
	 •	 increased use of locum medical staff pending substantive recruitment
	 •	 Non delivery by the NHs Tameside & Glossop of its Quipp plans which aimed to reduce admissions to hospital.

8.5 income / Contract Activity
The Trust’s lead commissioner had set contract baselines for 2011/12 lower than the 2010/11 outturn due to an expected 
reduction in activity following the pCT’s planned introduction of demand management schemes which aimed to reduce 
the flow of both elective and non-elective activity to the hospital.  However ongoing pressures in achieving the targets and 
dealing with emergency activity resulted in significant over performance against the contract for non-elective activity.  The 
majority of the Trust’s clinical income is based on payment by Results and the Trust has agreed payment for all activity 
delivered during the year, with the exception of non-elective activity in excess of 2008/09 levels which were paid for at only 
30% of tariff. The 30% payment resulted in the Trust losing income of £1.68m for the work undertaken.

8.6 income
income in 2011/12 totalled approximately £143.5 million.  The majority of the Trust’s income (£131.6 Million; 91.7%) comes 
from primary Care Trusts (pCTs) for health care services provided to patients during the year.  services provided to NHs 
Tameside and Glossop (previously Tameside and Glossop primary Care Trust) account for 88% of all income received from 
pCTs. 

other operating income relates to services provided to other Trusts; training and education; charitable contributions, and 
miscellaneous fees and charges.

A breakdown of income is provided in tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 below.

Table 1- Analysis of Sources of Income 1 April 2011 - 31 March 2012
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Table 2 – Analysis of Income from Primary care Trusts 1 April 2011 – 31 March 2012

 2011/12 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

 % £m £m £m

Tameside and Glossop 88% £115.7 £112.9 £109.5

oldham 5% £7.1 £7.3 £7.7

Manchester 4% £4.9 £4.9 £5.6

stockport 1% £1.2 £1.0 £1.2

other pCTs 2% £2.6 £2.8 £2.5

Total pCT income 100% £131.6 £128.9 £126.3

Note: Quality bonus payment income (QBp) received from Tameside pCT was previously shown against other 
pCT’s. This income has been rebased for prior years and is now shown against Tameside and Glossop. 
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The activity associated with this clinical income is detailed in table 3 below

Table 3 - Analysis of Contract Activity

Analysis of Activity
2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 Increase Percentage 

Increase

     (Decrease) (Decrease)

 

    2010/11 to 
11/12

2010/11 to 
11/12

day Case spells 15,494 16,080 16,509 16,444 -586 -3.64%

elective inpatient spells 3,363 3,779 4,217 4,357 -416 -11.01%

Non-elective (emergency) 
spells

28,811 28,741 28,762 27,413 70 0.24%

Total Inpatients 47,668 48,600 49,488 48,214 -932 -1.92%

       

First outpatient Attendances  82,892      84,367   90,798 93,193 -1,475 -1.75%

Follow up outpatient 
Attendances

   126,164  126,778  119,321 120,066 -614 -0.48%

outpatient procedures 14,077 8,704 11,530 2,113 5,373 61.73%

Total Outpatients 223,133 219,849 221,649 215,372 -1,800 -0.82%

A & E Attendances 75,710 76,029 76,199 76,519 -319 -0.42%

The total number of inpatients and outpatients decreased by 1.92% and 0.82% respectively with a small decrease in A and 
e attendances of 0.42%.  Within in-patient activity the main cause of the decreased activity related to elective admissions, 
which fell by 416 spells equivalent to a reduction of 11.01%. in part this reduction in activity was due to the reduced number 
of additional sessions put on at premium rates but also reflects measures implemented by NHs Tameside and Glossop to 
manage down acute activity level. 

Table 4 analyses the income according to the type of patient seen. As can be seen from the table the Trust’s main source 
of income continues to be due to treating emergency admissions, with outpatient visits being the second largest source of 
income.

Table 4 - Analysis of Income from PCTs by Type

Analysis of Income 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

 £m £m £m

elective / planned same day income 20.80 21.50 21.95

Non-elective (emergency) spells 48.66 50.77 47.39

Total Inpatients 69.46 72.28 69.33

Total Outpatients 27.98 27.28 29.06

A & E Attendances 7.60 7.10 6.78

Other 26.63 22.20 21.18

TOTAL INCOME 131.66 128.85 126.35
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8.7 other operating income

other operating income totalled £10.62m for the year or 7.4% of the total income compared with 10.55% in 2010/11.  
A breakdown of the income is shown below.

Table 5 :- Analysis of Other Operating Income

 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

% £m £m £m

Research and development 2% 0.18 0.25 0.16

education and Training 37% 3.91 3.74 4.06

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 2% 0.17 0.22 0.32

Transfer to donated asset reserve 0% 0.00 0.39 0.12

Non-patient care service to other bodies 34% 3.62 4.12 4.67

other 26% 2.75 6.83 2.36

Total Other Operating Income 100% 10.62 15.55 11.69

other income decreased from £6.83m in 2010/11 to £2.71m in 2011/12. This is due to the receipt in 2010/11 of circa £5m for HiT 
transitional funding to cover the commissioning of the new hospital building and the double running costs associated with the new 
building prior to the demolition of the old hospital buildings. This funding also covered the costs of asbestos removal prior to demolition 
of the old building and costs of moving from the old to the new building. The vast majority of this funding was non-recurrent in nature, 
and is the primary reason for the reduction in other income.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in HM Treasury and 
office of public sector information Guidance in relation to the levying of charges for the provision of information.
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8.8 private patient income
The Trust generated £24k from private patient activity during the period (£33k in 2010/11), which accounts for 0.02% of 
total patient income.  To comply with the trust’s Terms of Authorisation as a Foundation Trust the Trust must ensure that 
the income received from treating private patients does not exceed a cap of 0.1% of total income.  The Trust is compliant 
with its obligation in this respect.

8.9 expenditure
An analysis of the Trust’s operating expenditure is detailed in tabular and graphical format below.

Table 6 :- Analysis of Operating Expenses 1st April 2011 - 31st March 2012

 2011/12 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

 % £m £m £m

staff costs 65% 95.7 98.3 94.9

drug Costs 4% 5.9 5.9 5.2

supplies and services - Clinical 7% 10.5 9.8 9.7

supplies and services - Non-clinical 4% 5.2 5.4 5.6

services from NHs organisations 2% 3.3 3.2 3.3

other Costs (inc. depreciation and impairments) 18% 26.6 43.5 21.8

Total Operating Expenses 100% 147.2 166.1 140.5

pay costs have reduced in year, reflecting the fact that there were no increases in pay as a result of a pay award, with only 
employees earning less than £21,000 receiving £250. in addition to this, the requirement to achieve efficiency savings 
means that it is necessary to reduce expenditure on pay in order to achieve such savings, as pay accounts for the largest 
element of a hospitals expenditure.
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it should be noted that in 2010/11 other costs included a charge of £22.791 million primarily in relation to impairment 
charges relating to the valuation of the new pFi building on their inclusion in the Trusts non-current assets as part of the pFi 
Health investment in Tameside (HiT) project to build the new hospital. in 2011/12 impairments arising from the site revalua-
tion have been considerably lower at £2.89m. The impairment is regarded as an exceptional item and does not impact on 
the Trust’s eBiTdA position.  Although it reduces the bottom line position to a deficit, it does not have any impact on cash 
as it is a non-cash item. 

The Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made under this legislation.
The Trust aims to pay all creditors within 50 days.

8.10 Value for Money
The Trust delivered the agreed Cost improvement programme (Cip) of £ 9.4m in 2011/12, compared with the £4.4m deliv-
ered in the previous year, although some savings were on a non-recurrent basis to ensure that the in year target was met. 
Recurrently the Trust has achieved Cip of £10.6m compared with a planned delivery of £14.7m recurrently. An element of 
undelivered Cip was due to the inability to close beds due to the high level of emergency admissions to the Trust.

8.11 prudential Borrowing limit
The Trust is required to comply and remain within Monitors pBl set out in the “prudential Borrowing Code”. As an NHs 
Foundation Trust there are greater freedoms around borrowing money to finance capital investments, although there are 
limits to how much a Trust can borrow.  A Trust must be able to demonstrate that the borrowing is affordable and there are 
other conditions set out in the trust’s prudential Borrowing limit (pBl) which is issued by Monitor, the independent regula-
tor of Foundation Trusts. The maximum value of cumulative borrowing that the Trust may draw down is set with reference 
to the Trusts’ planned annual financial risk rating of 3, and is currently set at £59.7m, to reflect the investment in the pFi 
facilities, which are now deemed to be part of the Trusts non-current assets.  The Trust also has an approved working 
capital facility, for any short term cash flow issues, which must not exceed £10m. during the financial year the Trust did not 
have any requirement to borrow against its pBl, or draw down any of the working capital facility. The Trust has in place a 
working capital facility of £10m for 2012/13.

8.12 Cash investments
As a Foundation Trust, Tameside has the opportunity to invest surplus cash balances in order to generate increased inter-
est.  This interest contributes to the Trust’s overall financial position and therefore to investment in patient care.  The Trust 
has an investment policy and the Audit Committee oversees investment activity and monitors the returns on investments 
generated.  The Trust has adopted a prudent approach with regard to investments and while seeking to generate higher 
returns the key focus has been to safeguard the principle sums, which it has done. 
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8.13 performance against the Compliance Framework
All Foundation Trusts are required to demonstrate that they are operating within the Foundation Trust Compliance 
Framework.  A key component sets out the means by which the level of financial risk is assessed.  Trusts deemed as high 
risk of breaching their Terms of Authorisation are assigned a financial risk rating of 1, the highest i.e. “best” risk rating is 5. 

Tameside achieved a Risk rating of 2 for the financial year 2011/12 which is below the level required for authorisation as 
a Foundation Trust.  As a consequence of the Trust falling to a risk rating of 2 in 2010/11s Monitor deemed that the Trust 
was in significant breach of its Terms of Authorisation, and as such the Trust was required to produce a recovery plan for 
2011/12. The Trust subsequently produced a recovery plan, with a planned risk rating of 2 for 2011/12. The Trust has 
delivered against it’s recovery plan, but retains a financial risk rating of 2, which means that the Trust continues to be in 
breach of its terms of authorisation. The Table below shows the Trust’s performance against the metrics which support the 
calculation of the Risk Rating.

Financial Metric  2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

eBiTdA Margin %  3.7% 4.8% 6.3%

eBiTdA, % achieved of plan  108.0% 94.0% 81.5%

Return on Capital employed  0.0% 0.7% 3.9%

i & e surplus Margin %  -3.2% -0.95% 0.5%

liquid ratio (days)  -2.5 9.5 27

Overall Weighted Financial Risk rating 2 2 3

The tables below identify the quarterly performance against plan for the financial risk ratings for the last two years.

Financial Risk Rating - Actual performance compared to Monitor Plan

Financial Risk rating
Annual 

Plan
Q1 

2011/12
Q2 

2011/12
Q3 

2011/12
Q4 

2011/12

plan 2 1 1 1 2

Actual 2 1 1 2 2

Financial Risk rating
Annual 

Plan
Q1 

2010/11
Q2 

2010/11
Q3 

2010/11
Q4 

2010/11

plan 3 3 3 3 3

Actual 3 3 2 2 2
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8.14 Financial outlook for 2012/13
The Trust submitted a two year (2011/12-2012/13) Financial Recovery plan (FRp) to its independent regulator monitor 
in May 2011.  The Trust has delivered year one of this FRp with a normalised net deficit of £4.78m. As part of Monitor’s 
Compliance Framework the Foundation Trust  is assessed against a Financial risk Rating (FRR), which is used to assess 
financial risk and more specifically assess the likelihood of a financial breach of Tameside’s terms of authorisation. The risk 
rating is on a scale of 1 to 5, with 5 being the strongest and 1 being the weakest. The Trust delivered and overall FRR in 
2010/11 at level 2 and was consequently placed in significant breach. The Trust submitted a financial plan to Monitor for 
2011/12 with an overall Financial risk Rating (FRR) at level 2 and has met this standing at 2. The FRp for 2012/13 plans 
for a modest surplus with an overall FRR at 3 but overridden to a 2 due to a fragile liquidity position. The Trust expects to 
return to a clean FRR of level 3 in 2013/14. over the course of this period the Trust plans to have delivered efficiency levels 
standing at circa 20% this being consistent with the overall challenge to the NHs of saving £20 billion.

A key driver to the delivery of the financial plan for 2012/13 is a change and transformation programme delivering 
efficiencies of £10.2m. This presents a significant challenge for the year ahead. This level of change is against the context 
of the overall economic climate and pressures on public spending as noted above. The focus in achieving the required 
overall efficiency level will build on the robust performance in 2011/12 and we will  continue our focus upon increased 
quality , efficiency  and  productivity aspects  acting as key enablers to enhance the overall patient experience  and ensure 
delivery of our triple offer to patients of improved levels of  clinical effectiveness, patient safety overall while safeguarding 
the financial sustainability of the Trust.

The  financial plan for 2012/13 is underpinned by activity levels  based upon a forecast  outturn position for 2011/12 
priced under the revised payment by Results (pbR) tariffs for 2012/13 and then reduced by £2.4m of activity to which NHs 
Tameside & Glossop believe through delivery of Qipp schemes will be catered for elsewhere.

8.15 Key Financial Risks
There will continue to be financial challenges facing Tameside Hospital and the key financial risks as the Trust enters the 
2012/13 financial year include:

	 •	 delivery of a £10.2m savings target which is £0.8m higher than the level of savings target in 2011/12
	 •	 potential contract penalties which may be applied by commissioners across a range of key performance indicators  
  including but not restricted to non achievement of C difficile, A&e and Cancer targets.
	 •	 delivery of a challenging range of new quality targets as part of the linkage between income and quality as   
  outlined under the Commissioning for Quality and innovation (CQuiN) national, regional and local schemes and   
  maintenance of performance across 2011/12 targets.
	 •	 A fragile liquidity position due to historic financial performance.

These risks are all being actively and assertively managed by the Board of directors.

8.16 Forward look
Tameside Hospital and the Board of directors are cognisant of the challenges facing the Trust in the current economic 
climate. The business change and improvement processes put in place in 2011/12 will continue to be built upon 
positioning the Trust strongly to face the considerable performance and financial challenges in front of it as we enter 
2012/13. The Trust will continue to focus its efforts on delivering continuous improvements to the quality and safety of our 
services by delivering optimal patient and operational processes that continue to be as efficient as possible.
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8.17 Capital investment Activity 2011/12
The Trust invested £3.25 million in the financial year 2011/12, with a further £3m being invested in the site as part of the 
pFi Contract.  The table below analyses the key capital investment by the Trust for the full financial year, with comparative 
data for previous years. The previous year’s capital expenditure is included to give a better overview of ongoing large 
schemes. 

The main scheme which commenced in 2010/11 is the redevelopment of the Accident & emergency department which is 
now complete.

Scheme 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

 £m £m £m

PFI Enabling Schemes:-    

Multi-storey Car park  0.00 0.00

pathology department  0.00 0.00

Multidisciplinary education & Training Centre   0.00

HiT equipping & iM&T  2.47 0.00

other enabling schemes 0.53 1.58 0.62

Other Trust Schemes:-    

Mortuary  0.00 1.51

Renal satellite unit  0.00 0.00

upgrade of electrical services   0.00

laminar flow Theatre                                0.00

pharmacy Aseptic unit   0.00

Accident & emergency scheme 1.09 1.52 0.00

    

Ward enhancements 0.30 0.47 0.95

other estate schemes                                                    0.22 0.27 0.76

pAC system (X-Ray imaging) 0.25  0.00

    

other iT schemes 0.46 0.73 0.17

    

Medical equipment 0.41 0.51 0.71

other  0.04 0.01

Capital Expenditure 3.25 7.57 4.73



Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust
ANNuAl RepoRT 2011 /12

107

8.18 Valuation of land and Buildings
The Trust had reviewed its approach to the valuation of assets, and in 2008/09 adopted a Modern equivalent Asset (MeA) 
basis for the valuation, instead of the previous method of depreciated Replacement Cost adopted by NHs Trusts.  The 
adoption of this approach was a requirement for all NHs and Foundation Trust organisations during 2009/10.  The Trust has 
undertaken a whole site re-valuation in 2011/12, on completion of all pFi project work on the site. This latest revaluation is 
reflected in the Trusts statement of position.  

8.19 Future investment plans
The Trust has undertaken a major hospital redevelopment project in conjunction with its private Finance initiative (pFi) partner 
Consort Healthcare, as part of the Health investment in Tameside (HiT) project.  This scheme has replaced old Victorian 
wards as well as providing new theatres and integrated support areas.

The scheme involved a mixture of funding approaches.  The initial major enabling works in 2007/08 were funded using public 
capital, and this work provided a multi-storey car park, a new pathology department, and a training and education centre.  
These schemes allowed the centre of the site to be freed up to enable the main new hospital build to take place.  The main 
hospital build was financed under the Government’s private Finance initiative which means that the private sector build the 
hospital using funds they have raised on the open market and once available for use the Trust pay an annual service charge.  
The annual service charge in relation to the new clinical facilities became payable in october 2010, when the new clinical 
facilities became operational. The final completion of the works will be in August 2011.  The contract with Consort Healthcare 
will expire in August 2041.  

The Trust’s capital programme for 2012/13 is expected to be similar in value to 2011/12 reflecting the completion of the new 
hospital building and associated work on the site. The main areas of expenditure in 2012/13 will be on medical equipment 
and iM&T schemes. in addition the Trust will continue to invest in ongoing general maintenance and improvement of the 
retained estate (i.e. the non-pFi buildings). 

Remuneration report

The Remuneration Committee (see page 36) For details of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee) comprises of the 
Chairman and all of the Non-executive directors of the Trust.  The quorum for a meeting of the Remuneration Committee 
is four members.  The role of the Remuneration Committee is to advise the Board on the appropriate remuneration and 
terms and conditions of employment of the Chief executive and executive directors of the Trust only.  in discharging this 
responsibility the Remuneration Committee comply with the annual guidance received from the department of Health 
concerning pay increases for “very senior managers” i.e. Chief executive and directors.

The Chief executive and executive directors are all employed on permanent contracts of employment and are entitled to give 
and receive three months notice of termination of contract.  The Chairman and Non executive directors are appointed by the 
Council of Governors for specified terms subject to reappointment thereafter at intervals of no more than three years.  Any 
term beyond six years (eg. Two three year terms) for an Non executive director will be subject to particularly rigorous review.  
The following information shown in the tables (subject to audit) is in respect of the period 1st April 2011 to the 31st March 
2012.

No performance related bonuses have been paid to any employees listed in the table below. The Trust does not operate a 
system of performance related bonus payments.



Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust 
ANNuAl RepoRT 2011 /12

108

SALARY & PENSION ENTITLEMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGERS TO 31 MARCH 2012

2011/12 2010/11

Name & Title
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000)

Other 
Renumeration 

(bands of £5000)

Benefits in Kind 
(Rounded to the 

nearest £100)

Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Other 
Renumeration 

(bands of 
£5000)

Benefits 
in Kind 

(Rounded to 
the nearest 

£100)

 £000 £000  £000 £000  

Mrs C Green
Chief executive

145-150 0-5 £4,700 145-150 0-5 £6,300

      

Mr d Jago (Note 1)
director of Finance

85-90 0-5 N/A N/A N/A N/A

      

Miss KJ Brown (Note 2)
director of Finance

20-25 N/A £1,200 105-110 0-5 £6,000

      

Mr T Mahmood
Medical director

45-50 110-115 N/A 45-50 115-120 N/A

      

Mr p dylak
executive director of Nursing

90-95 N/A N/A 90-95 N/A N/A

      

Mr p Williams (Note 3)
executive director of Clinical 
services

35-40 0-5 N/A N/A N/A N/A

      

Mr A Griffiths (Note 4)
executive director of Clinical 
services

50-55 0-5 N/A 90-95 0-5 N/A

      

Mr d B Wilkinson
executive director of Human 
Resources

80-85 0-5 £0 80-85 0-5 £100

      

Mr s Gardner (Note 5)
executive director of planning 
& performance 

N/A N/A N/A 35-40 N/A N/A

      

Mr p Connellan (Note 6)
Chairman

15-20 0-5 N/A N/A N/A N/A

      

T H presswood (Note 7)
Chairman

20-25 0-5 £100 40-45 N/A £100

      

Mr d Ward
Non-executive director / Audit 
Chair

10-15 0-5 £200 10-15 0-5 £300

      

Miss d A Bates (Note 8)
Non-executive director

10-15 0-5 N/A 10-15 0-5 N/A

      

Miss T Kalloo (Note 9)
Non-executive director

10-15 N/A N/A 0-5 0-5 N/A

      

Mr R Corless
Non-executive director

10-15 N/A N/A 10-15 N/A N/A

      

Mr A e Anderson
Non-executive director

10-15 N/A N/A 10-15 N/A N/A

      

Ms A Higgins (Note 10)
Non-executive director

0-5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Note 1 - Mr d Jago commenced in post on 23/5/2011
Note 2 - Miss K Brown terminated on 10/6/2011
Note 3 - Mr p Williams commenced in post on 1/11/2011
Note 4 - Mr A Griffiths terminated on 31/10/2011
Note 5 -  Mr s Gardner commenced secondment from 5/10/2010
Note 6 - Mr p Connellan commenced in post on 1/11/2011
Note 7 - T presswood terminated on 31/10/2011
Note 8 - Mrs d Bates terminated on 31/1/2012
Note 9 - Miss T Kalloo commenced in post on 25/11/2010
Note 10 - Ms A Higgins commenced in post on 1/2/2012

in line with the manual for accounts guidance agreement has been reached with the Chief executive that executive,

Non-executive, and directors who attend the Board Meetings only will be disclosed within this note.

Band of Highest paid director’s Total 
Renumeration (£000)

145-150 145-150

Median Total 
Renumeration

  £25,527 £24,884

Ratio   5.78 5.93

The median pay calculation is based on employees on the Trust payroll only, and represents the net salary costs of all 
individuals including basic pay, enhancements, acting up, additional duty payments, pA’s, banding supplements for doctors, 
CeA’s, maternity pay, arrears, overtime etc. The total pay has then been divided by the whole time equivalents paid in March 
to determine the full time equivalent salary cost, which has then been annualised. The median pay is based on the individual 
pay that was the median of all employees. in line with guidance the Chief executive is excluded from the calculation.
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Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Pension Benefits of Senior Managers 2011/12

Name & Title

Real 
Increase /
(decrease) 
in Pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 

£2500)

Lump Sum 
at age 60 
related 
to real 

increase/
(decrease) 
in pension 
(bands of 

£2500)

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at age 

60 at 31 
March 
2011 

(bands 
of £5000)

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2011 (bands 
of £5000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2011

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2010

Real 
Increase/
(decrease) 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value

Employers 
contribution 

to stakeholder 
pension

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Mrs C Green
Chief executive

0-2.5 (0-2.5) 65-70 200-205 £1,324 £1,210 £77 £54

        

Mr d Jago
director of 
Finance

0-2.5 5-7.5 30-35 95-100 £550 £432 £104 £62

        

Miss K J Brown
director of 
Finance

        

        

Mr T Mahmood
Medical director

0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 80-85 £492 £416 £44 £45

        

Mr p dylak
director of 
Nursing

0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 100-105 £642 £571 £53 £37

        

Mr p Williams
executive 
director of 
Clinical services

0-2.5 5-7.5 5-10 25-30 £151 £104 £44 £13

        

Mr A Griffiths
director of 
Clinical services

0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 100-105 N/A Retired N/A Retired N/A Retired N/A Retired

        

Mr d B 
Wilkinson
director 
of Human 
Resources

0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 60-65 £325 £260 £56 £39

        

* Miss K Brown - transferred to another pension provider

(above table represents audited information)

Chief executive ………………………………………………..                                       date    

A Cash equivalent Transfer Value (CeTV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular 
point in time.  The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A CeTV is 
a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the 
individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the 
disclosures apply.  The CeTV figures, and the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHs pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CeTVs are calculated within guidelines and framework prescribed 
by the institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CeTV – This reflects the increase in CeTV effectively funded by the employer.  it takes account of the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and 

uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
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TAMeside HospiTAl NHs FouNdATioN TRusT

Annual Accounts
For the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Foreword to the accounts for the period 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts for the period ended 31st March 2012 have been prepared by the Tameside Hospital NHs 

Foundation Trust in accordance with schedule 7, sections 24 and 25 of the National Health services Act 2006, 

in the form which Monitor, the independent regulator of NHs Foundation Trusts, has directed.

Christine Green

Chief executive
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

 2011/12 2010/11

NOTE £000 £000

Operating Income    

income from activities 3 132,938 130,131

other income 4 12,449 15,549

operating expenses 5 (147,179) (166,131)

Operating (deficit)  (1,792) (20,451)

   

Finance costs:    

Finance income 8 54 66

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 8 (3,292) (1,630)

Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions  (65) (1)

pdC dividends payable  (1,479) (1,963)

Net Finance Cost  (4,782) (3,528)

   

(Deficit) for the year  (6,574) (23,979)

   

Other comprehensive income    

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  0 (3,585)

in Year Revaluation Gain  5,241 0

Reduction in Revaluation Reserve in respect of disposal of donated Assets  0 (48)

Reclassification adjustments:    

- on disposal of non current assets held for sale  (24) 0

   

Total comprehensive income and expense for the year  (1,357) (27,612)

The notes on pages 6 to 40 form part of these accounts.
  
  All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2012

 31 March 2012 31 March 2011 1 April 2010

NOTE £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets     

intangible assets 9 0 0 421

property, plant and equipment 10 117,056 112,121 80,936

Trade and other receivables 13.1 1,787 1,160 832

Total non-current assets  118,843 113,281 82,189

Current assets     

inventories 12 1,347 1,346 1,528

Trade and other receivables 13 4,299 3,143 4,515

Non-current assets held for sale 14 710 904 0

Cash and cash equivalents 15 9,145 7,642 10,718

Total current assets  15,501 13,035 16,761

Total assets  134,344 126,316 98,950

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 16 (16,176) (10,868) (10,965)

Borrowings 17 (1,159) (850) (498)

Tax payable 18 (1,830) (1,853) (1,760)

other liabilities 18 (4,635) (3,139) (2,138)

provisions 22 (639) (469) (343)

Net current (liabilities)/assets  (8,938) (4,144) 1,057

Total assets less current liabilities  109,905 109,137 83,246

Non-current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 16 0 0 (7)

Borrowings 17 (57,960) (56,120) (2,742)

other liabilities 18 (150) 0 0

provisions 22 (757) (622) (490)

Total assets employed  51,038 52,395 80,007

Financed by taxpayers’ equity:     

public dividend capital soCiTe 53,168 53,168 53,168

Retained earnings soCiTe & 28 (25,539) (19,505) 4,134

Revaluation reserve soCiTe 23,409 18,732 22,705

Total Taxpayers’ Equity  51,038 52,395 80,007

The financial statements on pages 2 to 40 were approved by the Board on 30 May 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

signed: …………………………………(Chief executive)  date: 30 May 2012
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY

Public 
dividend 
capital 
(PDC)

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

    

Balance at 1 April 2010 53,168 4,134 22,705 80,007

   

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2010-11    

Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (23,979) 0 (23,979)

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses property, 
plant and equipment

0 0 (3,585) (3,585)

Asset disposals 0 0 (48) (48)

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation 
over historical cost depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve

0 340 (340) 0

Balance at 31 March 2011 53,168 (19,505) 18,732 52,395

    

Balance at 1 April 2011 53,168 (19,505) 18,732 52,395

   

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2011-12    

Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (6,574) 0 (6,574)

Revaluation in year gain on property, plant and 
equipment

  5,241 5,241

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses arising from 
classifying non current assets as Assets Held for sale

0 0 (24) (24)

Asset disposals 0 175 (175) 0

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation 
over historical cost depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve

0 365 (365) 0

Balance at 31 March 2012 53,168 (25,539) 23,409 51,038
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

2011/12 2010/11

NoTe £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

operating (deficit) as detailed on the statement of Comprehensive income soCi (1,792) (20,451)

depreciation and amortisation 5 5,334 4,765

impairments and reversals 5 1,066 22,791

(increase)/decrease in inventories 12 (1) 182

(increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 13 & 13.1 (1,898) 864

increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 16 5,441 (104)

increase in other current liabilities 18 1,624 1,094

increase in provisions 22 305 258

other movements in operating cashflow - loss on disposal of property, 
plant, and equipment. 5 (22) 83

other movements in operating cashflow - unwinding discount soCi (65) 0

Net cash inflow from operating activities 9,992 9,482

Cash flows from investing activities

interest received soCi 54 66

(payments) to acquire property, plant and equipment 10 (3,429) (8,015)

proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment 393 0

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (2,982) (7,949)

Net cash inflow before financing 7,010 1,533

Cash flows from financing activities

interest element of finance leases and private Finance initiative obligation soCi (3,292) (1,630)

Capital element of  private Finance initiative obligations (808) (1,155)

Capital element of Finance lease (43) (42)

pdC dividend paid as detailed on the statement of Comprehensive income soCi (1,364) (1,782)

Net cash (outflow) from financing (5,507) (4,609)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,503 (3,076)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  7,642 10,718

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15 9,145 7,642
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  
 Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHs Foundation Trusts shall meet with the accounting
 requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. 
 Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2011/12 NHs
 Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.  The accounting policies contained in the NHs
 Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual follow international Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) and HM
 Treasury’s Annual Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHs Foundation
 Trusts.  The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation
 to the accounts.  

1.1 Accounting convention
  
 These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation
 of  property, plant and equipment and intangible Assets at their value to the business by reference to their current
 costs. NHs Foundation Trusts, in compliance with HM Treasury’s Accounting Reporting Manual, are not required to
 disclose earnings per share or historical profits and losses.

1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations  

 Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ where they meet all of the following conditions:  

 a. the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector body) or termination is
  completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the commencement of the subsequent
  period and the date on which the financial statements are approved;

 b.  if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;  

 c.  the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHs Foundation Trust’s
 operations and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its withdrawal from a
 particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the NHs Foundation Trust’s continuing operations; and

 d. the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and
 for financial reporting purposes.

operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.
  
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.
  
1.3 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
  
 in the application of the NHs Foundation Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
 estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
 other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
 that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates, and the estimates and underlying
 assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
 estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
 revision affects both current and future periods.

1.3.1 Critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty in applying accounting policies  
 
 The following critical judgment and key sources of estimation uncertainty has been made in the process of applying
 the NHs Foundation Trust’s accounting polices.

 ·   use of going concern basis of preparing the accounts
 ·   valuation of plant, property and equipment and the lives selected
 ·   estimation of costs in relation to HiT scheme and timeliness of completion
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1.4 Income
  
 income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is
 measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  For patients whose treatment straddles the year end, this
 means income is apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay.  The main source of income
 for the NHs Foundation Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under local
 agreements, NHs Contracts.  

 The NHs Foundation Trust estimates the month 12 patient related income based on an average cost for the activity  
 delivered in the month for each specialty, as fully coded Healthcare Resource Group (HRG) data is not available in time for  
 the closure of the annual accounts.

 Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in future financial years, that income is deferred.
 
 income from sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is  
 measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

 The NHs Foundation Trust receives income under the NHs injury Cost Recovery scheme (CRu), designed to reclaim the  
 cost of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer.  The  
 NHs Foundation Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the department of Work and pension’s  
 Compensation Recovery unit  (CRu) that the individual has lodged a compensation claim.  The income is measured at the  
 agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and  
 doubtful debts.

1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
 
 salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from  
 employees.  The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in  
 the financial  statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6 Pension costs
  
 past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHs pensions scheme.  details of the benefits payable  
 under these provisions can be found on the NHs pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  The scheme is an  
 unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHs employers, Gp practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of  
 the secretary of state, in england and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHs  
 bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if
 it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHs Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the
 contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 
 
 in order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that
 would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between
 formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
 
 a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation  

 The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into  
 account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.

 The last formal actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHs pension scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March
 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. However, formal
 actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes have been suspended by HM Treasury on value for money
 grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future scheme terms are  
 developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision. employer and employee contribution rates are currently  
 being determined under the new scheme design.

 b) Accounting valuation 

 A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period.  
 Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years between formal valuations using updated membership data
 are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. However, as the interval since the last
 formal valuation now exceeds four years, the valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2012, is based on detailed
 membership data as at 31 March 2010 updated to 31 March 2012 with summary global member and accounting data. in
 undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in iAs 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the
 discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
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 The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the
 annual NHs pension scheme (england and Wales) pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts can be viewed   
 on the NHs pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The stationery office.

 c) Scheme provisions
 
 The NHs pension scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and   
 is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these   
 benefits can be obtained:

 The scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best   
 of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per
 year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the scheme Regulations have their annual pensions   
 based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

 With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump   
 sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”
 
 Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the pensions (increase) Act 1971, and are based on
 changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 september in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the   
 Consumer price index (Cpi) will be used to replace the Retail prices index (Rpi).

 early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of   
 fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity.  A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death   
 in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

 For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full
 amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.

 Members can purchase additional service in the NHs scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the   
 scheme’s approved providers or by other Free standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FsAVC) providers.

1.7 Expenditure on other goods and Services  

 expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received, and is measured at
 the fair value of those goods and services.  expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the   
 creation of non-current assets such as property, plant and equipment.
   
1.8 Property, Plant and Equipment  

1.8.1 Capitalisation  
 
 property, plant and equipment are capitalised where:-  
 - it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the NHs Foundation Trust;
 - it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;  
 - individually they have a cost of at least £5,000;    
 - collectively they have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are   
  functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous
   disposal dates and are under single managerial control;  or
 - they form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual   
  or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, e.g. plant and 
equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own economic lives.

1.8.2  Valuation

 All land and buildings are stated at their revalued amount.  plant and equipment assets are stated at their depreciated
 replacement costs.  upon initial recognition, all tangible assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including
 any costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them into working condition.  The carrying values of property,   
 plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value  
 may not be recoverable.  
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 All land and buildings are revalued using professional valuations in accordance with iAs16 at least every five years.  A  
 three yearly interim valuation is also carried out, as a minimum.  The NHs Foundation Trust may also consider additional  
 valuations due to significant changes in external environmental factors.  Valuations are carried out by professionally
 qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal institute of Chartered surveyors (RiCs) Appraisals and Valuation Manual.

 Valuations are normally carried out on the basis of depreciated replacement cost at the Modern equivalent Asset (MeA)  
 valuation for specialised operational property, this is in accordance with the requirements of RiCs Appraisal
 and Valuation Manual.  The Modern equivalent Asset valuation is the cost of replacing an existing building at current
 cost, using modern building equipment, structures and technology. Non-specialised operational property is valued at  
 existing use.  This is in line with department of Health guidance.  The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed
 at existing use value.  For non-operational properties including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at open
 market value.
  
 during 2011/12, the NHs Foundation Trust had a full site valuation as at 1st January 2012.  The NHs Foundation
 Trust would have a valuation for any new buildings when they are brought into use.

 properties in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the   
 five and three-yearly valuation or, for new buildings, when they are brought into use.

1.8.3  Subsequent Expenditure
 
 Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
 added to the asset’s carrying value.  Where subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to the specification
 assumed by its economic useful life, then the expenditure is charged to operating expenses.

1.8.4  Depreciation  

 items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual  
 value on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets
 held for sale.

 Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into operational use.
 
 Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of the asset as
 advised by the district Valuer.  leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.

 Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
 
 The useful economic life (uel) of any asset will be a minimum of 5 years when it is added to the NHs Foundation   
 Trust’s Asset Register.  The maximum life that an asset is expected to have is detailed below, identified by the different  
 categories.  The NHs Foundation Trust, assesses the asset individually to reflect the correct uel when adding the asset
 to the NHs Foundation Trust’s Asset Register, and reviews this and the residual value at the year-end.
   

Category Number of Years Maximum Useful Economic Life

BuildiNG eleMeNTs 60

eNGiNeeRiNG iNsTAllATioNs 25

dWelliNGs 60

oTHeR eNGiNeeRiNG plANT & eQuipMeNT 15

VeHiCles 7

FuRNiTuRe & FiTTiNGs 10

oFFiCe eQuipMeNT 5

sHoRT liFe MediCAl eQuipMeNT 5

MediuM liFe MediCAl eQuipMeNT 10

loNG liFe MediCAl eQuipMeNT 15

MAiNFRAMe iT 7

CApiTAlised ReVeNue 10

iT eQuipMeNT 5
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1.8.5  Revaluation and impairments
  
 increases in asset values arising from revaluation are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the  
 extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in  
 operating income. 

 decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserves to the extent that there is an available  
 balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

 Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the statement of Comprehensive income as an item
 of ‘other comprehensive income’.

 At the end of each financial year the NHs Foundation Trust reviews its property, plant and equipment assets for indications  
 of impairment, in line with requirements of HM Treasury, the NHs Foundation Trusts annual reporting manual for 2011/12,
 requires a divergence from iAs36 impairment of assets.  This distinguishes impairments that arise from a loss or consumption of 
 economic benefits or service potential from all other impairments.  This revised accounting treatment represents the change  
 in accounting policy.  prior period adjustment has not been made in these accounts.

1.8.6 De-recognition

 Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Non Current Assets Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:
 •     the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for 
  such sales;
 • the sale must be highly probable i.e.:
 •     management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;  
 •     an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;  
 •     the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;  
 •     the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and
 •     the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes  
  made to it.

 Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less  
 costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value less costs  
 to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been  
 met. 

 Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for   
 sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset, the asset is impaired and the economic life is adjusted. The asset is  
 de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

1.8.7 Donated fixed assets 
 
 donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on receipt and this value is credited to grant income on the  
 statement of Comprehensive income.  donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as described previously for   
 purchased assets. Gains on revaluations are taken to the Revaluation Reserve, with losses on revaluation being charged as  
 an impairment to the statement of Comprehensive income. 
 
1.8.8 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

 pFi transactions which meet the iFRiC 12 - service Concessions Arrangements,  definition of a service concession, as  
 interpreted in HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by  
 the NHs Foundation Trust. The underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment at their fair value as  
 determined in the operators’ model. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with iAs 17 - leases.

 The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the the charges  
 for services. The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.

 The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the statement  
 of Comprehensive income.

 An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. in  
 accordance with iAs 17 - leases,  this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as  
 contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. in substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the  
 expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the statement of Comprehensive income.
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 Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where they  
 meet the NHs Foundation Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the  
 operator and are measured initially at their fair value.  

 The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract  
 from the operators’ planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later  
 than expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively.

1.8.9 Leases

 leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the  
 lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 Finance Leases
    
 The asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded.  The value at which both  
 are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted  
 using the interest rate implicit in the lease.  The implicit rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the  
 outstanding  liability.

 The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and de-recognised when the liability is discharged,  
 cancelled or expires.  The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost.  The annual finance  
 cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest to the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance Costs in the statement  
 of Comprehensive income.

 Operating Leases  

 operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  operating lease  
 incentives are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

 Contingent Rentals  

 Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 Leases for Land and Buildings

 Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated.  leased land is treated as an  
 operating lease.  leased buildings are assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

 The Trust as Lessor

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  initial direct costs  
 incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and   
 recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.9 Intangible Assets 

1.9.1 Recognition   

 intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of  
 the NHs Foundation Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They are recognised only when:-
     •     it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the NHS Foundation Trust;   
     •     the cost of the asset can be measured reliably;   
     •     the cost is at least £5,000; and   
     •     the NHS Foundation Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

1.9.2 Software   

 software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of
 property, plant and equipment. software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is  
 capitalised as an intangible asset.
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1.9.3 Measurement
     
 intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and  
 prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
 
 subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. increases in asset values arising from revaluations are   
 recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously   
 recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. decreases in asset values and  
 impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned,  
 and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in  
 the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘Other Comprehensive Income’.

 Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

1.9.4 Amortisation
  
 intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of  
 economic or service delivery benefits.

1.9.5 Valuation 
 
 All intangible Assets are stated at their valuation amount, which is reviewed by management on an annual basis.

1.10 Inventories

 inventories are valued at:-.  
 pharmacy stock -  Weighted Average Cost. 
 other stock - lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis. 

 Management review inventory and make appropriate provision for old and obsolete items on a regular basis. 

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
  
 Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without any penalty on notice of not more than  
 24 hours.  interest earned on bank accounts is recorded as interest receivable in the periods to which they relate.  The  
 balances exclude monies held in the bank accounts belonging to patients (see “third party assets - note 1.17”).

 Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily   
 convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  interest earned on the investments is  
 recorded as interest receivable.  The NHs Foundation Trust has a Treasury Management policy in place which limits  
 investments to organisation who have a Fitch rating of AA+.  The maximum period permitted by the NHs Foundation  
 Trust for investments is for a period of 3 months and the maximum amount to be place with one entity is £2million.

1.12 Provisions
  
 The NHs Foundation Trust provides for legal and constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the  
 statement of Financial position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.   
 provisions are recognised where is it probable that there will be a future outflow of costs or other resource and reliable  
 estimate can be made of the amount.  Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-  
 adjusted cash flows are discounted using the HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.9% in real terms.

 Clinical negligence costs
     
 The NHs litigation Authority (NHslA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHs Foundation Trust pays   
 an annual contribution to the NHslA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims.  Although the   
 NHslA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHs 
 Foundation Trust, however all clinical negligence claims are recognised in the accounts of the NHslA.  Consequently, the
 NHs  Foundation Trust has no provision for the clinical negligence claims. The total value of clinical negligence provisions
 carried by the NHslA on behalf of the NHs Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 22. The provision represents the NHs  
 Foundation Trust’s liability in relation to excesses payable for claims incurred at the year end.
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Non-clinical risk pooling      

 The NHs Foundation Trust participates in the property expenses scheme and the liabilities to Third parties scheme.   
 Both are risk pooling schemes under which the NHs Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHs litigation  
 Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual membership contributions, and any  
 ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
    
1.13 Contingencies 
 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
 occurrence  of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHs Foundation Trust, or a present
 obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the  
 amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.  

 Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 22, unless the probability of a transfer of economic  
 benefits is remote.

1.14 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend 
 public dividend Capital (pdC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the  
 time of establishment of the original NHs Trust.  HM Treasury has determined that pdC is not a financial instrument within  
 the meaning of iAs 32.

 A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the NHs Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital
 dividend.  The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets  
 of the NHs Foundation Trust.  Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities,  
 except for donated assets and cash held with the Government Banking service.  Average relevant net assets are   
 calculated as simple mean of opening and closing relevant net assets.

 prior to 2009/10 the dividend was based on forecast average relevant net assets.  From 1st April 2009, the dividend  
 is based on actual average net assets.  Any variance from amount paid during the year based on forecast outturn are  
 included in current amount receivable or payable.  The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjust to net  
 assets occur as a result of the audit of the Annual Accounts.

1.15 Value Added Tax          

 Most of the activities of the NHs Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
 and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or  
 included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the  
 amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.16 Corporation Tax          

 The NHs Foundation Trust is a Health service Body with the meaning of s519A iCTA 1988 and accordingly is exempt from
 taxation in respect of income and capital gains with categories covered by this.  There is power for the Treasury to dis- 
 apply the exemption in relation to specified activities of a Foundation Trust (s519A (3) to (8) iCTA 1988).  Accordingly, the  
 NHs Foundation Trust is potential within scope of corporation tax in respect of activities which are not related to, or  
 ancillary to, the provision of healthcare, and where the profits exceed £50,000 per annum.

1.17 Third Party Assets       

 Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the  
 NHs Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  details of third party assets are given in note 25 to the accounts.

1.18 Losses and Special Payments       

 losses and special payments are items that parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
 service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore subject to  
 special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different categories, which  
 govern the way each individual case is handled.

 losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the statement of Comprehensive income  
 on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHs Foundation  
 Trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).  
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1.19 Financial Instruments          
        
 Recognition 
        
 Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
 (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust’s normal
 purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e.
 when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made. Trade receivables are recognised as Financial
 Assets, after making any provision for impairment that is deemed appropriate after reviewing the specific nature
 and circumstances relating to each receivable balance.  Trade Receivables are reviewed for impairment on an
 ongoing basis with particular focus on Trade Receivables which are greater than three months old.

 Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are
 recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy as described in note 1.8.9.

 All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the NHs Foundation Trust becomes a party to  
 the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 De-recognition
        
 All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the
 NHs Foundation Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
 
 Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.   
     
 Classification and Measurement
        
 Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’, ‘Loans and receivables’ or  
 ‘Available for Sale’ financial assets.

 Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other financial liabilities’. 
       
 Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’   
     
 Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or  
 financial liabilities held for trading. The NHs Foundation Trust does not hold any of this particular class.

 Loans and receivables
        
 loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not  
 quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.

 The NHs Foundation Trust’s loans and receivables comprise:  Cash and cash equivalents,  NHs receivables,  
 accrued income and ‘other receivables’.

 loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured   
 subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that  
 discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when   
 appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

 interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the statement of  
 Comprehensive income.
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 Available-for-sale financial assets          
 
 The NHs Foundation Trust recognises assets as Available for sale when the NHs Foundation Trust has made a
 strategic decision to sell a Financial Assets.  

 Other financial liabilities           
 All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured 
 subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
 that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when
 appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

 They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the statement of Financial   
 position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities. interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated  
 using the effective interest method and charged to Finance Costs.

 Determination of fair value
        
 For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined by reference to quoted
 market prices, independent appraisals or discounted cash flow analysis.

 Impairment of financial assets
        
 At the statement of Financial position date, the NHs Foundation Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than   
 those held at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are
 recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the
 initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
 asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective   
 interest rate. The loss is recognised in the statement of Comprehensive income and the carrying amount of the asset is   
 reduced directly.

1.20 Subsidiaries
       
 The NHs Foundation Trust does not currently have any subsidiaries.       
 
 For 2011/12, in accordance with the directed accounting policy from the secretary of state, the NHs Foundation Trust does  
 not consolidate the NHs charitable funds for which it is the corporate trustee.

1.21 Accounting Standards which have been issued but which have not yet been adopted 

 The Treasury Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following standards to be applied in 2011/12: 

 iAs 1   presentation of financial statements (other Comprehensive income) - subject to consultation 
 iAs 12   income Taxes (amendment) – effective 2012/13 but not yet adopted by the eu 
 iAs 27   separate Financial statements  - subject to consultation 
 iAs 28   investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - subject to consultation 
 iFRs 7   Financial instruments: disclosures (annual improvements)  - effective 2012/13 but not yet adopted by the eu 
 iFRs 9   Financial instruments - subject to consultation 
 iFRs 10   Consolidated Financial statements  - subject to consultation 
 iFRs 11   Joint Arrangements  - subject to consultation 
 iFRs 12   disclosure of interests in other entities  - subject to consultation 
 iFRs 13   Fair Value Measurement - subject to consultation

 The application of the standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts of the NHs Foundation Trust   
 for 2011/12, were they applied in that year.
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS          
 
 The NHs Foundation Trust considers the Board to be the Chief operating decision Maker (CodM) because it
 regularly reviews operating results, makes decisions about where resources are allocated as a result and
 assesses performance. 

 income and expenditure arises from the following segments, the NHs Foundation Trust
 reports monthly to the Board on a distinct and separate basis and therefore they have been disclosed
 separately in the financial statements:-

 • Elective Services          
 
 • Emergency Services          
 
 • Women & Children’s Services         
  
 • Other Services 
          
 The NHs Foundation Trust provides the service of NHs Healthcare to the general public the majority of whom  
 are based in england and the above detailed segments are the key operational segments that the NHs   
 Foundation Trust uses to make management decisions.

 each month the NHs Foundation Trust reports to the Trust Board, operating income and expenditure split
 between Clinical income and Non Clinical income, pay expenditure and Non pay expenditure.  The NHs
 Foundation Trust also reports Non operating income and expenditure including exceptional items.

 The majority of the Clinical income is received from NHs Tameside & Glossop, which generated income   
 amounting to 85% of the NHs Foundation Trust’s total income. This customer generated income of   
 £113.422m which is reported in the segments detailed opposite.  
 

 

 

 

 Note: other services segment includes all the overhead cost of running the NHs Foundation Trust, such as estate costs,
 support services such as Theatres, outpatients etc and other services such as Catering, laundry and pharmacy.  These are
 just examples for information, but all these services are required to support the segments which directly generate the income
 from direct patient care.

 Non-disclosure of assets by segment

 The NHs Foundation Trust does not report total assets attributable to each operating segment to the Board, and has
 chosen to early adopt for 2011/12 the amendment to IFRS 8 set out in the IASB’s  ‘Improvements to IFRS’ issued in April
 2009.  Consequently, total assets attributable to each operating segment are not disclosed.  
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detailed below is the split for the various segments:-

Current period 2011/12 prior period 2010/11

 
elective 
services 
segment

emergency 
services 
segment

Women 
and 

Children’s 
services 
segment

other 
services 
segment

Total 
2011/12

elective 
services 
segment

emergency 
services 
segment

Women 
and 

Children’s 
services 
segment

other 
services 
segment

Total 
2010/11

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Clinical income 39,983 56,943 20,494 15,518 132,938 38,060 48,255 21,640 22,177 130,131

Non-Clinical 
income

1,236 1,458 819 7,110 10,623 1,100 1,440 735 12,275 15,549

Total Income 41,219 58,401 21,313 22,628 143,561 39,160 49,694 22,374 34,452 145,680

pay 
expenditure

(23,385) (32,287) (15,488) (24,565) (95,725) (24,166) (33,534) (15,485) (25,081) (98,266) 

Non pay 
expenditure

(6,258) (3,301) (1,080) (31,852) (42,491) (5,365) (3,463) (982) (30,416) (40,225) 

Total 
Expenditure

(29,643) (35,588) (16,568) (56,417) (138,216) (29,531) (36,997) (16,467) (55,496) (138,492) 

           

earnings Before 
interest, Tax, 
dividends and 
Amortomisation 
(eBiTdA) 

11,576 22,813 4,745 (33,789) 5,345 9,629 12,697 5,907 (21,044) 7,188

eBiTdA as a % 
of income

28.08% 39.06% 22.26% -149.32% 3.72% 24.59% 25.55% 26.40% -62.04% 4.80%

profit/loss on 
asset disposal

0 0 0 (2) (2) 0 0 0 (83) (83) 

exceptional 
income - 
Fixed Asset 
impairments 
reversal

0 0 0 1,826 1,826 0 0 0 0 0

exceptional 
Costs - 
Fixed Asset 
impairments

0 0 0 (2,892) (2,892) 0 0 0 (22,791) (22,791) 

Restructuring 
Costs

0 0 0 (735) (735) 0 0 0 0 0

depreciation 0 0 0 (5,334) (5,334) 0 0 0 (4,765) (4,765) 

interest 
Receivable

0 0 0 54 54 0 0 0 66 66

interest 
payable on 
leases

0 0 0 (3,292) (3,292) 0 0 0 (1,630) (1,630) 

unwinding 
of discount

0 0 0 (65) (65) 0 0 0 (1) (1) 

pdC dividend 0 0 0 (1,479) (1,479) 0 0 0 (1,963) (1,963) 

           

Net Surplus/
(Deficit)

11,576 22,813 4,745 (45,708) (6,574) 9,629 12,697 5,907 (52,415) (23,979) 
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3.  INCOME FROM ACTIVITIES   
   
3.1 Income by Classification

2011/12 2010/11

Total Total

£000 £000

Mandatory Income

elective income 20,798 21,504

Non elective income 48,661 50,774

outpatient income 27,976 27,275

A & e income 7,596 7,096

other NHs clinical income 26,633 22,203

Non Mandatory Income

private patient income 24 33

Other non-protected clinical income:-

Compensation Recovery unit 1,129 1,154

prescription income 17 21

overseas Visitors Non-Reciprocal 16 7

Amenity Beds 0 1

other 87 63

TOTAL 132,938 130,131

3.2 Private patient income

2011/12 2010/11 Base Year 2002/03

Total Total Total

£000 £000 £000

private patient income 24 33 71

Total patient related income 132,938 130,131 82,048

proportion (as percentage) 0.02% 0.03% 0.1%

section 44 of the 2006 Act requires that the proportion of private patient income to the total patient related income of the NHs 
Foundation Trust does not exceed its proportion whilst the NHs Foundation Trust was a NHs Trust in 2002/2003.  This is the 
private patient Cap.  The NHs Foundation Trust must ensure that the income received from treating private patients during the 
year does not exceed the cap of 0.1%.  The NHs Foundation Trust is therefore compliant with its obligation in this respect.

3.3 Income by Source

2011/12 2010/11

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Foundation trusts 53 0

primary care trusts 131,612 128,852

Non-NHs:

  > private patients 24 33

  > overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 16 7

  > Compensation Recovery unit 1,129 1,154

  > other 104 85

132,938 130,131
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4. OTHER INCOME

2011/12 2010/11

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Research and development 178 249

education, training and research 3,904 3,742

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 0 221

Grant income relating to Charitable Funds 168 385

profit on disposal of other tangible assets 0 2

Non-patient care services to other bodies 3,619 4,119

income generation (see note 4.1 for breakdown) 2,185 1,952

private Finance initiative Transitional income * 569 4,879

Reveral of impairments of property, plant and equipment 1,826 0

12,449 15,549

* The NHs Foundation Trust has received income from Tameside pCT for transitional costs.  The transitional costs 
relates to the extra costs incurred by the NHs Foundation Trust to manage the private Finance initiative (pFi) contract 
during construction and commissioning,  to enable it to move to the new pFi hospital which opened in october 2010 
and the decommissioning of the vacated buildings in preparation for demolition.  The Annual Accounts for 2011/12, 
is showing £0.6m transitional income (2010/11, £4.879m) for the NHs Foundation Trust.  The final part of the pFi  
completed in August 2011.  The NHs Foundation Trust is expecting final decommissioning of vacated areas to take 
place in 2012, with £2.2m income being used to fund this during 2012/13.

4.1  Revenue - Income Generation

2011/12 2010/11

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Car parking 795 562

staff Accommodation rentals 67 85

Catering 378 428

property Rentals 24 29

other 921 848

2,185 1,952
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5.  OPERATING EXPENSES  

2011/12 2010/11

£000 £000 

services from Foundation Trusts 1,991 1,385

services from other NHs Trusts 152 162

services from other NHs bodies 1,166 1,643

purchase of healthcare from non NHs bodies 80 138

executive directors' costs 738 766

Non executive directors' costs 104 97

staff costs 94,910 97,403

drug Costs 5,905 5,897

supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs) 10,492 9,847

supplies and services - general 5,176 5,429

establishment 1,294 1,619

Transport 130 183

premises 9,717 8,997

(decrease)/increase Bad debt provision 100 (1)

depreciation 5,334 4,344

Amortisation 0 421

impairments of property, plant and equipment 2,673 22,791

impairments of non current assets held for sale 219 0

Audit services - statutory Audit fees 64 60

- other Audit services pricewaterhouseCoopers 192

- other Assurance services pricewaterhouse Coopers 17 21

other auditor's remuneration:-

- internal audit services 114 110

Clinical negligence 3,528 2,724

loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 2 83

legal Fees 636 589

Consultancy 1,370 187

Redundancy 534 264

patient travel 8 7

Training 229 393

losses 50 56

Hospitality 6 47

insurance 207 197

other 233 80

147,179 166,131

* The external Auditors liability is limited to £1m.  The scope of work for the external Auditors is to provide a statutory 
Audit to the NHs Foundation Trust.  This will be conducted in accordance with the Audit Code for NHs Foundation 
Trusts (the Audit Code) issued by Monitor in accordance with paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of the Act.  The scope of 
the work is for the external Auditors to be satisfied that the NHs Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The external Auditors are to provide their 
opinion on the financial statements.
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6. OPERATING LEASES

6.1 As lessee

The NHs Foundation Trust has 16 operating leases as detailed below:-

Company Lease Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date

Lease Description

    

iNG lease uK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Coffee Machine

Automotive leasing 12/2/2007 11/2/2012 Vehicle MW56oMM

Automotive leasing 19/3/2007 18/3/2012 Vehicle YX07Fod

Automotive leasing 19/3/2007 17/3/2012 Vehicle YX07FoC

Automotive leasing 11/3/2008 19/3/2012 Vehicle BX08JFV

Bank of scotland 01/3/2008 28/2/2023 Bed Hire

Beckman Coulter 01/5/2008 30/4/2013 Haematology Analysers lH750 - Reagent 
Rental Replaced by lH780

Canon 01/9/2008 30/9/2013 Canon printer dCF11557

photocopier 22/5/2007 22/5/2012 Quality Assurance 

photocopier 26/3/2007 26/3/2012 Medical Records

Trailer 01/10/2008 30/9/2013 delivers Meal Trolleys around site

Canon 1/4/2008 31/3/2013 Canon Format printer with scanner and touch 
screen

Honda 14/5/2010 14/5/2013 3 x vehicles for in house taxi service

Automotive leasing 21/11/2011 20/11/2014 Renault 3.5T tail lift BX61 GFu

Automotive leasing 24/11/2008 23/11/2012 Renault 3.5T tail lift BX58 GXM

Automotive leasing 01/2/2012 30/1/2015 Kia sportage MW61 XWo

Payments recognised as an expense 2011/12 2010/11

£000 £000

  

lease payments 164 153

164 153

Total future minimum lease payments 2011/12 2010/11

£000 £000

payable:   

Not later than one year 142 136

Between one and five years 445 472

After 5 years 407 493

Total 994 1,101
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6.2  As lessor
The NHs Foundation Trust has five lessors as detailed below:- 

Company Lease Commence Date Lease Expiry Date Lease Description

T Mobile 20/07/1995 20/07/2015 Roof space for Radio Mast

BT plc 29/05/2001 29/05/2016 Roof space for Radio Mast

o2 30/10/2002 30/10/2012 Roof space for Radio Mast

Gentian 01/06/1998 31/05/2023 Hartshead shopping Mall

Gentian 09/07/2011 29/08/2041 Café and Retail units Hartshead south

The NHs Foundation does not receive any contingent rents from any of the above lessors.  
detailed below are the future minimum payments expected from the lessors   

Total future minimum lessor payments 2011/12 2010/11

£000 £000

Receivable:   

Not later than one year 63 379

Between one and five years 191 121

After 5 years 597 60

Total 851 560

7.  EMPLOYEE COSTS AND NUMBERS

7.1 Employee costs 2011/12 2010/11

Permanently 
Employed

Other Total Permanently 
Employed

Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

salaries and Wages 72,799 9,055 81,854 76,836 7,135 83,971

social security Costs 5,574 0 5,574 5,813 0 5,813

employer contributions to NHs 
pension scheme

8,220 0 8,220 8,385 0 8,385

* Redundancy cost 534 0 534 264 0 264

Employee benefits expense 87,127 9,055 96,182 91,298 7,135 98,433

The above details £9,055k for 2011/12 which includes Agency & locum staff , (£7,135k 10/11 - Agency staff only).     
The above note excludes the employee cost of the non executive directors.  

Other Cost includes 
included in the above table is the executive directors’ cost as detailed below:-     

2011/12 2010/11

 £000  £000 

executive directors' Remuneration 592 627

executive directors' social security Costs 69 63

employer contributions to NHs pension scheme in respect of executive directors 77 76

Total Executive Directors' Cost as per note 5 738 766

The highest paid executive directors' remuneration 147 147

Number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under defined benefit scheme 7 7

Full details of directors’ remuneration and other benefits are set out in the NHs Foundation 
Trust’s Remuneration Report on page 108 of the Annual Report.
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* Analysis of Redundancy Cost

2011/12 2010/11

Cost Range Number of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies

Number of Voluntary 
Redundancies/ 

Mutually Agreed 
Resignations

Number of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies

Number of 
Voluntary 

less than £10k 0 6 3 0

£10,000 to £50,000 0 15 2 0

£50,00 to £100,000 1 2 2 0

Total 1 23 7 0

7.2 Average number of people employed

2011/12 2010/11

Permanently 
Employed

Other Total
Permanently 

Employed
Other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

      

Medical and dental 259 76 335 259 104 363

Administration and estates 485 3 488 522 8 530

Healthcare assistants and 
other support staff

118 0 118 126 1 127

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting staff

1,045 53 1,098 1,045 35 1,080

scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff

275 3 278 273 1 274

Total 2,182 135 2,317 2,224 149 2,373

7.3 Employee and Retirement Benefits
     
The NHs Foundation Trust offers Retirement Benefits to its employees from the NHs pension scheme.  
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme.

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHs Bodies to identify their share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities.

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years.  The latest valuation identified that the scheme had 
accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3bn against the notional assets at 31 March 2004.  The NHs Foundation Trust pays 
contributions to the scheme  at 14% of the employees’ pensionable pay.

7.4 Retirements due to ill-health
     
during the  financial year 2011/12, there were 4 (2010/11, 2) early retirements from the NHs Foundation Trust on the grounds 
of ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £140,657 (2010/11, £53,767).  The 
cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHs Business services Authority - pensions division.
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8.  INVESTMENT REVENUE AND FINANCE COST 
    
The NHs Foundation Trust received £54k (2010/11, £66k) from cash deposited in the Commercial Banks, and 
the Government Banking service  provided by Citi Bank .  The NHs Foundation Trust  incurred finance costs, as 
detailed below:-

2011/12 2010/11

Finance Cost £000 £000

interest on obligations under Finance leases 4 6

interest on obligations for private Finance initiative 2,936 1,552

pFi Contingent Rent 352 72

3,292 1,630

9.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2011/12 Computer Software Prior Year Prior Year 
2010/11

Computer Software

 £'000  £000 

    

Cost or Valuation 
at 1 April 2011

4,209 Cost or Valuation 
at 1 April 2010

4,209

At 31 March 2012 4,209 At 31 March 2011 4,209

    

depreciation at 
1 April 2011

4,209 depreciation at 
1 April 2010

3,788

Charged during 
the year 

0 Charged during 
the year 

421

Depreciation at 
31 March 2012

4,209 Depreciation at 
31 March 2011

4,209

    

Net book value  Net book value  

Finance leased 0 Finance leased 0

Total at 31 March 2012 0 Total at 31 March 2011 0

The only intangible Asset which the NHs Foundation Trust has relates to the pFi agreement for the  Medway patient 
Administration system.  This is software that is provided to the NHs Foundation Trust.  The intangible Asset is a 
Finance lease, which is provided by a company called system C.  The initial lease commenced on the 10 February 
2002, for a period of 7 years.  

The lease was extended for a further 2 years until the 9 February 2011.  The amortisation on this asset is being 
charged on a straight line basis, to the end of the life of the asset, and expired in February 2011. This intangible 
Asset now has a Nil Net Book Value but is still continuing to be used by the Trust.  The lease with system C has 
been extended until February 2013.
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10. Property, plant and equipment 

2010/11: Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation 
at 1 April 2011

13,868 110,798 759 1,764 18,547 208 6,811 128 152,883

Additions purchased 0 3,000 0 2,343 424 0 488 0 6,255

Additions donated 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 40

Reclassifications 0 3,643 0 (3,774) 0 0 131 0 0

disposals 0 0 0 0 (554) (37) (88) 0 (679)

Revaluation surplus 1,557 1,407 (45) 0 0 0 0 0 2,919

Transferred to 
disposal group as 
asset held for sale

(108) 0 (322) 0 0 0 0 0 (430)

At 31 March 2012 15,317 118,848 392 333 18,457 171 7,342 128 160,988

depreciation at 1 
April 2011

0 25,005 34 0 12,135 120 3,416 52 40,762

disposals 0 0 0 0 (552) (37) (88) 0 (677)

Charged during the 
year 

2,781 27 0 1,475 18 1,020 13 5,334

Revaluation  surplus 0 (2,279) (43) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,322)

impairments 0 2,673 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,673

impairment reversal 0 (1,826) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,826)

Transferred to 
disposal group as 
asset held for sale

0 0 (12) 0 0 0 0 0 (12)

Depreciation at 
31 March 2012

0 26,354 6 0 13,058 101 4,348 65 43,932

Net book value         

purchased 15,317 51,255 386 333 4,546 67 2,985 63 74,952

donated 0 234 0 0 825 0 9 0 1,068

Finance leased - 
please see note 10.2 
for full analysis

0 41,005 0 0 28 3 0 0 41,036

Total at 31 March 
2012

15,317 92,494 386 333 5,399 70 2,994 63 117,056

Minimum Remaining 
life Years

0 2 2 1 1 1 1 4

Maximum Remaining 
life Years

0 69 63 69 14 7 7 10
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10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment
Note 10 includes Property, Plant and Equipment which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note 

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value 

NBV - protected 
assets at 31  
March 2012

15,317 92,494 386 0 0 0 0 0 108,197

NBV - 
unprotected 
assets at 31  
March 2012

0 0 0 333 5,399 70 2,994 63 8,859

Total at 31 
March 2012

15,317 92,494 386 333 5,399 70 2,994 63 117,056

10.2 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease 
Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note 

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or 
valuation at 1 
April 2011

0 38,804 0 0 266 9 0 0 39,079

Additions - 
purchased

0 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000

Revaluation  
surplus

0 900 0 0 0 0 0 0 900

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2011

262 200 4 466

depreciation 
he 

period

940 38 2 980

0 (962) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (962)

1,459 1,459

Net Book 
value as at 31 
March 2012

0 41,005 0 0 28 3 0 0 41,036
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Prior Year

2010/11: Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or 
Valuation at 1 
April 2010

15,469 55,464 887 1,225 18,063 155 5,937 115 97,315

Additions 
purchased 

0 0 0 3,974 2,068 79 1,481 26 7,628

Additions 
donated 

0 0 0 0 375 0 11 0 386

Additions pFi 0 54,927 0 0 0 0 0 0 54,927

Reclassifications 0 3,330 (128) (3,435) 197 0 36 0 0

disposals 0 (43) 0 0 (2,102) (26) (654) (13) (2,838)

impairments (1,176) (2,409) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,585)

Transferred to 
disposal group 
as asset held for 
sale

(425) (471) 0 0 (54) 0 0 0 (950)

At 31 March 
2011

13,868 110,798 759 1,764 18,547 208 6,811 128 152,883

depreciation at 1 
April 2010

0 0 0 0 12,872 135 3,318 54 16,379

disposals 0 (2) 0 0 (2,012) (25) (654) (13) (2,706)

Reclassifications 0 15 (15) 0 0 0 0 0 0

impairments 0 22,791 0 0 0 0 0 0 22,791

Transferred to 
disposal group 
as asset held for 
sale

0 (46) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (46)

Charged during 
the year 

0 2,247 49 0 1,275 10 752 11 4,344

Depreciation at 
31 March 2011

0 25,005 34 0 12,135 120 3,416 52 40,762

Net book value       

purchased 13,868 47,312 725 1,764 5,359 83 3,384 76 72,571

donated 0 209 0 0 987 0 11 0 1,207

pFi - Finance 
lease - please 
see note 10.2 for 
full analysis

0 38,272 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,272

Finance leased 
- please see 
note 10.2 for 
full analysis

0 0 0 0 66 5 0 0 71

Total at 31 
March 2011

13,868 85,793 725 1,764 6,412 88 3,395 76 112,121

Minimum 
Remaining life 
Years

0 2 2 1 1 1 1 4

Maximum 
Remaining life 
Years

0 69 63 69 14 7 7 10
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Analysis of Property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value          

NBV - protected 
assets at 31  March 
2011

13,868 84,670 412 0 0 0 0 0 98,950

NBV - unprotected 
assets at 31  March 
2011

0 1,123 313 1,764 6,412 88 3,395 76 13,171

Total at 31 March 
2011

13,868 85,793 725 1,764 6,412 88 3,395 76 112,121

Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease (including PFI)  
Note 10 includes Property, Plant and Equipment which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note.

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 
1 April 2010

0 1,778 0 0 266 9 0 0 2,053

Additions 0 54,927 0 0 0 0 0 54,927

Accumulated 
depreciation at 1 
April 2010

0 379 0 0 160 3 0 0 542

depreciation 
Charged in the 
period

0 262 0 0 40 1 0 0 303

impairments 
recognised in 
operating expenses

0 17,792 0 0 0 0 0 17,792

Net Book value 
as at 31 March 
2011

0 38,272 0 0 66 5 0 0 38,343

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT       

 The NHs Foundation Trust had a valuation of the land and buildings on 1st January 2012.  This valuation has been under  
 taken by the district Valuer.  The valuation has been undertaken having regard to international Financial Reporting standards  
 (iFRs) in accordance with the HM Treasury guidance, international Valuation standards and the requirements of the Royal   
 institution of Chartered surveyors (RiCs).  

 The valuation of each property is at a fair value following the Modern equivalent Asset  (MeA) valuation and the valuation for   
 land is at an existing use Valuation (euV).

 due to the completion of the pFi build the NHs Foundation Trust has had a full site valuation of all the land and buildings.  This
 resulted in an impairment of £1.8m and an increased valuation of £7.4m, overall a net increase of the land and building of   
 £5.5m, The majority of the impairment related to the new pFi car park, being impairmed by £1.5m, against the construction cost  
 of £3m.  The  valuation increases relate to land £1.6m, buildings £4m, and pFi buildings £1.8m.
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11. COMMITMENTS           

           
11.1  Capital Commitments
 
 The NHs Foundation Trust has £291k capital commitments as at the 31st March 2012 (2010/11, £958k).    
   
11.2  Financial Commitments
 
 The NHs Foundation Trust has financial commitments as detailed in the table below.  These commitments relate to   
 non-cancel lable contracts with companies, which have not been identified and included in the notes relating to    
 operating or finance leases.  The NHs Foundation Trust has a financial commitment to make payments for the    
 remainder of the contract.

Company  Service 
Contract 
start date

Contract end 
dated

01.4.12 - 
31.3.13

1.4.13 - 
31.3.16

 1.4.16 
onward Total

1 yr 2-5yr >5 yr

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

ACT pR
 pR Consultancy 

services 
14/07/2011 13/07/2014 60 75 0 135

Aiden Gaunt  Funeral services 01/02/2011 31/01/2014 15 28 0 43

Beckman
 pathology 

managed service 
01/06/2010 31/07/2013 621 155 0 776

BoC
 Bulk Medical 

Gases 
02/09/2007 01/09/2012 85 35 0 120

KpMG  external Audit 01/11/2011 31/10/2016 68 274 0 342

leaseguard
 Various 

Maintenance 
Agreements 

05/11/2009 01/03/2021 226 519 189 934

Mitie
 domestic & 

portering 
01/07/2011 31/07/2016 2,801 11,205 934 14,940

NHs professionals
 NHsp Nursing 

Bank 
14/10/2011 13/10/2014 1,928 4,981 0 6,909

RsM Tenon  internal Audit 01/04/2011 31/03/2012 69 0 0 69

salford NHs 
Foundation Trust

 immunology slA 01/08/2011 31/07/2016 50 199 17 266

specialist Computer 
Centre

 e-Rostering - 
Allocated software 

30/03/2012 03/03/2017 0 60 15 75

sRCl
 Clinical & 

domestic Waste 
01/04/2009 31/03/2014 140 560 0 700

sunlight  laundry 01/04/2008 31/03/2015 283 1,133 0 1,416

synergy  sterile services 21/06/2011 01/06/2018 678 2,712 6,103 9,493

Viglen storage 
Group

 sAN Maintenance 19/03/2012 18/03/2017 0 117 29 146

    7,024 22,053 7,287 36,364
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12.  INVENTORIES

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

  

drugs 375 311

Consumables 905 963

energy - oil 67 72

Total 1,347 1,346

inventories recognised in expenses 7,376 7,336

Write-down of inventories recognised as an 
expense

20 23

Total Inventories recognised in expenses 7,396 7,359

13.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - CURRENT

Current

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

  

NHs receivables * 2,711 805

other receivables with related parties  - VAT 
debtor

415 491

Trade receivables * 207 360

provision for the impairment of receivables * (185) (96)

pdC debtor 27 142

other receivables 713 631

Accrued income 13 124

prepayments 398 686

Total 4,299 3,143

13.1 Trade and other receivables - Non Current

Non-current

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

  

NHs receivables * 0 0

Trade receivables * 0 0

other receivables -  Compensation Recovery 
unit (CRu) 853 807

prepayments - pFi lifecycle replacements 934 353

Total 1,787 1,160
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* Ageing of NHS and Trade Receivables and Provision for the impairment of NHS & Trade Receivables

Past Due but not impaired

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£'000 £'000

upto 3 months 2,510 550

Three to six Months 216 64

over six Months 82 4

Total NHS and Trade Receivables 2,808 618

Provided against NHS and Trade Receivables

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£'000 £'000

upto 3 months 0 0

Three to six Months (38) (10)

over six Months (147) (86)

Total Provision for the impairment of NHS and 
Trade receivables

(185) (96) 

14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Dwellings

£000

Balance as at 1 April 2011 904

plus assets classified as held for sale in the year 418

less assets sold in the year (393)

less impairment during the year (219)

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 2012 710

The balance carried forward as at 31 March 2012 of £710k non-current assets held for sale, relates to the land and 
buildings at Hyde Hospital. The NHs Foundation Trust had expected the sale of Hyde Hospital to have completed during 
2011/12, unfortunately, the original sale is no longer being progressed. The NHs Foundation Trust is now progressing on 
a second offer on the property.  This has resulted in an impairment against the non-current assets held for sale, due to the 
second offer being lower than the original expected selling price.   it is anticipated this will complete during the first quarter 
of the next financial year 2012/13.  during the year a sale was completed selling four residential properties which the NHs 
Foundation Trust owned.  The NHs Foundation Trust receipted the cash from this sale in december 2011.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 7,642 10,718

Net change in year 1,503 (3,076)

Balance at 31 March 9,145 7,642

  

Made up of   

Cash with Government Banking service 9,065 7,604

Commercial banks and cash in hand 80 38

Current investments 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial 
Position and the Statement of Cash flow 9,145 7,642
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16.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current Non-current

31 
March 

2012

31 
March 
2011

31 
March 

2012

31 
March 
2011

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHs payables 4,329 1,660 0 0

Trade payables 4,744 2,645 0 0

other trade payables - capital 732 865 0 0

Accruals 4,216 3,967 0 0

other 2,154 1,731 0 0

Total 16,176 10,868 0 0

17.   BORROWINGS

Current Non-current

31 
March 

2012

31 
March 
2011

31 
March 

2012

31 
March 
2011

£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft - Commercial banks  0 0

pFi liabilities 1,125 807 57,960 56,086

Finance lease liabilities 34 43 0 34

Total 1,159 850 57,960 56,120

18.   OTHER LIABILITIES

Current Non-current

31 
March 

2012

31 
March 
2011

31 
March 

2012

31 
March 
2011

£000 £000 £000 £000

deferred income  4,635 3,139 150 0

Tax and social security costs 1,831 1,853 0 0

    

Total 6,466 4,992 150 0
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19. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS

The NHs Foundation Trust has three finance leases as detailed below:-

Company Lease Expiry 
Date

Lease Description Net Book Value as at 
31 March 2012 £'000

iNG lease uK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Catering Tug 2

Beckman Coulter uK ltd 01/04/2006 31/03/2013 Clinical Chemistry Analyser 29

orth diagnostics 01/07/2007 30/06/2012 innova-Blood Group 
Analyser

3

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Minimum lease payments

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

Within one year 36 47

Between one and five years 0 36

After five years 0 0

less future finance charges        (2) (6)

Present value of minimum lease payments 34 77

20.   PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE CONTRACTS   

20.1   PFI schemes off-Statement of Financial Position
   
The NHs Foundation Trust does not have any pFi schemes off-statement of Financial position.

20.2   PFI schemes on-Statement of Financial Position
   
The NHs Foundation Trust has one pFi schemes on-statement of Financial position.

in November 2005 the NHs Foundation Trust announced that Consort Healthcare had been selected as the private sector company to 
work in collaboration with the NHs Foundation Trust in developing and constructing the new hospital buildings.  

The construction was  carried out by a joint venture between Balfour Beatty Construction ltd and Balfour Beatty Workplace. The 
architects for the scheme were Keppie design.

The Health investment in Tameside (HiT) project is the biggest investment and most extensive site improvement Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust has seen for decades. it has resulted in new acute facilities with a construction programme which started in Autumn 
2006 and was completed by August 2011, with the full scheme officially being handed over to the Trust. The new facilities include:-

 -  a 48 bedded surgical ward.    
 -  a dedicated integrated children’s unit.    
 -  over 40% of the beds will be provided in single en-suite rooms.    
 -  three new operating theatres that will sit alongside the existing theatres in the Hartshead building.    
 -  a centralised x-ray department.    
 -  an integrated day case and endoscopy unit comprising three day case surgery theatres, three endoscopy rooms   
  and 50 flexible recovery spaces.
 -  centralised outpatient clinics, close to the existing blue and yellow suites in the Hartshead building replacing satellite   
  clinics in outlying buildings.
 -  centrally located pharmacy.    
 -  car parking arrangements.    
 -  a bridge corridor linking the ladysmith building to the main hospital.    
 -  a new main entrance that will provide visitors with a clear focal point of arrival.
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The contract with Consort Healthcare expires at the end of the project term (28th August 2041) and there is no 
provision within the contract to re-price or re-negotiate the prices and dates. There is however the facility for variations 
to the contract and the NHs Foundation Trust has procedures to manage those variations in line with standing 
Financial instructions. The Annual service payment will be inflated each April based on the preceding February Rpi.

The NHs Foundation Trust has the right to use the buildings, however Consort have the responsibility for maintaining 
the buildings to an agreed standard. All lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility of Consort Healthcare.

A key feature of pFi schemes is that the operator is responsible for ensuring that the property is maintained to an 
agreed standard for the entire life of the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The cost which the operator 
expects to incur in doing this is reflected in the unitary payment and reflects two elements:

• maintenance (planned and reactive); and
• replacement of components as they wear out during the contract – this is known as capital lifecycle.

After the expiry of the contract, the license with Consort to operate out of these buildings will expire and the NHs 
Foundation Trust will become responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of those buildings.

under iFRiC12, the assets are treated as an asset of the NHs Foundation Trust and the substance of the contract 
is that the NHs Foundation Trust has a finance lease. Therefore the unitary payment needs to be split into three 
elements; payment for services; payment for the property (comprising repayment of liability, finance cost and 
contingent rental) and payment for lifecycle replacement.

Total obligations for on-statement of financial position PFI contracts due:

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

Not later than one year 4,076 3,743

later than one year, not later than five years 16,104 16,180

later than five years 91,565 92,566

less Future Charges (52,660) (55,596) 

Net PFI Obligation 59,085 56,893

not later than one year 1,124 807

later than one year and not later than five years 4,889 4,726

later than five years 53,072 51,360

Total commitments for on-statement of financial position PFI contracts due:

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

Commitments in respect of the sevice element of the pFi

Within one year 3,111 3,088

later than one year, not later than five years 14,107 12,912

later than five years 132,011 134,528

Total Commitments 149,229 150,528
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Imputed finance lease obligatons under on-statement of financial position PFI commitments comprise:

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

Commitments in respect of the lease rentals of the pFi

Rentals due within one year 4,625 4,095

Rentals due later than one year, not later than five years 19,443 18,835

Rentals due later than five years 157,746 157,857

Sub total rentals due 181,814 180,787

less interest element (52,660) (55,596) 

Total imputed finance lease obligations 129,154 125,191

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

the net carrying amount of pFi assets at the end of the 
reporting period

41,005 38,543

contingent rents recognised as an expense in the period. 352 72

The NHs Foundation Trust is committed to make the following payments for on-soFp pFis obligations during 
the next year in which the commitment expires in:-

Consort

Commitment Expiry Period £000 

Within one year 0

31st - 35th Years (inclusive) 7,929

21. PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000

Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor 59,700 61,600

Working capital facility agreed by Monitor 10,000 10,000

TOTAL PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT 69,700 71,600

The NHs Foundation Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of two 
elements:-

1. The maximum amount of long term borrowing.  This is set by reference to the five ratio tests set out in Monitor’s 
prudential borrowing code.  The financial risk rating set under Monitor’s compliance framework determines one of the 
ratios and therefore can impact on the long term borrowing limit.

2. The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.    
Further information on the NHs Foundation Trust prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found 
on the website of Monitor, the independent Regulator of Foundation Trusts.
The NHs Foundation Trust had a long term borrowing limit of £59,700.000 in 2011/12 (£61,600,000 2010/11).   
  
The NHs Foundation Trust had an approved working capital facility limit of £10,000,000 in 2011/12 (£10,000,000, 
2010/11), as well as having in place an actual working capital facility of £10,000,000. The NHs Foundation Trust has not 
utilised this facility and does not plan to uitilise this in the next 12 month period.

The NHs Foundation Trust does not have any loan borrowings, but it does have Finance lease Creditors and pFi 
Creditors, of which it makes a principle payment and interest payment.  The NHs Foundation Trust 
is required to achieved the following ratios, as set by Monitor.
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2011/12 2010/11

Financial Ratio Actual Ratio 
Achieved

Monitor 
Approved Ratio

Acutal Ratio 
Achieved

Monitor 
Approved 

Ratio

Minimum dividend Cover 4.98 >1 6.47 >1

Minimum interest Cover 1.62 >2 4.40 >2

Minimum debt service Cover 1.09 >1.5 2.54 >1.5

Maximum debt service To Revenue 3% <10% 2% <10%

22. PROVISIONS

Current Non-current

31 March 2012 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£000 £000 £000 £000

    

legal claims 77 122 757 622

other provisions & liabilities 562 347 0 0

Total 639 469 757 622

Legal claims Other Total

£000 £000 £000

At April 2010 759 74 833

Arising during the year 109 472 581

used during the year (82) (79) (161)

Reversed unused (42) (121) (163)

unwinding of discount at 1.9% 1 0 1

At April 2011 745 346 1,091

Arising during the year 178 216 394

used during the year (154) 0 (154)

Reversed unused 0 0 0

unwinding of discount at 2.9% 65 65

At 31 March 2012 834 562 1,396

Expected timing of cash flows:

Not later than 1 year 77 562 639

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 365 0 365

later than 5 Years 392 0 392

Total 834 562 1,396

The above provisions are subject to uncertainties relating to the estimated costs and expected timings of the settlement.  
The cost and timing of the provision for employer’s and occupier’s liability has been calculated using the information pro-
vided by the NHs litigation Authority.  The injury benefits provision is an amount that is payable for the remaining life of an 
individual.  The provision has  been calculated based on the historic annual payment and the expected remaining life of the 
individual.  The other provisions have been calculated on the information available at the time of producing the accounts.
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Below is a table detailing a breakdown of the above provisions:  

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£'000 £'000

employer's liabilities - NHs litigation Authority 238 188

occupiers liabilities - NHs litigation Authority 50 27

injury Benefits - NHs Business services Authority - pensions division 536 497

legal fees for industrial tribunal claims 10 33

Total Legal Claims 834 745

other provisions - probable repayment of income liabilities 216 0

other provisions - Business rates 346 346

Total Other Provisions 562 346

Total Provisions 1,396 1,091

The NHs litigation Authority at the 31 March 2012 has a provision of £70,000,196 in respect of the clinical negligence 
liabilities of the NHs Foundation Trust (31 March 2011, £54,261,894).

The NHs Foundation Trust has Contingent liabilities of £15k (2010/11, £26k), which relate to the employer’s and occu-
pier’s liability.  This is the difference between the provision which the NHs Foundation Trust has made for the claim and the 
actual excess which the NHs Foundation Trust could be liable to pay against the claim.

23.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS    

Liquidity Risk
   
The NHs Foundation Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local primary Care Trusts, 
which are financed from resources voted annually by parliament.  The NHs Foundation Trust receives such contract income 
in accordance with payment by Results (pBR), which is intended to match the income received in year to the activity deliv-
ered in that year by reference to the National Tariff procedure cost.  The NHs Foundation Trust receives cash each month 
based on the agreed level of contract activity and there are quarterly payments/deductions made to adjust for the actual 
income due under pBR.  This means that in periods of significant variance against contracts there can be a significant cash 
flow impact.  To alleviate this issue the NHs Foundation Trust has maintained a £10,000,000 working capital facility.  This 
was not utilised in 2011/12.

The NHs Foundation Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made avail-
able from Government, in the form of additional public dividend Capital, under an agreed limit.  in addition, the NHs 
Foundation Trust can borrow, both from the department of Health Financing Facility and commercially, to finance capital 
schemes.  Financing is drawn down to match the capital spend profile of the scheme concerned and the NHs Foundation 
Trust is not therefore exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area.

Interest-Rate Risk
   
All of the NHs Foundation Trust’s financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest.  The NHs Foundation Trust 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.  The only risk is therefore regarding the level of interest gener-
ated on the NHs Foundation Trust’s investment which may be higher or lower than planned at the start of the year due to 
fluctuating interest rates.  The value of interest generated in 2011/12 was £54k compared to the plan of £36k (2010/11 was 
£66k compared to the plan of £36k).  

Credit Risk
   
The main source of income for the NHs Foundation Trust is from Commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided 
under local agreements - NHs Contracts.  Non NHs customers do not represent a large proportion of income, the major-
ity of this relates to other public sector bodies which are considered low risk. The NHs Foundation Trust is therefore, not 
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exposed to significant credit risk.

Treasury Management Arrangements
   
The NHs Foundation Trust operates within an agreed Treasury Management policy that governs the nature of the cash invest-
ments.  The financial performance of the NHs Foundation Trust’s cash investments is reviewed quarterly by the NHs Founda-
tion Trust’s Audit Committee.  The credit risk to the NHs Foundation Trust is minimal for the investments.  investments are 
limited to a maximum amount of £2,000,000 with each commercial bank and a maximum period of 3 months.  investments 
can only be placed with commercial banks who have a Fitch credit rating of AA+.

Currency Risk

The NHs Foundation Trust does not have any overseas foreign transactions or balances.  There is no currency or translation 
risk to the NHs Foundation Trust.

23.1   Financial assets

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

Loans and 
receivables

Available 
for Sale

Total 31 
March 

2012

Loans and 
receivables

Available 
for Sale

Total 31 
March 

2011

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Accrued income 12 0 12 123 0 123

Trade and other 
Receivables (net of 
provisions for 
irrecoverable debts)

2,733 2,733 943 0 943

Cash at bank and in hand 9,145 0 9,145 7,642 0 7,642

Non Current Assets 
Held for sale

0 710 710 0 904 904

Total 11,890 710 12,600 8,708 904 9,612

23.2   Financial liabilities

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

Other Financial 
Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2011

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2010

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other payables (10,868) (10,868) (5,855) (5,855)

Accruals (4,216) (4,216) (3,967) (3,967)

Finance lease obligations 
(including pFi)

(59,119) (59,119) (56,970) (56,970)

Total (74,203) (74,203) (66,792) (66,792)
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS          
 
Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust is a public benefit body authorised by Monitor, the independent Regulator of NHs 
Foundation Trusts.

during the period there has been one material transaction with a member of the Board  T Kalloo (Non-executive director), 
the Ceo of  Wellness international ltd in the sum of £30k. There have been no other material transactions with any other 
members of the Board or members of  key management staff or parties related to them, with Tameside Hospital NHs Trust.

The department of Health is regarded as a related party.  during the year Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has 
had a significant number of material transactions with the department, and with other entities for which the department is 
regarded as the parent department.  These entities are listed below, along with details of income and expenditure and the 
debtor and Creditor balances.

Name of Organisation

Current Year 2011/12 Prior Year 2010/11

Year Ended 31 
March 20121

As At
31 

March 
2012

As At
31 March 

2012

Year Ended 31 
March 2011

As At
31 March 

2011

As At
31 

March 
2011

Income Expenditure Income Expenditure

£’000 £’000 Debtor 
£’000

Creditor 
£’000

£’000 £’000 Debtor 
£’000

Creditor 
£’000

NHs Northwest (formally 
the North West strategic 
Health Authority)
 

4,118 6 0 46 3,470 0 64 0

NHs Tameside & Glossop 120,043 69 1,086 14 121,040 803 91 100

NHs oldham 7,023 0 137 0 7,719 0 0 86

NHs Manchester 4,575 0 104 0 5,324 0 0 367

other pCTs 1,770 15 203 2,426 1,719 12 230 117

pennine Care NHs 
Foundation Trust

1,013 0 95 0 1,873 14 133 6

other NHs and 
Foundation Trusts

2,851 2,897 1,086 1,844 1,102 2,020 287 694

NHs litigation Authority 0 3,601 0 2 0 2,799 0 0

NHs purchasing and 
supply Agency

0 0 0 0 15 3,343 0 285

NHs Blood 0 779 0 4 0 756 0 5

HMRC 0 5,582 415 1,830 0 5,820 0 855

NHs pensions 0 8,219 0 1,084 0 8,385 0 1,046

Wellness international ltd 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total
 

141,393 21,198 3,126 7,250 142,262 23,952 805 3,561

The NHs Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee of the Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (Reg 
No. 1055818).  The Charitable Funds have not been consolidated in accordance with iAs27 as HM Treasury has given 
dispensation from this requirement for 2011/12.

An Annual Report and Audited Accounts of the Trust’s charity (covering the period reported in these accounts) will be avail-
able from 31st January 2013 and may be accessed via the Charity Commission website. 
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25.  THIRD PARTY ASSETS
  
The NHs Foundation Trust held £13,428 cash at bank and in hand (2010/11 £1,144)  which relates to monies held 
by the NHs Foundation Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure 
reported in the accounts.

26.  LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS
  
There were  94 cases of losses and special payments (2010/11: 69) totalling £152,524 (2010/11: £104,994) accrued 
during 2011/12.
There were no cases exceeding £100,000 in either the current or prior year year.    
 
Note:  The total costs included in this note are on a cash basis and will not reconcile to the amounts in the notes to 
the accounts which are prepared on an accruals basis.

27. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
       
The NHs Foundation Trust has had no post balance sheet events.    

28. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT
   
due to changes of the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, NHs bodies no longer have balances on the donated 
Asset Reserve.  A prior period adjustment has been processed to change the comparative figures in the statement 
of Comprehensive income adjusting the operating income as detailed in the table below.  The donated Reserve have 
been cleared and transferred to the income and expenditure Reserve as detailed in the statement of Financial position 
- Tax payers equity, displayed in the table below.

The new approach for donated assets is, where donations are received without conditions, or if they have conditions, 
once these have been met, they should be recognised in income in the year of receipt.

Statement of Comprehensive Income £’000

surplus/(deficit) for the year 31 March 2011 (24,182) 

Adjust operating income Receipt of donated Assets 386

Adjust operating income for donated Asset income for depreciation (183)

Restated Surplus/Deficit for the year 31 March 2011 (23,979)

Statement of Financial 
Position

31 March 
2011

Prior Period 
Adjustment

Restated 31 
March 2011

£'000 £'000 £'000

Tax payers equity

public dividend Capital 53,168 0 53,168

Revaluation Reserve 18,732 0 18,732

donated Asset Reserve 1,207 (1,207) 0

income and expenditure 
Reserve

(20,712) 1,207 (19,505)

Restated Tax Payers 
Equity

52,395 0 52,395


